Manipulation of host signalling for the characterisation and control of dengue fever

Wasan Otis Forsyth

Submitted in total fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

March 2020

The Walter and Eliza Hall Institute of Medical Research

The University of Melbourne, Department of Medical Biology

This page has intentionally been left blank

Abstract

Dengue fever is a mosquito-transmitted disease of the tropics and sub-tropics that is caused by dengue virus (DENV). There are an estimated 60-100 million clinical cases of dengue fever per year, resulting in at least 10,000 deaths. Most clinical cases of dengue are characterised by flu-like symptoms. However, for unknown reasons, a small proportion (1-2%) of clinical cases progress to a life-threatening form of disease referred to as "severe dengue". Severe dengue is characterised by cytokine storms, heightened endothelial permeability and associated sequelae such as shock and haemorrhage. During the onset of severe dengue, viraemia and viral antigenaemia are sharply declining or absent. Therefore, it is logical to deduce that dysregulated host signalling is the underlying cause of the cytokine storm phenotype and symptoms of severe dengue. However, although many host factors have been characterised in the context of DENV infection, the root cause of this signalling dysregulation is still poorly understood. Furthermore, there are currently no drug treatments available for the treatment of severe dengue, and although there is a licensed dengue vaccine, it confers only moderate protection, and administration of this vaccine to dengue naïve individuals is contraindicated by the World Health Organisation.

In the first part of this thesis, I characterised how genetic disruption of key host signalling pathways altered the response of macrophages and mice to DENV infection. I found that infection of cells and mice that had a co-deletion of genes encoding cellular inhibitor of apoptosis proteins (cIAPs) resulted in decreased production of virus, and an exaggerated production of inflammatory cytokines.

In the second part of this thesis, I determined whether clinical stage cancer therapeutics could be repurposed as treatments for severe dengue. To investigate this, I established an *in vivo* mouse model of severe dengue and treated these mice with anti-inflammatory compounds. However, these drug treatments did not reduce clinical manifestations of infection or improve the survival of the infected mice.

These studies suggest that cIAPs facilitate the efficient replication of DENV. In addition, I hope that the negative results from my therapeutic experiments can inform future experimental plans, and contribute to reducing the worldwide burden of severe dengue. This page has intentionally been left blank

Declaration

This is to certify that this thesis comprises only my original work, except where indicated in the preface. All the work detailed herein was performed following the commencement of my PhD candidature on the 27th of July 2015. Due acknowledgements have been made to individuals who contributed to the work in the preface and in the body of the thesis, including tables and figures. This thesis is less than 100,000 words in length, exclusive of tables, figures, bibliographies and appendices.

Wasan Otis Forsyth

March 12th, 2020

Preface

The work described in this thesis was undertaken at the Walter and Eliza Hall Institute of Medical Research (WEHI) under the supervision of Professor Marc Pellegrini and Dr Gregor Ebert. During the course of this work the author was a recipient of the Australian Postgraduate Award.

I duly acknowledge the important contributions of individuals to the work presented within this thesis. Contributions are as listed below:

General Contributions

Professor Paul Young and Dr David Muller (University of Queensland) provided me with the original DENV2 stock. This virus stock was subsequently expanded and used for all experiments of this study.

Associate Professor Jill Carr provided me with the plaque assay protocol. In addition, Dr Carr provided me with the MON601 DNA plasmid, and a protocol for *in vitro* RNA transcription for MON601 genomic RNA.

Dr Stephen Wilcox and Ms Isabella Kong helped me to establish the quality and concentration of MON601 RNA, which was then used to establish the standard curve for the DENV2 qPCR assay.

Dr Greg Ebert established the culture protocol I used to produce all stocks of DENV2 for this study. Dr Ebert also helped me establish the DENV2 qPCR protocol.

Dr Joanna Groom provided me with the IFNAR^{-/-} mouse strain.

Chapter 3

Dr Simon Preston helped me to establish the flow cytometry assay used for the detection of viral NS1 antigen.

Dr Turgut-Esad Aktepe (Peter Doherty Institute) provided me with 4G2 (anti-DENV envelope) and 4G4 (anti-DENV NS1) hybridoma supernatants.

Dr Jody Peters and Professor Roy Hall (University of Queensland) provided me with 4G2 (anti-DENV envelope) and 4G4 (anti-DENV NS1) hybridoma supernatants (in bulk).

The WEHI Antibody Facility helped purify antibodies from hybridoma supernatants obtained from the Hall Lab (University of Queensland).

Dr Tan Nguyen provided me with SIDT2^{-/-} mice.

<u>Chapter 4</u>

Dr Cody Allison performed pilot experiments which helped to establish the protocol for *in vivo* MAR1-5A3-mediated suppression of type I interferon signalling.

Professor John Silke and Dr Holly Anderton provided me with TRAF2^{LysM} mice.

Chapter 5

Dr Simon Preston organised the infection and LCL-161 drug treatment of IFNAR^{-/-} mice. This experimental data was used for Figure 5.3.

Acknowledgements

It has been my pleasure throughout this PhD to work with Marc Pellegrini, my primary supervisor. He made it easy for me to put hard work into this project because I knew that there was always someone there to help me out with direction, support, and insight. I don't know where this project would have gone without him, and I don't want to find out.

In addition, Greg Ebert, my secondary supervisor, helped me produce virus after I tried and failed to do so for many months. Therefore, all of this work would not have been possible without him, and he also helped me with my qPCR, and in the way that I record and think about my results. I can honestly say that working with Greg has made me a better scientist.

Simon Preston and Marcel Doerflinger have always been supportive of my research and have helped me with numerous useful suggestions throughout the course of this PhD. Simon in particular has helped to shape the direction of this project. Marcel probably thinks he is a world-class humourist and occasionally he does make a good joke. Cody Allison has also patiently assisted me with numerous technical questions throughout this project. I have also received so much support from the rest of the Pellegrini Lab and the ID2 division.

Waihong Tham and Joseph Torresi have been exemplary committee members and have provided me with great mentorship and scientific advice. Their contributions were very much appreciated.

To Joan Curtis and Stella Kyvetos, our ID2 division coordinators, thank you for taking care of all of the paperwork, and numerous other logistical challenges, so that us researchers can focus on getting the science done.

Wendy Carter, Wendy Dietrich and the Prep Kitchen team (Denise, Heather and everybody else) helped me throughout this project by ensuring that my work with dengue virus was as safe as possible, and that all of my biological waste was quickly and efficiently disposed of. To all of my animal technicians, past and present (Merle Dayton, Carolina Alvarado, Liana Mackiewicz, Shannon Oliver): you are all superstars. Thank you for taking the time to help me with procedures and training.

I am lucky enough to have many friends inside and outside of WEHI. Thank you all for helping me get through this tough 4 years. In particular, thanks to Hannah Layman and Julia Gorman for taking me in off the street and giving me a stable home to hide away from the madness. To my climbing friends Will Russell, Tom Perkins, Davina Mann, Amelia Caddy, Georgia Wilkinson, Katalina Bobowik, Jeremi Blouin and Maja Flowery'all are great. Also, it would have been nowhere near as fun to be at WEHI without Jessica Brewster, Connie Li Wai Suen, Michelle Clark, Lisa Verzier, Ushma Ruparel and Ben Seager and also everybody at Classic Curry. Finally, I would like to thank Amal Varghese who is always up for adventures, and my overseas friends Annie Yang, Anthony Schneider, Harry Peirse and Elizabeth Well-Thulin.

Finally, thank you to my parents, Ra and Stewart who are very supportive but also let me know when I'm being dumb. It's always great to see you guys. This page has intentionally been left blank

Abbreviations

ADE	Antibody Dependent Enhancement
ALT	Alanine Transaminase
ANOVA	Analysis of Variance
AP1	Activator protein 1
AST	Aspartate Transaminase
ATP	Adenosine Triphosphate
BIR	Baculovirus IAP Repeat
BMDMs	Bone Marrow Derived Macrophages
CD, e.g. CD3	Cluster of Differentiation, e.g. Cluster of Differentiation 3
cFLIP	Cellular FLICE-inhibitory Protein
cGAS	cyclic GMP-AMP Synthase
СНХ	Cycloheximide
cIAP	cellular Inhibitor of Apoptosis Protein
CNS	Central Nervous System
CYD	Chimaeric Yellow Fever Virus - Dengue
DCs	Dendritic Cells
DENV	Dengue Virus
DF	Dengue Fever
DHF	Dengue Haemorrhagic Fever
DKO	Double Knockout
DMEM	Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium
DMSO	Dimethyl Sulfoxide
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic Acid
dsDNA	Double-stranded Deoxyribonucleic Acid
dsRNA	Double-stranded Ribonucleic Acid
DSS	Dengue Shock Syndrome
DUBA	Deubiquitinating Enzyme A
ELISPOT	Enzyme-linked Immunosorbent Spot
EMCV	Encephalomyocarditis Virus
EPO	Erythropoietin
FACS	Fluorescence Activated Cell Sorting
FADD	Fas-Associated Death Domain
FasL	Fas Ligand
FCS	Foetal Calf Serum
FcγR	Fc receptor for IgG
FDA	Federal Drug Administration
G-CSFR	Granulocyte Colony Stimulating Factor Receptor
GE	Genomic Equivalents
GPCR	G-protein Coupled Receptor

GVHD	Graft Versus Host Disease
HBV	Hepatitis B Virus
HCV	Hepatitis C Virus
HEPES	N-2-hydroxyethylpiperazine-N-ethanesulfonic acid
HIV	Human Immunodeficiency Virus
HOIL-1	Haem-oxidized IRP2 Ubiquitin Ligase-1
HOIP	HOIL-1 interacting protein
НРІ	Hours Post Infection
HSV	Herpes Simplex Virus
HTLV-1	Human T-Cell Leukaemia Virus Type 1
IAV	Influenza A Virus
IC ₅₀	Half Maximal Inhibitory Concentration
IFN	Interferon
IFNAR	Interferon- α/β Receptor
IFNGR	Interferon- γ Receptor
lgG	Immunoglobulin G
ІКК	Inhibitor of Nuclear Factor <i>k</i> B Kinase
IL, e.g. IL-3	Interleukin, e.g. Interleukin-3
IRF	Interferon Response Factor
ISG	Interferon Stimulated Gene
ISGF3	Interferon Stimulated Gene Factor 3
ISRE	Interferon Stimulated Response Element
ΙκΒ	Inhibitor of Nuclear Factor κB
JAK	Janus Kinase
JNK	c-Jun N-terminal Kinase
kDa	Kilodaltons
KIR	Kinase Inhibitory Region
LCMV	Lymphocytic Choriomeningitis Virus
LDH	Lactate Dehydrogenase
LOD	Limit of Detection
LPS	Lipopolysaccharide
LUBAC	Linear Ubiquitin Chain Assembly Complex
LysM	Lysozyme M
МАРК	Mitogen Activated Protein Kinase
MAR1	MAR1-5A3 (an IFNAR-blocking antibody clone)
MAVS	Mitochondrial Antiviral Signalling Protein
MDA-5	Melanoma Differentiation Associated Protein-5
MEFs	Mouse Embryonic Fibroblasts
miRNA	micro Ribonucleic Acid
MOI	Multiplicity of Infection
NEMO	NF- <i>k</i> B Essential Modulator

NF-κB	Nuclear Factor <i>k</i> B
NHP	Non-human Primate
NK Cell	Natural Killer Cell
NLRP3	NOD-, LRR- and Pyrin domain-containing Protein 3
NS1	Non-Structural Protein 1
PAMP	Pathogen-Associated Molecular Pattern
PBS	Phosphate-Buffered Saline
pfu	Plaque Forming Unit
pg	Picograms
PRR	Pattern Recognition Receptor
qPCR	Quantitative Polymerase Chain Reaction
RIG-I	Retinoic-Acid Inducible Gene I
RING	Really Interesting New Gene
RIP1	Receptor-interacting serine/threonine-protein kinase 1
RIP3	Receptor-interacting serine/threonine-protein kinase 3
RLRs	Retinoic-Acid Inducible Gene I-Like Receptors
RNA	Ribonucleic Acid
SEM	Standard Error of the Mean
SH2	Src Homology 2
SHARPIN	SHANK-associated RH Domain Interacting Protein
SIDT2	SID1 Transmembrane Family Member 2
siRNA	Short Interfering RNA
SMAC	Second Mitochondrial Activator of Caspases
SOCS	Suppressor of Cytokine Signalling
SP1	Proximal Specificity Protein 1
ssRNA	Single-stranded Ribonucleic Acid
STAT	Signal Transducer and Activator of Transcription
STING	Stimulator of Interferon Genes
sVEGFR2	Soluble Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor Receptor 2
T. gondii	Toxoplasma gondii
TAK1	Transforming growth factor β -activated kinase 1
TBK1	Tank-Binding Kinase 1
TDV	Tetravalent Dengue Vaccine
T _{FH} Cell	T Follicular Helper Cell
TGF-β	Transforming Growth Factor eta
Th1 Cell	T Helper Type 1 Cell
Th2 Cell	T Helper Type 2 Cell
TLR	Toll Like Receptor
TNFR1	Tumour Necrosis Factor Receptor 1
TNFR1 SC	TNFR1 Signalling Complex
TNFR2	Tumour Necrosis Factor Receptor 2

TRADD	TNF Receptor Associated Death Domain
TRAF	Tumour Necrosis Factor (TNF) Receptor-Associated Factor
TRAIL	Tumour Necrosis Factor-Related Apoptosis-Inducing Ligand
TRIF	TIR-Domain-Containing Adapter-Inducing Interferon-β
Tyk2	Tyrosine Kinase 2
VCD	Virologically Confirmed Dengue
VEGF	Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor
WHO	World Health Organisation
WT	Wild Type
XIAP	X-linked Inhibitor of Apoptosis Protein

Table of Contents

ABSTRACT		III
DECLARATION		
PREFACE		vi
ACKNOWL	EDGEMENTS	VIII
ABBREVIAT	TIONS	хі
TABLE OF C	CONTENTS	xv
LIST OF FIG	URES	хіх
LIST OF TAI	BLES	ххі
CHAPTER 1	- LITERATURE REVIEW	1
1 1		1
1.1		1
1.2		1 2
1.5		2
1.4	WIDLECULAR PATHOGENESIS OF SEVERE DENGUE	0
1.4.1	Inflammatory mediators, inflammation and vascular leak	0
1.4.2	The role of cell death in severe dengue	13
1.5	PRIMARY AND SECONDARY DENV INFECTIONS, ADE AND RISK OF SEVERE DENGUE	15
1.6	WHAT CAUSES SEVERE DENGUE ?	17
1.6.1	Do viral factors cause severe dengue?	17
1.6.2	Do host factors cause severe dengue?	18
1.7	KEY SIGNALLING PATHWAYS ACTIVATED DURING SEVERE DENGUE	20
1.7.1	PRRs sense infection and promote antiviral signalling	20
1.7.2	Type I interferon signalling acts to promote inflammation and control viral infection	21
1.7.3	NF- κ B signalling results in pleiotropic responses	22
1.8	KNOWN DENV HOST RESTRICTION FACTORS	22
1.9	ANIMAL MODELS OF DENGUE	26
1.10	VACCINES FOR THE PROPHYLACTIC PREVENTION OF DENGUE	26
1.11	DRUGS THAT HAVE BEEN TRIALLED FOR THE TREATMENT OF DENGUE	27
1.12	AIMS OF THIS PHD THESIS	30
CHAPTER 2	- MATERIALS AND METHODS	31
2.1	Cell culture	31
2.1.1	Vero Cells	31
2.1.2	Production of L929-conditioned media	31
2.1.3	Bone Marrow Derived Macrophages (BMDMs)	31
		xv

2.2	2	VIRUS PRODUCTION	32
2.3	3	TITRATION OF INFECTIOUS VIRUS BY PLAQUE ASSAY	32
2.4	1	BMDM EXPERIMENTS	33
	2.4.1	In vitro blockade of type I interferon signalling	33
	2.4.2	DENV2 in vitro infection of BMDMs	33
	2.4.3	Drug treatment of BMDMs	33
	2.4.4	Cell death control for BMDM flow cytometry experiments	34
2.5	5	ANIMAL ETHICS STATEMENT	34
2.6	5	Mouse strains	34
2.7	7	GENOTYPING	34
2.8	3	MOUSE EXPERIMENTS	35
	2.8.1	In vivo infections, safety and dosing	36
	2.8.2	Isolation of plasma from whole blood samples	36
	2.8.3	Monitoring of weight and temperature; ethical endpoints	36
	2.8.4	MAR1 suppression of type I interferon signalling in vivo	37
	2.8.5	Supportive saline treatment for IFNAR ^{-/-} mice	37
	2.8.6	LCL-161 treatment of mice	37
	2.8.7	Ruxolitinib and tofacitinib treatment of IFNAR ^{-/-} animals	38
	2.8.8	WEHI-112 treatment of IFNAR ^{-/-} animals	38
2.9	Ð	PREPARATION OF RNA STANDARD FOR QUANTITATIVE PCR (QCPR)	38
2.1	10	QUANTIFICATION OF VIRAL LOAD BY QPCR	39
2.1	11	WESTERN BLOTTING	39
2.1	12	FLOW CYTOMETRY	40
	2.12.	1 NS1 and Zombie staining of BMDMs	40
	2.12.2	2 Immunophenotyping by flow cytometry	41
2.1	13	MULTIPLEX IMMUNOASSAYS	42
2.1	14	STATISTICAL ANALYSIS	42
СНАР	TER 3	- CHARACTERISATION OF NOVEL DENV HOST RESTRICTION FACTORS USING IN VITRO	
MOD	ELS.		43
3.1	1	INTRODUCTION	43
3.2	2	ESTABLISHMENT OF AN IN VITRO DENV INFECTION / REPLICATION SYSTEM	45
	3.2.1	Type I interferon is a major restriction factor for murine DENV infection	45
	3.2.2	IFNAR-blocking antibody diminishes type I interferon signaling in uninfected BMDMs a	nd
	perm	its robust DENV infection.	47
	3.2.3	MAR1 treatment diminishes type I interferon signalling in DENV infected WT BMDMs	48
	3.2.4	MAR1 antibody treatment facilitates infection of WT BMDMs	50
	3.2.5	BMDM endpoint screening	52

	3.2.6	A note on data analysis	52
	3.3	INVESTIGATING THE EFFECT OF P50 GENETIC KNOCKOUT ON IN VITRO SUSCEPTIBILITY TO DENV INFECTION	53
	3.4	INVESTIGATING THE EFFECT OF SOCS3 GENETIC KNOCKOUT ON IN VITRO DENV INFECTION	57
	3.5	INVESTIGATING THE EFFECT OF SIDT2 GENETIC KNOCKOUT ON IN VITRO DENV INFECTION	62
	3.6	INVESTIGATING THE EFFECT OF IAP DEFICIENCY ON IN VITRO DENV INFECTION	66
	3.7	INVESTIGATING THE EFFECT OF IAP DEFICIENCY ON IN VITRO DENV PRODUCTION USING PLAQUE ASSAYS	71
	3.8	INVESTIGATING THE EFFECT OF IAP DEFICIENCY ON CYTOKINE PRODUCTION DURING DENV INFECTION	72
	3.9	The effect of drug-mediated NF- <i>k</i> B inhibition on <i>in vitro</i> DENV infection	74
	3.9.1	LCL-161 degradation of cIAP1	76
	3.9.2	Determination of optimal LCL-161 dosage for in vitro experiments	76
	3.9.3	Treatment of BMDMs with LCL-161 does not reduce viral production	77
	3.9.4	Determination of optimal BAY dosage for in vitro experiments	80
	3.9.5	Treatment of BMDMs with BAY does not reduce viral production	81
	3.10	Discussion	83
	3.11	Conclusion	85
CI	HAPTER 4	- CHARACTERISATION OF NOVEL DENV HOST RESTRICTION FACTORS USING IN VIVO	
N	IODELS		86
	<i>A</i> 1		86
	4.1	INTRODUCTION	86
	4.2	AN IMMUNOCOMPETENT MOUSE MODEL OF DENV2 INFECTION	88
	4.5	A note on data analysis	91
	4.5.1 A A	A HOLE OF BUILD BINDING THE EFFECT OF P50 GENETIC KNOCKOLIT ON DENVINEECTION IN VIVO	91 91
	4 5	Investigating the effect of SOCS3 conditional knockout on <i>Inviva</i> DENV infection	94
	4.5		97
	4.0	Investigating the effect of IAP deficiency on <i>in vivo</i> DENV infection	101
	4.8	FURTHER INVESTIGATION OF THE ROLF OF IAPS IN VIVO	104
	4.9	THE CYTOKINE RESPONSE TO DENV INFECTION IN MAR1 TREATED WT MICE	109
	4.10	THE CYTOKINE RESPONSE TO DENV INFECTION IN MAR1 TREATED GENE-TARGETED MICE	114
	4.10.	1 The cytokine response of $p50^{-/-}$ mice to DENV2 infection	114
	4.10.	2 The cytokine response of SOCS3 ^{LysM} mice to DENV2 infection	115
	4.10.	3 The cytokine response of TRAF2 ^{LysM} and IAP deficient mice to DENV2 infection	115
	4.11	Discussion	118
~			125
C	HAPIER 3	- PRECLINICAL TESTING OF THERAPEOTIC CANDIDATES USING IN VIVO MODELS	125
	5.1	INTRODUCTION	125
	5.2	ESTABLISHMENT OF AN IN VIVO MODEL OF SEVERE DENGUE	126
	5.3	Use of LCL-161 to treat <i>in vivo</i> DENV infection	128
	5.3.1	Can LCL-161 treatment improve the outcomes of DENV2 infected IFNAR ^{-/-} mice?	129
			xvii

	5.3.2	How does LCL-161 treatment alter the myeloid compartments and viral load of MAR1	-
	treate	d WT mice infected with DENV2?	131
	5.3.3	The effect of LCL-161 treatment on plasma cytokine levels in MAR1-treated WT mice	
	infecte	ed with DENV2	135
5.4	4	Assessment of jakinibs as novel therapeutics for the treatment of <i>in vivo</i> DENV infection	138
5.	5	ASSESSMENT OF A TBK1 INHIBITOR AS A NOVEL DENGUE THERAPEUTIC	143
5.	5 1	Discussion	146
СНАР	TER 6	GENERAL DISCUSSION	151
BIBLI	BIBLIOGRAPHY 15		158

List of Figures

Chapter 1 - Literature Review

Figure 1.1 Organisation of the DENV RNA genome and polypeptide processing
Chapter 3 - Characterisation of novel DENV host restriction factors using in vitro
models
Figure 3.1 Murine type I interferon is a restriction factor precluding robust DENV infection in vitro 47
Figure 3.2 MAR1 treatment blocks type I interferon signalling in vitro
Figure 3.3 MAR1 treatment ameliorates type I interferon response to DENV infection in vitro
Figure 3.4 MAR1 treatment augments WT BMDM infection in vitro
Figure 3.5 p50 ^{-/-} BMDMs do not have an enhanced susceptibility to DENV infection
Figure 3.6 Loss of p50 does not affect the viability of DENV infected BMDMs
Figure 3.7 SOCS3 ^{LysM} BMDMs do not have an enhanced susceptibility to DENV infection
Figure 3. 8 Loss of SOCS3 does not affect the viability of DENV infected BMDMs
Figure 3.9 SIDT2 ^{-/-} BMDMs have a normal level of susceptibility to DENV infection relative to WT BMDMs.
Figure 3.10 SIDT2 ^{-/-} BMDMs do not have changed levels of cell death in response to DENV infection 65
Figure 3.11 cIAP2 ^{-/-} BMDMs, but not cIAP1 ^{-/-} or c1 ^{LysM} /cIAP2 ^{-/-} BMDMs, are more susceptible to DENV
infection than WT BMDMs69
Figure 3.12 cIAP1-/-, cIAP2-/- and c1LysM/cIAP2-/- BMDMs do not have changed levels of cell death in
response to DENV infection
Figure 3.13 cIAP1 ^{LysM} /cIAP2 ^{-/-} BMDMs produce less virus than WT controls72
Figure 3.14 Cytokine levels of uninfected BMDMS, and of infected, MAR1-treated BMDMs at 48 hours
post infection
Figure 3.15 Confirmation that LCL-161 treatment potently degrades cIAP1 in BMDMs76
Figure 3.16 Selection of a working dose of LCL-161 for <i>in vitro</i> assays77
Figure 3.17 LCL-161 treatment does not alter DENV infection of BMDMs
Figure 3.18 Selection of a working dose of BAY 11-7082 ("BAY") for <i>in vitro</i> assays80
Figure 3.19 BAY treatment increases the susceptibility of BMDMs to infection, and can increase cell death.

Chapter 4 - Characterisation of novel DENV host restriction factors using *in vivo* models

Figure 4.4 SOCS3 ^{LysM} mice show no changes in weight, a minor change in temperature and no change in
Figure 4.3 p50 ^{-/-} mice show no changes in weight, temperature or viral load when infected with DENV2.
Figure 4.2 Characterisation of a novel immunocompetent mouse model of DENV2 infection
Figure 4.1 MAR1 antibody treatment increases the susceptibility of WT mice to DENV2 infection 87

viral load when infected with DENV29
Figure 4.5 TRAF2 ^{LysM} mice show no changes in weight, a minor change in temperature and delayed vira
clearance when infected with DENV2
Figure 4.6 DENV2 infection of IAP-deficient mice results in transient changes in weight and temperature
c1 ^{LysM} /cIAP2 ^{-/-} mice produce less DENV2 than WT mice
Figure 4.7 Quantification of myeloid cell populations in WT and cIAP2-/- mice.
Figure 4.8 Quantification of myeloid cell populations in WT and c1 ^{LysM} / cIAP2 ^{-/-} mice
Figure 4.9 Statistical differences in plasma cytokine levels of DENV2-infected WT mice, relative to naïv
WT controls11
Figure 4.10 Statistical differences of cytokine levels in the plasma of DENV2-infected genetically-targete
mice, relative to WT control

Chapter 5 - Preclinical testing of therapeutic candidates using in vivo models of dengue

Figure 5.1 Initial characterisation of an IFNAR ^{-/-} mouse model of severe dengue
Figure 5.2 Determination of pro-inflammatory cytokine levels in an IFNAR ^{-/-} mouse model of severe
dengue
Figure 5.3 LCL-161 treatment does not improve the survival of IFNAR ^{-/-} mice
Figure 5.4 One dose of LCL-161 does not reduce viral load in the WT MAR1 mouse model of DENV
infection
Figure 5. 5 Two doses of LCL-161 does not reduce viral load in the WT MAR1 mouse model of DENV
infection
Figure 5.6 Statistical differences in the cytokine production of WT mice treated with one or two doses
of LCL-161, relative to the cytokine production of vehicle-treated controls
Figure 5.7 High doses of jakinibs can dramatically reduce STAT3 phosphorylation in DENV-infected
IFNAR ^{-/-} mice
Figure 5.8 High doses of Jakinib drugs do not increase the survival of DENV-infected IFNAR-/- mice 143
Figure 5.9 TBK inhibition does not improve the survival of DENV2 infected IFNAR ^{-/-} mice

List of Tables

Chapter 1 - Literature Review

Table 1.1 WHO Dengue Classification Scheme (1997)	4
Table 1.2 WHO Dengue Classification Scheme (2009)	5
Table 1.3. Inflammatory mediator signalling increased / decreased during severe dengue, relative	e to
dengue fever	. 11
Table 1. 4 Known DENV host restriction factors	. 24

Chapter 2 - Material and Methods

Table 2.1 Genotyping Primers	35
Table 2.2 Dosing schedule of MAR1 relative to the time of infection	37
Table 2.3 Antibodies used for Western Blotting	40
Table 2.4 Antibodies used for flow cytometry	42

<u>Chapter 3 - Characterisation of novel DENV host restriction factors using *in vitro* <u>models</u></u>

Table 3.1. Endpoir	its of DENV in vitro screen		
--------------------	-----------------------------	--	--

Chapter 1 - Literature Review

1.1 Background and epidemiology

Dengue is a mosquito-borne disease of the tropics and sub-tropics. Dengue cases normally present with flu-like symptoms, but these can occasionally progress to a more serious form of disease for reasons that are not well-understood. The causal agent of dengue is Dengue Virus (DENV), which is transmitted by female mosquitoes of the genus Aedes (Rothman, 2011). Due to its potentially severe symptoms and wide geographic spread, dengue was listed by the world health organisation as a top ten threat to global health in 2019 (World Health Organization, 2019).

The annual incidence of dengue has been estimated to be 400 million cases worldwide, with the majority of cases occurring in Southeast Asia and other tropical regions (Bhatt et al., 2013). Most cases of dengue are asymptomatic, with estimates putting the number of clinical cases at between 58-100 million per year, resulting in 10,000 deaths (Bhatt et al., 2013; Stanaway et al., 2016). Between 1990-2013, the incidence of dengue increased more than seven-fold, with most of this increase driven by human population growth and spread (Messina et al., 2019; Stanaway et al., 2016). Currently, 53% of the human population resides in areas suitable for dengue transmission, and this figure is projected to increase to 60% by the year 2080 (Messina et al., 2014).

There are four related DENV serotypes (DENV1-DENV4) that share 60-70% similarity at the amino acid level and all cause similar disease. The four serotypes of DENV emerged relatively recently, with the most recent common ancestor of the four serotypes estimated to be approximately 1000 years ago (Twiddy, Holmes, & Rambaut, 2003). The transmission cycle for DENV was mostly sylvatic over last 1000 years, with hosts of the families *Macaca, Presbyti* and *Erythrocebus*, before the virus became endemic in human populations over the last several few hundred years (Holmes & Twiddy, 2003).

1.2 The DENV lifecycle

DENV is a member of the *Flavivirus* genus of the Flaviviridae family, which includes other mosquito-borne viruses such as yellow fever virus, zika virus and west nile virus

(Campos, Mongkolsapaya, & Screaton, 2018). After a human host is bitten by an infected female *Aedes* mosquito, DENV enters host cells by endocytosis. Subsequently, acidification of the endosome allows the viral envelope to fuse with the endosomal membrane, liberating the RNA genome into the cytoplasm. The DENV genome is comprised of positive sense, single-stranded RNA (ssRNA), and is approximately 10.7kb in length. The DENV genome is divided into 3 structural genes (C, prM and E), and 7 non-structural genes (NS1, NS2A, NS2B, NS3, NS4A, NS4B, NS5) (see Figure 1). The genome is translated as a single polypeptide, which is then cleaved by DENV and host proteases to form mature proteins. Viral replication takes place in the ER, resulting in the production of immature virions. These immature virions then mature as they pass through the trans-Golgi network and exit the host cell, and this involves cleavage of the host protein prM by the host enzyme furin (see Figure 1) (Campos et al., 2018).



Figure 1.1 Organisation of the DENV RNA genome and polypeptide processing. Reproduced from (Campos et al., 2018).

Studies of intradermally injected mice and human skin explants show that dendritic cells, macrophages and Langerhans cells are the initial cells to be infected by dengue (Cerny et al., 2014; Schmid & Harris, 2014; S. J. Wu et al., 2000). However, after the disease becomes systemic, flow cytometry profiling has shown that monocytes are the main infected cells in peripheral blood (Durbin et al., 2008; Kou et al., 2008).

1.3 Clinical description and classification

The clinical course of dengue is often divided into febrile, defervescent and recovery

phases (World Health Organisation, 2009). During the febrile stage of dengue there is acute onset of a high fever that can be accompanied by flu-like symptoms such as myalgia, rash, nausea, headache and mild mucosal bleeding. This initial stage of the disease generally lasts for 3-5 days and coincides with high levels of viraemia. During defervescence, temperature returns to normal and viraemia levels drop sharply (Duyen et al., 2011; Fox et al., 2011). In a small subset of people the disease can progress at defervescence to severe dengue, characterised by plasma leakage, bleeding, and organ involvement (Simmons, Farrar, Van Vinh Chau, & Wills, 2012). The molecular mechanisms underpinning the progression to severe dengue will be discussed below (section 1.4). During recovery phase, platelet counts and haematocrit return to homeostatic levels (Simmons et al., 2012).

In an effort to improve dengue case management and triage, the World Health Organisation released a classification scheme for dengue severity in 1997 (World Health Organisation, 1997). This divided dengue into dengue fever (DF), and dengue haemorrhagic fever (DHF) of grades I-IV, with grades III and IV also referred to as dengue shock syndrome (DSS) (Table 1.1). In an effort to improve treatment further, the WHO issued an altered classification scheme in 2009, which divided cases into dengue without warning signs, dengue with warning signs, and severe dengue (Table 1.2).

Because of this change, studies have reported their findings using either the 1997 criteria, the 2009 criteria, or both. For simplicity, when referring to the literature during this thesis, I will use the term "dengue fever" to encompass dengue fever (1997 scheme), and dengue with / without warning signs (2009 scheme). I will use the term "severe dengue" to encompass DHF/DSS (1997 scheme) and severe dengue (2009 scheme).

Dengue Fever (DF) / Dengue Haemorrhagic Fever (DHF)	Grade	Symptoms	Laboratory Picture
		Fever with two or more of the	Leukopenia occasionally.
DF		following signs: headache, retro -	Thrombocytopenia may be present.
		orbital pain, myalgia, arthralgia	No evidence of plasma loss
DHE	I	Above signs plus positive	Thrombocytopenia < 100,000 Hct [#]
DIF		tourniquet test	rise > 20%
DHE		Above signs plus spontaneous	Thrombocytopenia < 100,000 Hct [#]
Dill		bleeding	rise > 20%
		Above signs plus circulatory failure	Thrombocytopenia < 100,000
DHF	*	(weak pulse, hypotension	Hct# rise > 20%
		restlessness)	
DHE	IV*	Profound shock with undetectable	Thrombocytopenia < 100,000
		blood pressure and pulse	Hct [#] rise > 20%

Table 1.1 WHO Dengue Classification Scheme (1997)

* DHF Grades III-IV are also referred to as Dengue Shock Syndrome (DSS), # haematocrit (hct); adapted from (World Health Organisation, 1997).

Dengue Without Warning	Warning Signs	Severe Dengue	
Signs			
		Severe plasma leakage leading to:	
Laboratory Diagnosis	Abdominal Pain or	 Shock (DSS) 	
OR	tenderness	 Fluid accumulation with 	
		respiratory distress	
History of residence in / travel to		Sovera bleading as evaluated by	
endemic area AND fever AND 2 of	Persistent Vomiting	Severe bleeding as evaluated by	
the following criteria:		clinician	
		Severe organ involvement	
		• Liver: AST* or ALT# >=1000	
Nausea, vomiting	Clinical fluid accumulation	 CNS⁺: Impaired consciousness 	
		 Heart and other organs 	
Rash	Mucosal bleed		
Aches and Pains	Lethargy, restlessness		
Tourniquet test positive	Liver enlargement > 2cm		
	Laboratory: increase in		
	haematocrit concurrent		
Leuokopaenia	with rapid decrease in		
	platelet count		
Any warning Sign			

Table 1.2 WHO Dengue Classification Scheme (2009)

* aspartate transaminase (AST), # alanine transaminase (ALT), + central nervous system (CNS); adapted from (World Health Organisation, 2009).

1.4 Molecular pathogenesis of severe dengue

1.4.1 Inflammatory mediators, inflammation and vascular leak

In a small proportion of dengue fever patients, symptoms progress at the defervescent stage to severe dengue. Here, I will describe the molecular pathogenesis of severe dengue. Subsequently, I will discuss the causes of severe dengue (section 1.6).

During severe dengue, high concentrations of inflammatory mediators cause transient alterations in endothelial permeability (Simmons et al., 2012). This results in the cardinal signs of severe dengue which are haemorrhage and plasma leakage. Currently, the only clinical tool available to manage these symptoms involves the replacement of fluids to prevent shock and associated sequelae (World Health Organisation, 2009). Failure to properly manage fluids during the defervescent phase of disease can result in lasting organ damage or lethal shock (World Health Organisation, 2009).

The molecular basis of severe dengue is often described as a cytokine storm, similar to the states of inflammation generated by the 1918 influenza or sepsis. The "cytokine storm" moniker implies that all inflammatory mediators associated with severe dengue are host-derived cytokines. While cytokines are very important to the pathogenesis of severe dengue, a number of non-cytokine inflammatory mediators are also associated with severe dengue, including the viral NS1 protein.

A list of inflammatory mediators associated with severe dengue has been collated and is presented as Table 1.3. These mediators meet two criteria. Firstly, the level of these mediators was altered in severe dengue relative to dengue fever in at least one human cohort study. Secondly, studies were selected only if they measured levels of mediators as concentrations of protein, as opposed to measurement of changes at the transcriptional level. Given that the focus of this thesis is on the contribution of signalling pathways to pathogenesis, a description of receptors and signalling adaptors has also been included for each mediator. In addition, it has been noted whether levels of these mediators are increased or decreased in severe dengue, relative to dengue fever. A brief description of the main groups of inflammatory mediators with altered levels in severe dengue is provided below.

Chemotactic cytokines (chemokines) act to mobilise and recruit immune cells and are highly upregulated during severe dengue (Table 1.3). MCP-1 is a powerful regulator of monocyte chemotaxis and adhesion (Deshmane, Kremlev, Amini, & Sawaya, 2009; Gerszten et al., 1999). MIP-1 β and RANTES help to regulate the chemotaxis of macrophages and natural killer (NK) cells, and interactions between dendritic cells and T cells (Sokol & Luster, 2015). IL-8 stimulates the recruitment of neutrophils, and IP-10 regulates T cell function and recruits NK cells (Sokol & Luster, 2015). Early production of chemokines is mediated largely by macrophages, mast cells, and dendritic cells, as these cell types express a wide array of pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) and are therefore excellent detectors of pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) (Sokol & Luster, 2015). Macrophages, mast cells and dendritic cells can produce chemokines that have been associated with severe dengue; all three types of cells have been reported to produce MCP-1, MIP-1b, RANTES, IL-8 and IP-10 (Griffith, Sokol, & Luster, 2014; Sokol & Luster, 2015). Many of these chemokines can also be produced by cytokine-activated endothelium, although the contribution of these cells is thought to be relatively minor (Griffith et al., 2014).

During the course of severe dengue, immune cells are recruited via high concentrations of chemokines and establish a pro-inflammatory milieu. Immune cells mediate this in part via the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines. Type I interferons (IFN- α/β) are key regulators of the acute anti-viral immune response (Platanias, 2005). Plasmacytoid dendritic cells are the main producers of type I interferon during viral infection (Webster et al., 2018). One of the functions of type I interferon signalling during DENV infection is to drive rapid type II interferon production from NK cells (Webster et al., 2018). Type II interferon (IFN- γ) has an important role in the acute immune response, but is also critical for chronic immune responses, in part through promotion of Th1 differentiation (Paul, 2015). Ex vivo restimulation assays have shown that CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells have also been shown to produce IFN- γ (Kurane et al., 1991; D. Weiskopf et al., 2013; Daniela Weiskopf, Bangs, et al., 2015). Collectively, interferons signal via autocrine and paracrine pathways to drive the transcription of hundreds of genes and induce a pro-inflammatory and anti-viral programme (for more information, see section 1.7).

In addition to interferons, IL-1 α/β , IL-6, IL-7, GM-CSF, and TNF are all pro-inflammatory 7

cytokines that are significantly upregulated during severe dengue (Dinarello, 2013; Naugler & Karin, 2008; Pellegrini et al., 2011; Shi et al., 2006). Monocytes, macrophages and other innate immune cells produce all of these cytokines (Auffray, Sieweke, & Geissmann, 2009; Duque & Descoteaux, 2014; Shi et al., 2006) with the exception of IL-7, which is produced by thymic stromal cells and peripheral tissues such as the skin and lymph nodes (Kim, Hong, & Park, 2011). IL-4 controls Th2 differentiation (Paul, 2015), and together with IL-13, is a component of the allergic response (Price et al., 2010). IL-4 and IL-13 are produced by Th2 cells, and other cells involved in allergic responses such as eosinophils and mast cells (Price et al., 2010).

Non-cytokine mediators also promote inflammation during severe dengue. NS1 is a viral glycoprotein that is secreted from DENV-infected cells as a hexamer (Somnuke, Hauhart, Atkinson, Diamond, & Avirutnan, 2011) and exerts a pro-inflammatory effect by stimulating Toll-like receptor (TLR) 4 signalling, which in turn induces the production of TNF and IL-6 (Modhiran et al., 2015). The alternative complement pathway is also activated during severe dengue via the upregulation and downregulation of the regulatory proteins factor D and factor H, and may drive inflammation (Nascimento et al., 2009). In conclusion, the combined effects of cytokines, NS1 and complement activation combine to drive inflammation during severe dengue.

Many inflammatory mediators have also been implicated in the development of vascular leakage during severe dengue. The cytokines TNF and IL-1 β have been reported to be upregulated in severe dengue (see Table 1.3) and have been shown to act on endothelial monolayers and increase permeability *in vitro* (London et al., 2010). Recently, it was shown that NS1 treatment could increase the permeability of endothelial cell monolayers and induce vascular leak in mice (Beatty et al., 2015; Modhiran et al., 2015). Furthermore, an elegant follow-up study showed that this hyperpermeability was caused directly by NS1, and not via the actions of pro-inflammatory cytokines expressed upon NS1 treatment (Glasner et al., 2017). Moreover, TNF has been implicated in increasing the permeability of endothelial cells either directly, or indirectly via upregulating the production of reactive oxygen and nitrogen species (Shresta, Sharar, Prigozhin, Beatty, & Harris, 2006; Yen, Chen, Lin, Shieh, & Wu-Hsieh, 2008). Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) is produced by monocytes and macrophages (Auffray

8

et al., 2009; Duque & Descoteaux, 2014) and is a potent promoter of vascular permeability (Gavard & Gutkind, 2006). The activity of VEGF can be at least partially antagonised soluble decoy receptors such as soluble VEGF receptor 2 (sVEGFR2) (Pavlakovic, Becker, Albuquerque, Wilting, & Ambati, 2010). VEGF is able to alter permeability by altering the stability of intercellular adherens and tight junctions (Gavard & Gutkind, 2006). Srikiatkhachorn and colleagues found that levels of the sVEGFR2 were decreased during severe dengue, and this correlated with increased levels of free (unbound) VEGF, which could contribute to the vascular leak phenotype (Srikiatkhachorn et al., 2007).

Intercellular junctions have also shown to be altered in the context of DENV infection by the mast cell-derived protease tryptase (Rathore et al., 2019). Tryptase is released upon mast cell degranulation and functions together with another mast cell protease, chymase, to disrupt tight junctions. In a mouse model of DENV infection, tryptase inhibition decreased vascular permeability. Moreover, in two human cohorts, tryptase levels directly correlated with the severity of dengue (Rathore et al., 2019). Therefore, similarly to the development of inflammation, many inflammatory mediators drive the development of vascular leak during severe dengue.

Unfortunately, the results of dengue inflammatory mediator studies are heterogeneous, and consistent support for the involvement of specific mediators is often lacking. This is well illustrated by the differences in study findings summarised in Table 1.3 for IFN- α , MIP-1 β , NS1 and RANTES. This heterogeneity is driven by a wide range of factors including: methodological factors including study design and classification of disease; viral factors such as serotype and transmission rate; and host factors such as the age and degree of immunity of the study population (Y. H. Lee, Leong, & Wilder-Smith, 2016; Salje et al., 2018; Soo et al., 2017).

Meta-analyses have been conducted in an attempt to identify consistently significant associations of individual inflammatory mediators with severe dengue. Lee and colleagues found that the anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-10 was consistently upregulated in severe dengue relative to dengue fever, with the peak difference occurring around the time of defervescence (Y. H. Lee et al., 2016). They also found that

9

levels of IFN- γ were also significantly different between severe dengue and dengue fever cases. However, 3 studies found IFN- γ was upregulated, and 3 found it was downregulated so this finding needs to be clarified. Soo and colleagues ran a separate meta-analysis of inflammatory mediators associated with severe dengue (Soo et al., 2017). In a similar finding to Lee et al., Soo and colleagues determined that IL-10 was routinely upregulated during severe dengue infection. In addition to this, they determined that IL-8 and IL-18 were also upregulated during severe dengue. Soo and colleagues also found that levels of RANTES, IL-7, TGF- β and VEGFR2 were decreased during severe dengue (Soo et al., 2017). In summary, although many different inflammatory mediators have been implicated in the pathogenesis of severe dengue (Table 1.3), only a handful of mediators have been associated with disease in a reproducible and statistically significant manner. Studies with consistent sampling and reporting procedures are required to address this shortcoming in the literature (Y. H. Lee et al., 2016; Soo et al., 2017).

Table 1.3. Inflammatory mediator signalling increased / decreased during severedengue, relative to dengue fever

Mediator	Receptor(s)	JAK(s)	Adaptor(s)	Literature reference: signalling pathway	Literature reference: involvement in severe dengue	Increased / decreased in severe dengue
GM-CSF	GM-CSFR	Jak2, Jak2		(O'Shea et al., 2015; Shi et al., 2006)	(Bozza et al., 2008; Patro et al., 2019)	ſ
IFN-α/β	IFNAR	Jak1, Tyk2		(O'Shea et al., 2015)	(De La Cruz Hernández et al., 2014; Libraty, Endy, et al., 2002)	↓; n.s.
IFN-γ	IFNGR	Jak1, Jak2		(O'Shea et al., 2015)	(Bozza et al., 2008; Patro et al., 2019; L. Zhao et al., 2016)	ſ
IL-7	IL-7R, γ _c	Jak1, Jak3		(O'Shea et al., 2015)	(Bozza et al., 2008)	\uparrow
IL-10	IL-10R	Jak1, Tyk2		(Moore, de Waal Malefyt, Coffman, & O'Garra, 2001)	(Patro et al., 2019; L. Zhao et al., 2016)	ſ
IL-1α	IL-1R1		MyD88	(Dinarello, 2013)	(L. Zhao et al. <i>,</i> 2016)	\uparrow
IL-1β	IL-1R1		MyD88	(Dinarello, 2013)	(Bozza et al., 2008)	\uparrow
IL-4	IL-4R, γ_{c}	Jak1, Jak3		(O'Shea et al., 2015)	(Bozza et al., 2008)	\uparrow
IL-6	IL-6R, gp130	Jak1, Jak2, Tyk2		(Naugler & Karin, 2008)	(Bozza et al., 2008)	1
IL-8 (CXCR8)	CXCR1, CXCR2			(Griffith et al., 2014)	(L. Zhao et al. <i>,</i> 2016)	\uparrow

Mediator	Receptor(s)	JAK(s)	Adaptor(s)	Literature reference: signalling pathway	Literature reference: involvement in severe dengue	Increased / decreased in severe dengue
IL-13	IL-4Ra, IL- 13Ra1	Jak1, Jak2, Tyk2		(O'Shea et al., 2015; Paul, 2015)	(Bozza et al., 2008)	Ŷ
IP-10 (CXCL10)	CXCR3			(Griffith et al., 2014)	(L. Zhao et al., 2016)	\uparrow
MCP-1 (CCL2)	CCR2			(Griffith et al., 2014)	(L. Zhao et al. <i>,</i> 2016)	Ŷ
MIP-1β (CCL4)	CCR5			(Griffith et al., 2014)	(Bozza et al., 2008; Patro et al., 2019)	$\downarrow \uparrow$
NS1	TLR4		TRIF, MyD88	(Kawasaki & Kawai, 2014)	(Libraty, Young, et al., 2002; Perdomo-Celis, Salgado, & Narváez, 2017)	个; n.s.
RANTES (CCL5)	CCR1, CCR3, CCR5			(Griffith et al., 2014)	(Patro et al., 2019; L. Zhao et al., 2016)	$\wedge \downarrow$
TNF	TNFR		TRAF2, TRAF5	(Tada et al., 2001)	(L. Zhao et al., 2016)	\uparrow
Tryptase	NA				(Rathore et al., 2019)	\uparrow
Complement Factor D	NA				(Nascimento et al., 2009)	\uparrow
Complement Factor H	NA				(Nascimento et al., 2009)	\downarrow
VEGFR2	NA		Vav2 / Src	(Gavard & Gutkind, 2006)	(Srikiatkhachorn et al., 2007)	\rightarrow

*n.s. not statistically significant

1.4.2 The role of cell death in severe dengue

Apoptosis is a form of programmed cell death which is thought to have evolved as a form of defence against intracellular pathogens (Ke et al., 2018; Strasser & Vaux, 2018). Two convergent signalling pathways are capable of inducing apoptosis (Shalini, Dorstyn, Dawar, & Kumar, 2015). The intrinsic pathway is regulated by the BCL-2 family of proteins that sense and respond to cellular stress (Shalini et al., 2015). The extrinsic pathway is triggered when death ligands such as TNF, Fas ligand (FasL) and tumour necrosis factor-related apoptosis-inducing ligand (TRAIL) ligate their cognate receptors. Activation of either the intrinsic or extrinsic pathway results in the activation of initiator caspases, such as caspase 8, that can then activate effector caspases resulting in the cleavage of hundreds of substrates and cell death. These pathways are strictly controlled at multiple levels to prevent excessive activation and uncontrolled cell death (Shalini et al., 2015). Apoptosis involves the packaging of intracellular components into membrane-bound vesicles that are then digested by professional phagocytes (Jacobson, Weil, & Raff, 1997). Therefore, apoptosis does not result in the uncontrolled release of cellular components and is generally a non-inflammatory process (Jacobson et al., 1997).

The controlled and regulated nature of apoptosis contrasts with the process of necrosis. Necrosis is an uncontrolled form of cell death which results in the uncontrolled and inflammatory release of intracellular components (Jacobson et al., 1997).

Pyroptosis is a form of controlled but inflammatory cell death that has a role in the clearance of intracellular pathogens (Doerflinger et al., 2020; Shalini et al., 2015). During pyroptosis, chromatin does not condense but remains diffuse; caspase-3 is not activated and membrane integrity is lost (Brennan & Cookson, 2000).

Several studies have shown that apoptosis is active during severe dengue. PBMCs have been shown to undergo increased rates of apoptosis during severe dengue, relative to patients with dengue fever (Jaiyen, Masrinoul, Kalayanarooj, Pulmanausahakul, & Ubol, 2009; Myint et al., 2006), or relative to healthy controls (Torrentes-Carvalho et al., 2014) and this has been associated with increased expression of Fas and TNFR1 death receptors and their cognate ligands (Jaiyen et al., 2009; Torrentes-Carvalho et al., 2014). Several studies have found that levels of the death ligands TRAIL and FasL are increased in dengue fever relative to severe dengue, suggesting that activation of the extrinsic pathway is involved in restricting the severity of symptoms (Gandini et al., 2013; Limonta et al., 2014). However, other groups have found that levels of soluble Fas were higher in subjects with severe dengue than dengue fever (Myint et al., 2006).

In vitro studies have shown that primary human monocytes undergo apoptosis when infected with DENV2 (Espina, Valero, Hernández, & Mosquera, 2003; Torrentes-Carvalho et al., 2009). However, it is difficult to quantify the role that monocyte apoptosis plays in severe dengue, as this process has not been studied *in vivo* or *ex vivo*.

Several groups have reported that endothelial cells can be infected by DENV *in vitro* or in mouse models, and cause apoptosis (Avirutnan, Malasit, Seliger, Bhakdi, & Husmann, 1998; H.-C. Chen, Hofman, Kung, Lin, & Wu-Hsieh, 2007). However, autopsy studies of human dengue patients show only limited involvement of endothelial cells in disease. While two groups reported limited detection of DENV antigen in endothelial cells, these authors concluded that this finding probably had minimal relevance to severe dengue pathogenesis (Balsitis et al., 2009; Jessie, Fong, Devi, Lam, & Wong, 2004) and other autopsy examinations have found no evidence of endothelial infection (Aye et al., 2014; Couvelard et al., 1999).

Interestingly, several autopsy studies have reported the presence of liver necrosis in subjects that succumbed to severe dengue (Aye et al., 2014; Bhamarapravati, Tuchinda, & Boonyapaknavik, 1967; Couvelard et al., 1999). Two large studies, of 100 cases and 13 cases respectively, found evidence of moderate to severe necrosis in the majority of livers they examined (Aye et al., 2014; Bhamarapravati et al., 1967). Aye and colleagues concluded that the degree of liver damage correlated poorly with levels viral antigen and viral RNA, and therefore hypoxia or inflammatory mediators might account for the damage observed as opposed to the cytopathic effects of DENV infection (Aye et al., 2014).

A relatively small body of *in vitro* has implicated pyroptosis in the pathogenesis of dengue (Cheung, Sze, Chan, & Leung, 2018; Tan & Chu, 2013; M. Wu et al., 2013). Rather than studying the direct impact of DENV infection on the initiation of pyroptosis, these

investigators have mainly relied on indirect measurements of pyroptosis such as the effect of caspase-1 inhibitors on lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) cell death assays and IL-1 β production, which generally requires caspase-1. The exception to this is the paper by Tan et al. who examined late-stage (>24hpi) cell death of DENV-infected primary macrophages using electron microscopy, and found morphology that was supportive of pyroptosis-mediated cell death. In future, *in vivo* infections of mice deficient in caspases or downstream pyroptosis effectors such as gasdermin proteins would help to clarify the role of pyroptosis in dengue pathogenesis.

In conclusion, there is some evidence suggesting that severe dengue may be associated with PBMC apoptosis, and there is some evidence that this is mediated by the extrinsic pathway of apoptosis. There is no evidence to support causation and it is counterintuitive to suggest that apoptosis contributes to disease. Indeed, apoptosis evolved as a mechanism to eliminate intracellular pathogens (Ke et al., 2018; Strasser & Vaux, 2018). On the other hand, necrotic liver damage occurs relatively frequently, at least in fatal cases, and this damage appears to occur as a result of circulatory failure or excessive production of inflammatory mediators – i.e. a consequence of severe dengue infection but not the cause. The role of pyroptosis in the pathogenesis of dengue remains to be properly defined.

1.5 Primary and secondary DENV infections, ADE and risk of severe dengue

Severe dengue can occur during primary or secondary DENV infection, but the risk of severe dengue is much higher during secondary infection (Anantapreecha et al., 2005; Kenji, Keisuke, Taro, & Hiroshi, 2014). This observation can be explained by a phenomenon referred to as antibody-dependent enhancement (ADE). Primary DENV infection induces the production of antibodies that are able to neutralise DENV and prevent reinfection. However, in the absence of reinfection, levels of these neutralising antibodies steadily decline over time (Guzman et al., 2007; Sabin, 1952). Neutralising antibodies can be further sub-classified into serotype-specific and cross-neutralising antibody responses; however, discussion of this area of dengue biology is beyond the scope of this review, but this subject has recently been well-discussed in a l reviewed by
St. John and Rahore (St. John & Rathore, 2019). Human cohort studies have shown that low titres of neutralising antibodies correspond to a high risk of severe dengue, and this risk is much greater than the risk of severe dengue in the complete absence of neutralising antibodies (Katzelnick, 2017; Salje et al., 2018).

In vitro and in vivo studies have shed light on the precise mechanism that underpins ADE. Fc receptor for IgG (Fc γ R) is expressed on myeloid cells such as monocytes and macrophages (Guilliams, Bruhns, Saeys, Hammad, & Lambrecht, 2014), which are DENV host cells (Cerny et al., 2014; Durbin et al., 2008). $Fc\gamma R$ -expressing cells endocytose antibody-DENV complexes with high efficiency (Kou et al., 2008; Littaua et al., 1990). Consequently, DENV infection of FcyR-expressing cells in the presence of subneutralising concentrations of anti-DENV antibody results in high levels of cell infection (Kou et al., 2008; Littaua et al., 1990). In addition, infection of DENV mouse models with sub-neutralising concentrations of anti-DENV antibody has been shown to increase rates of infection of myeloid cells and increase disease severity (R M Zellweger, Prestwood, & Shresta, 2010). Therefore, it is believed that a high level of myeloid cell infection underpins the increased risk of severe dengue in individuals with low levels of neutralising antibodies, such as during secondary dengue infection. Furthermore, $Fc\gamma Rs$ directly modulate innate immune signalling directly during ADE, and this phenomenon has recently been reviewed by Sprokholt and colleagues (Sprokholt, Helgers, & Geijtenbeek, 2018).

In areas where DENV is endemic, titres of cross-neutralising antibodies increase following repeated infection, and the risk of severe dengue is decreased as titres reach levels capable of efficient neutralisation (Katzelnick, 2017; Salje et al., 2018). Therefore, the risk of severe dengue is believed to be lower in tertiary and quaternary infection relative to secondary infection, as high titres of cross-neutralising antibodies eliminate the prospect of ADE, and mitigate levels of myeloid cell infection via neutralisation (Halstead, 2019; Katzelnick, 2017; Salje et al., 2018) . However, it should be noted that although high titres of neutralising antibodies have been definitively correlated with a decreased risk of severe dengue, these results do not rule out the possibility that humoral and cellular immune responses could cooperate to control DENV infection after repeat dengue exposure.

16

1.6 What causes severe dengue?

A causative agent or mechanism for severe dengue must fulfil several criteria. Firstly, the agent or mechanism must be able to directly or indirectly cause vascular permeability, as this results in the symptoms of severe dengue. Secondly, levels of a causal agent should correlate with disease severity and should be high at the onset of severe dengue, which normal occurs at days 4-6 of dengue illness. Thirdly, a causal agent or mechanism should be able to cause severe dengue during both primary and secondary DENV infection.

1.6.1 Do viral factors cause severe dengue?

Recently, it has been argued that DENV NS1 could be the causative agent for severe dengue (Halstead, 2019). As described above (section 1.4), NS1 is able to induce the production of TNF and IL-6 through ligation of TLR4 and is also able to act independently to cause vascular leak (Beatty et al., 2015; Glasner et al., 2017; Modhiran et al., 2015). Moreover, human studies have shown that higher NS1 levels were correlated with extended coagulation time (Perdomo-Celis et al., 2017), and a lower platelet nadir (Duyen et al., 2011). Therefore, NS1 fulfils the first criteria laid out above: it can cause increased vascular permeability.

It would be expected that levels of a causative agent would generally increase during secondary infection, as the rate of severe dengue is higher during secondary infection than primary infection (Katzelnick, 2017; Kenji et al., 2014). However, several groups have shown that levels of NS1 usually decline more rapidly during secondary dengue infection than primary infection (Duyen et al., 2011; Perdomo-Celis et al., 2017). Furthermore, while one study found that NS1 levels were correlated with disease severity (Libraty, Young, et al., 2002), other studies have not been able to replicate this association (Fox et al., 2011; Perdomo-Celis et al., 2017). In conclusion, NS1 has clearly been shown to stimulate inflammation and vascular leak. However, cohort studies do not support the argument that NS1 is the causative agent of severe dengue. While NS1 does not fulfil the criteria for causation, I would argue that NS1 is a potent soluble mediator that contributes to the cytokine storm that is triggered by a dysregulated host immune response, and results in severe dengue.

It has also been hypothesised that high levels of viraemia could cause or contribute to severe dengue. Several studies have observed higher viraemia in the plasma of patients with severe dengue than in dengue fever (Libraty, Endy, et al., 2002; Vaughn et al., 2000). However, other groups have reported that there is no difference in the levels of viraemia detected in the plasma of patients with dengue fever or severe dengue (Perdomo-Celis et al., 2017; Talarico et al., 2017). Furthermore, symptoms of dengue are most severe at approximately 4-6 days after fever onset, and this correlates with the time of defervescence (Halstead, 2019), when the plasma viral load is dropping or absent (Duyen et al., 2011; Fox et al., 2011). The lack of a clear correlation between viral load and severity, and the low or absent viral load during severe dengue suggest that hyper-viraemia does not cause severe dengue. n

1.6.2 Do host factors cause severe dengue?

As outlined above (section 1.5), ADE can neatly explain how the risk of DENV is elevated in secondary infections above the level of risk in primary, tertiary and quaternary infections. Theoretically, ADE could cause severe dengue by increasing the size of the infected cell mass, resulting in increased pro-inflammatory and permeability-inducing cytokine production (Halstead, 2019). However, it is still possible for naïve adults to develop severe dengue during primary infection, in the absence of ADE (Anantapreecha et al., 2005). Therefore, ADE can be ruled out as a cause of severe dengue.

The phenomenon of original antigenic sin has also been put forward as a cause of severe dengue. Original antigenic sin occurs after the immune system has developed a memory response after encountering a novel antigen, and experiences a secondary exposure to a similar antigen (Rothman, 2011). What can occur in this scenario is that the secondary adaptive immune response is directed mainly against the primary antigenic target, leading to the proliferation of B and T cell clones that are only weakly specific for the secondary antigen. In the case of dengue, this is thought to occur during secondary dengue during infection with a heterologous serotype. Specifically, original antigenic sin is hypothesised to cause severe dengue as pro-inflammatory B and T cell responses of low avidity are directed against the initially encountered serotype, and are only partially capable of neutralising the serotype responsible for secondary infection

(Rothman, 2011).

In support of the original antigenic sin hypothesis, several groups studying secondary DENV infections have reported that antibody titres are higher against non-infecting serotypes (Midgley et al., 2011; Salje et al., 2018). In addition to this, one group used tetramer staining to observe that CD8⁺ T cell responses during acute dengue infection were directed against non-infecting serotypes (Mongkolsapaya et al., 2003). However, another group observed wide-spread crossreactivity in CD8⁺ T cell responses during primary and secondary infection, with no evidence of original antigenic sin (Friberg et al., 2011). Finally, Weiskopf and colleagues used an *ex vivo* IFN- γ ELISPOT assay to examine the CD8⁺ T cell response of a Sri Lankan cohort who reside in a hyper-endemic region. They found evidence for original antigenic sin, but found that this did not affect the multifunctionality or avidity of CD8 T cells during secondary infection (D. Weiskopf et al., 2013). Therefore, there is some evidence that original antigenic sin, involving the skewing of the adaptive response to target the initially encountered DENV serotype, occurs during secondary DENV infection. However, the ability of original sin to contribute to the severity clinical dengue is not proven, and this phenomenon cannot account for cases of severe dengue during primary infection.

As there is no convincing evidence that viral antigenaemia or viraemia causes severe dengue, it can be concluded that the hyper-production of inflammatory mediators during severe dengue is mediated by a host mechanism. However, current host mechanisms that have been shown to occur during severe dengue such as ADE and original antigenic sin are not capable of explaining the occurrence of severe dengue during primary infection, and have not been shown to cause severe dengue even during secondary infection. Therefore, new host mechanisms of immune activation that are capable of causing severe dengue must be discovered and characterised.

Dysregulation of host signalling has been shown to be key to the pathogenesis of other human diseases that are characterised by hyperimmunity and cytokine storms. The cytokine storm phenotype in influenza has been shown to be positively modulated by TLR4 and sphingosine-1-phosphate signalling (Imai et al., 2008; Walsh et al., 2011), and negatively modulated by the suppressor of cytokine signalling (SOCS) 4, which is thought

19

to act by repressing epidermal growth factor signalling (Kedzierski et al., 2014). Similarly, TLR4 signalling in a human LPS-challenge model of sepsis results in a cytokine storm (Rossignol & Lynn, 2002). Furthermore, activation of the Robo4 signalling pathway during influenza and sepsis can prevent the degradation of adherens junctions, and therefore prevent cytokine-mediated vascular leakage (London et al., 2010).

Importantly, characterisation of these host pathways has allowed the development of therapeutic strategies that can control cytokine storms and reduce symptoms of influenza and sepsis in animal models. For instance, antagonism of TLR4 signalling can mitigate symptoms of influenza disease in mice (Shirey et al., 2013), and of sepsis in humans (Rossignol & Lynn, 2002). Moreover, promotion of Robo4 signalling was able to strengthen endothelial barrier function in animal models of both influenza and sepsis (London et al., 2010).

Given the established nature of host-driven cytokine storms to drive disease, and the lack of satisfactory evidence suggesting that viral factors cause severe dengue, I argue that severe dengue is a disease characterised by a dysregulation of host immune signalling. In support of this, transcriptomic studies have routinely found an upregulation of innate immune signalling and type I interferon signalling in severe dengue cases (Banerjee et al., 2017; P. Sun et al., 2013). Numerous checks and balances normally regulate immune signalling, and prevent overproduction of inflammatory mediators that could result in a poor outcome for the host. I hypothesise that dysregulated signalling in severe dengue could be caused by the loss of function of specific host factors that regulate host immune signalling.

1.7 Key signalling pathways activated during severe dengue

1.7.1 PRRs sense infection and promote antiviral signalling

During DENV infection, ssRNA is activates PRRs, which go on to activate proinflammatory signalling via associated adaptor proteins. There are three main families of PRRs that are important for detecting DENV PAMPs. Firstly, the cytoplasmic RNAhelicases RIG-I and MDA5, also known as RIG-I like receptors (RLRs), detect the 5' end of the DENV ssRNA and recruit the adaptor MAVS (Chazal et al., 2018). Secondly, endosomal Toll-like receptors (TLRs) are also important sensors of viral RNA. TLR3 is thought to detect the double-stranded RNA intermediates produced during viral replication and signals through TRIF (Nasirudeen et al., 2011) and TLR7 recognises ssRNA and signals via MyD88 (P. Sun et al., 2009). Finally, recent studies have shown that DENV infection induces the release of mitochondrial DNA, and that this induces antiviral immunity via the PRR cGAS and the adaptor STING (Aguirre et al., 2017; B. Sun et al., 2017). The result of PRR signalling is the activation of type I interferon and NF- κ B signalling; these events will be outlined below.

1.7.2 Type I interferon signalling acts to promote inflammation and control viral infection

Host cell interferon pathways, particularly type I interferon signalling, act in *cis* and *trans* to abrogate viral replication in infected cells and reduce spread of virus to uninfected cells through direct and indirect mechanisms (Platanias, 2005). Interferon regulatory factors (IRFs) are the key mediators causing transcriptional activation of numerous antiviral interferon regulated genes (ISGs) (G. N. Zhao, Jiang, & Li, 2015). IRF-3 is constitutively expressed in most cell types, whereas IRF-7 is expressed highly by plasmacytoid dendritic cells and macrophages, but at a low level by most other cell types (Marie, Durbin, & Levy, 1998; Sato et al., 1998; G. N. Zhao et al., 2015).

Upon PRR activation, IRF-3 is phosphorylated, leading to homodimerisation (Honda, Takaoka, & Taniguchi, 2006). IRF-7 is also phosphorylated and homodimerises or heterodimerises with IRF3. The dimers of phosphorylated IRF-3 and IRF-7 then relocate to the nucleus where they stimulate relatively low-level transcription of a select group of ISGs including cytokines and the interferons IFN- α 4 and IFN- β . Binding of these type I IFNs to the Interferon- α/β Receptor (IFNAR) receptor results in the phosphorylation of the receptor associated Janus Kinases (JAKs) JAK1 and Tyk2. These JAKs phosphorylate the Signal Transducer and Activator of Transcription (STAT) proteins STAT1 and STAT2. The phosphorylated STATs then form a complex with IRF-9 which is referred to as the interferon stimulated gene 3 (ISGF3) complex. The active ISGF3 complex translocates to the nucleus, and induces the transcription of a subset of ISGs (Honda et al., 2006). One of the ISGs strongly upregulated by ISGF3 is IRF-7 (Marie et al., 1998; Sato et al., 1998). Higher levels of IRF-7 strongly increase the transcription of IFN- β and multiple subtypes

of IFN- α , thereby amplifying the initial type I IFN signalling in a positive feedback loop.

In summary, in response to type I interferon signalling, the transcription of hundreds of ISGs creates an antiviral state.

1.7.3 NF-*k*B signalling results in pleiotropic responses

The NF- κ B pathway is a major regulator of cellular activation and determines whether a cell dies or survives in response to numerous external and internal cellular stresses. Viruses such as Human Immunodeficiency Virus (HIV) and Human T-Cell Leukaemia Virus Type 1 (HTLV-1) critically require host cell NF- κ B activity for a robust transcriptional permissive state to support viral replication (Bachelerie, Alcami, Arenzana-Seisdedos, & Virelizier, 1991; Z. L. Chu, Shin, Yang, DiDonato, & Ballard, 1999) . Additionally, NF- κ B promotes inflammatory cytokine responses and in some situations, counterintuitively, this inflammation can promote infectious disease pathogenesis.

There are five different NF- κ B subunits, and these can form a variety of homo- and hetero-dimers. In unstimulated cells, NF- κ B subunits are sequestered in the cytoplasm by ankyrin repeat-containing proteins such as I κ B α and I κ B β (Tran, Merika, & Thanos, 1997). During canonical NF- κ B signalling, the removal of I κ B inhibition allows the translocation of NF- κ B dimers to the nucleus (T. Liu, Zhang, Joo, & Sun, 2017). The most important NF- κ B dimers for canonical NF- κ B signalling are the p50-p65 and p50-c-Rel heterodimers (T. Liu et al., 2017).

1.8 Known DENV host restriction factors

During infection, viruses co-opt various components of the host cell machinery to promote their replication and spread. These pro-viral host components are referred to as host dependency factors, and infection of cells lacking host dependency factors results in decreased viral production. Conversely, numerous host factors impede viral replication via diverse mechanisms. These antiviral host components are referred to as host restriction factors, and infection of cells lacking host restriction factors results in increased viral production. Numerous DENV host restriction factors have been identified, and these are summarised in Table 1.4. Clearly, the type I interferon response is of the utmost importance to the control of DENV infection. Accordingly, many of the components of this pathway such as the IFNAR receptor (Shresta et al., 2004), STAT1 and STAT2 (Stuart T. Perry, Buck, Lada, Schindler, & Shresta, 2011), IRF-3, IRF-7, as well as IRF-1 and IRF-5 (Carlin et al., 2017; H.-W. Chen et al., 2013) are known host restriction factors. Underlining the importance of this pathway, many factors that are able to influence type I interferon signalling such as haeme oxygenase-1 (C. K. Tseng et al., 2016), DDX3X (G. Li, Feng, Pan, Shi, & Dai, 2015), and MIR-30E* (Zhu et al., 2014) have also been identified as host restriction factors.

Replication of the DENV ssRNA genome is clearly essential for viral replication, and therefore it is not surprising that a second broad group of host restriction factors are involved in this process. These factors include MIR-133 (Castillo et al., 2016), TRIM56 (B. Liu et al., 2014), RSAD2 (Helbig et al., 2013; Jiang et al., 2010) and IRAV (Balinsky et al., 2017).

The manner in which many host restriction factors control DENV infection is still unknown (Table 1.4), and this highlights the need for more study in this area. Moreover, none of the host restriction factors identified to date can explain the cytokine storm phenotype that underpins the symptoms of severe dengue, and this is an area that will be addressed by this thesis.

Gene	Host Restriction	Mechanism	ISG*	Reference		
Name	Factor					
DDX3X	DDX3X	Positive regulator of Type I interferon Signalling	Yes	(G. Li et al., 2015)		
FAM134B	FAM134B	Selective autophagy of endoplasmic reticulum	Yes	(Lennemann & Coyne, 2017)		
HMOX1	HO-1	Positive regulator of Type I interferon	Yes	(C. K. Tseng et al., 2016)		
MIRLET7C	Let-7c	Positive regulator of HO-1	No	(Escalera-Cueto et al., 2015)		
IFITM2	IFITM2 / IFITM3	Disruption of viral entry / uncoating	Yes	(Jiang et al., 2010)		
IFNAR1	IFNAR	Type I interferon Signalling	Yes	(Shresta et al., 2004)		
IFNGR1	IFNGR	Type II interferon Signalling	No	(Shresta et al., 2004)		
FLJ11286	IRAV	Processing of Viral RNA	Yes	(Balinsky et al., 2017)		
IRF1 / IRF3 / IRF5 /IRF7	IRF proteins (-1, -3, -5, -7)	Transcription of ISGs	Yes	(Carlin et al., 2017; HW. Chen et al., 2013)		
ISG20	ISG20	Viral protein / RNA synthesis	Yes	(Jiang et al., 2010)		
MAVS	MAVS	Type I interferon Signalling	No	(S. T. Perry, Prestwood, Lada, Benedict, & Shresta, 2009)		
МСМ3	MCM3	Unknown	No	(Hafirassou et al., 2017)		

Table 1.4 Known DENV host restriction factors

Gene	Host Restriction	Mechanism	ISG*	Reference	
Name	Factor				
MIR133A1-3	MIR-133	Indirect regulation of RNA replication	No	(Castillo et al., 2016)	
MIR223	Mir-223	Unknown	No	(N. Wu et al., 2014)	
MIR30E	MIR-30e*	Positive regulator of Type I interferon	No	(Zhu et al., 2014)	
MIR3614	miR-3614-5p	Unknown	Y	(Diosa-Toro et al., 2017)	
NOMO1	NOMO1	Unknown	No	(Hafirassou et al., 2017)	
PHB2	РНВ2	Unknown	No	(Hafirassou et al., 2017)	
PML	PML	Unknown	Yes	(Giovannoni, Damonte, & García, 2015)	
STAT1 / STAT2	STAT1 / STAT2	Interferon Signalling	Yes	(Stuart T. Perry et al., 2011)	
TNFSF10	TRAIL	Activation of extrinsic apoptosis	Yes	(Warke, R., Xhaja, K., Martin, K., Fournier, M., Shaw, S., Brizuela, N., Bosch, N., Lepointe, D., Ennis, F., Rothman, A & Bosch, 2003)	
TRIM56	TRIM56	Impairment of viral RNA replication	Yes	(B. Liu et al., 2014)	
RSAD2	RSAD2	Impairment of viral RNA replication	Yes	(Helbig et al., 2013; Jiang et al., 2010)	
YBX1	YB-1	Repression of translation	No	(Paranjape & Harris, 2007)	

* Note: the determination of whether or not individual host restriction factors are / are not ISGs was performed by consulting the literature cited in this table, or by consulting the Interferome database (accessed March 2020) (Rusinova et al., 2013).

1.9 Animal models of dengue

One of the main challenges facing the dengue research community is that there is no widely used, immunocompetent animal model of dengue disease. Here, I will describe three main types of animal model that have been used for DENV pathogenesis research. Nonhuman primates (NHPs) can develop clinical signs of haemorrhage and thrombocytopaenia when infected with high doses of DENV2 (Kwissa et al., 2014; Onlamoon et al., 2010). NHP models have been used to investigate immune responses to TLR agonists and tetravalent DENV vaccines (Sariol et al., 2007; Strouts et al., 2016).

Secondly, immunocompetent mouse models exert strong control of DENV infection. These models can develop clinical signs of dengue that are relevant to human disease such as thrombocytopaenia and haemorrhage (H.-C. Chen et al., 2007; Huang et al., 2000). However, an unnaturally large infectious dose of DENV is required to produce such signs, and some manifestations of these high-dose models, such as paraplegia, are not associated with clinical dengue (H.-C. Chen et al., 2007; Huang et al., 2000). This limits the applicability of these models to human disease.

Finally, mice with genetic knockouts of the interferon system are the most widely used animal models for dengue research. Mouse knockout models have shown that IFN- α and IFN- β play a key role in the early control of DENV infection, whereas IFN- γ works in concert with IFN- α/β to control infection at later time points (Shresta et al., 2004). However, the severe and global immunodeficiency of these models, particularly in regard to interferon signalling, limits the relevance of these models. In addition to a key role in the early antiviral response, type I interferon signalling contributes to a variety of other functions such as B-cell activation (K. Fink et al., 2006), inflammatory cell trafficking (Salazar-mather, Lewis, & Biron, 2002) and regulation of mucosal T cell responses (Giles et al., 2016).

1.10 Vaccines for the prophylactic prevention of dengue

The use of vaccines holds promise for controlling the spread of dengue infection at a population level. However, given that ADE enhances the risk of severe dengue during secondary infection (Katzelnick, 2017), vaccines must stimulate neutralising immunity

against all four serotypes simultaneously to avoid putting vaccinees at increased risk. Such vaccines are referred to as tetravalent dengue vaccines (TDVs). The only vaccine that is currently licensed for the prevention of dengue is chimeric yellow fever virus– DENV (CYD)-TDV (commercial name Dengvaxia).

Phase III clinical trials measured the ability of CYD-TDV to prevent virologically confirmed dengue (VCD) in Asian (Capeding et al., 2014) and Latin American (Villar et al., 2015) paediatric cohorts. These studies determined the efficacy, or ability of CYD-TDV to reduce cases of symptomatic VCD, to be 56.5-64.7% (Capeding et al., 2014; Villar et al., 2015). Vaccine efficacy was routinely higher in children that were seropositive at baseline (Capeding et al., 2014; Villar et al., 2015), indicating a protective effect of repeated exposure to DENV antigen. However a follow-up analysis found that CYD-TDV vaccination increased the risk of seronegative individuals (individuals with no molecular evidence of previous dengue infection) developing symptomatic VCD (Sridhar et al., 2018), especially in children under the age of 9. Due to these serious concerns, the WHO recommended in September 2018 that CYD-TDV should only be administered to individuals with evidence of previous dengue infection (World Health Organization, 2018). Other vaccine candidates are currently undergoing clinical trials (Biswal et al., 2019; Magnani et al., 2017).

1.11 Drugs that have been trialled for the treatment of dengue

At the time of writing, no drugs exist to prevent or treat dengue (Low, Gatsinger, Vasudevan, & Sampath, 2018). To date, clinical trials have been conducted to assess the therapeutic ability of seven drugs to treat symptoms of dengue. Interestingly, all of these drugs already had other applications and were repurposed to treat symptoms of dengue. The seven drugs trialled had a variety of mechanisms of action. Initially, steroid treatment was used in an attempt to manage the symptoms of dengue. Steroids are potent anti-inflammatory drugs that mainly exert their effects by targeting host cell signalling (Barnes, 2006), although some research has also shown that these drugs can stabilise the endothelial glycocalyx (Chappell et al., 2010, 2007). An early trial assessed the ability of treatment with hydrocortisone to improve the outcomes of patients diagnosed with dengue shock syndrome, but found no evidence of efficacy (Sumarmo,

Talogo, Asrin, Isnuhandojo, & Sahudi, 1982). In a second clinical trial, in which prednisolone treatment was given prior to the development of shock, there was no reduction in complications associated with DENV infection (Tam et al., 2012). Lovastatin has been reported to alter viral assembly, perhaps by reducing cholesterol synthesis or altering glycosylation (Rothwell et al., 2009). Interestingly, statin treatment has also been found to alter host signalling by reducing levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines (Tousoulis et al., 2014). However, while effective in a pre-clinical mouse model (Martinez-Gutierrez, Correa-Londoño, Castellanos, Gallego-Gómez, & Osorio, 2014), no beneficial effect was observed in a clinical trial of lovastatin, although the trial was not powered to assess efficacy (Whitehorn et al., 2016).

In contrast to steroid and statin treatments that can exert their effect via alteration of host signalling, most drugs trialled for the treatment of dengue have mechanisms that manipulate the host cell in a more direct fashion to yield their antiviral effect. Chloroquine, as a weak base, has been reported to change endosomal pH and alter the processing of flavivirus prM protein by the host enzyme furin, and to alter posttranslational glycosylation of proteins including putative viral entry receptors (Randolph, Winkler, & Stollar, 1990; Vincent et al., 2005). In addition, chloroquine treatment reduced levels of viraemia and pro-inflammatory cytokines in a non-human primate DENV2 infection model (Farias, Machado, Muniz, Imbeloni, & Da Fonseca, 2015), although chloroquine treatment did not reduce viraemia or NS1 antigenaemia in a clinical trial (Tricou et al., 2010). In a similar fashion, trials of the nucleoside analogue balapiravir failed to show efficacy in a clinical trial (N. M. Nguyen et al., 2013). Celgosivir, an α -glucosidase inhibitor, was shown to interfere with the post-translational modification of DENV proteins, resulting in misfolding of viral proteins and improper trafficking of viral NS1 (Rathore et al., 2011). Furthermore, these authors were able to show celgosivir treatment dramatically reduced mortality in a mouse model of DENV2 infection (Rathore et al., 2011). Although celgosivir treatment of patients in a phase 1b trial did not reduce fever burden or viraemia (Low et al., 2014). Unfortunately, a planned trial with a different celgosivir dosing regimen was recently withdrawn due to a lack of funding (Trial Identifier: NCT02569827). Results of a trial of ribavirin, a nucleoside-depleting agent used to treat hepatitis C virus (HCV), have not yet been reported (reviewed in (Low et al., 2018)). A recent clinical trial (2019) assessed the pharmacokinetics and pharmacokinetics of the nuclear import inhibitor ivermectin in paediatric dengue ((Trial Identifier: NCT03432442). Previously, clinical trials in 2014-2017 assessed the efficacy of ivermectin (Trial Identifier: NCT02045069) and the mast-cell stabilising agent ketotifen (Trial Identifier: NCT02673840); to the extent of my knowledge the results of these recent clinical trials are yet to be published.

In addition to repurposing existing drugs, the dengue research field has used unbiased, high-throughput screening in an attempt to identify novel antiviral compounds (De Wispelaere et al., 2016; van Cleef et al., 2013; Yang et al., 2019). However, the compounds identified in these screens are yet to progress to clinical trials.

1.12 Aims of this PhD thesis

It is apparent that viraemia or NS1 antigenaemia are not the sole contributors to severe dengue. Given that dysregulated host immune signalling causes the cytokine storms characteristic of severe influenza and sepsis, I propose that an identical mechanism underpins the cytokine storms associated with severe dengue. Furthermore, while many DENV host restriction factors have been identified, the current state of knowledge is unable to explain how changes in host immune signalling result in severe dengue. Therefore, to expand our knowledge of dengue pathogenesis, there is a need to characterise novel host restriction factors in the context of DENV infection.

Furthermore, therapies targeting host immune signalling have shown efficacy in reducing morbidity and mortality by targeting cytokine storms in preclinical models of influenza and sepsis. Therefore, it is important to see whether a similar approach can be used to control symptoms of severe dengue.

The body of work that comprises this thesis was designed to follow three lines of investigation:

1) Characterisation of novel host restriction factors that control responses to DENV infection using *in vitro* models.

2) Characterisation of novel host restriction factors that control responses to DENV infection using *in vivo* models.

3) Use of candidate therapeutics to treat *in vivo* models of dengue.

Chapter 2 - Materials and Methods

2.1 Cell culture

2.1.1 Vero Cells

For viral production, Vero cells were grown in high-glucose (4.5g/L) Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium (DMEM) (Life Technologies, USA) supplemented with 10% foetal calf serum (FCS) (Sigma-Aldrich, USA), without antibiotics. For plaque assays, Vero cells were grown in low-glucose (1g/L) DMEM (Thermofisher Scientific, USA) supplemented with 10% FCS and penicillin/streptomycin (henceforth referred to as complete DMEM). Vero cells were grown at 37°C in 5% CO₂.

2.1.2 Production of L929-conditioned media

L929 cells were grown in complete DMEM at 37°C in 5% CO₂. To produce conditioned media, cells were expanded and split into T150 flasks (Corning, USA) at 5 million cells per flask with 45mL per flask of complete DMEM. At days 6-9 after seeding, when cells sloughed off with gentle agitation, cell supernatants were pooled, clarified, and frozen in aliquots at -20°C for future use.

2.1.3 Bone Marrow Derived Macrophages (BMDMs)

The method of Weischenfeldt and Porse was used for the generation of murine BMDMs (Weischenfeldt & Porse, 2008). Briefly, mice were euthanised by cervical dislocation or CO₂ asphyxiation. Bone marrow from femurs and tibias was flushed into complete DMEM. Cells were pipetted up and down to create a single cell suspension, and this was passed through a cell strainer to remove debris. 2.4X10⁷ total cells were plated in 10cm uncoated bacteriogical petri dishes (Thermofisher, USA) in complete DMEM supplemented with 15% L929-conditioned media (henceforth referred to as complete BMDM media) at 2X10⁶ cells/mL. Three days after seeding, media was removed and plates were gently washed with PBS to remove non-adherent cells before addition of fresh complete BMDM media. At day 6 or 7 after seeding, cells were detached using a cell lifter, counted, and re-plated in complete BMDM media at 4X10⁵ cells/mL for use in downstream assays.

2.2 Virus production

All viral stocks used in these studies were originally derived from a clinical isolate of DENV2 from East Timor. The original stock of this virus was kindly provided by Professor Paul Young (University of Queensland, Australia). For the production of virus, Vero cells were grown to 90% confluence as described above. Cells were washed with PBS and infected with DENV2 at a MOI of 0.035 pfu per cell in high-glucose serum free DMEM at 37°C in 5% CO₂. Flasks were gently rocked from side to side every 15 minutes to ensure the even distribution of virus. After 90 minutes, high-glucose DMEM with 2% FCS was added to each flask, with the final concentration of FCS reaching 1.4%. Infected cells were then cultured for five days at 37°C in 5% CO₂.

At day 5 post infection, supernatants from flasks were pooled and clarified by centrifugation at 2500g for 10 minutes at 4°C. Clarified supernatants were loaded into Amicon Ultra-15 centrifugal filters (Merck Millipore, Germany), and centrifuged at 3750g for 40 minutes at 4°C. After this initial spin, retentates were pooled and kept on wet ice. Amicon columns were then reloaded, and spun for 4000g for 65 minutes at 4°C. Following this second spin, all retentates were pooled and clarified again by spinning at 2000g for 5 minutes at 4°C. Clarified, concentrated virus was then aliquoted and frozen at -80°C. Each viral batch was titrated prior to use by plaque assay.

2.3 Titration of infectious virus by plaque assay

Samples of interest were serially diluted in low-glucose (1g/L) DMEM (Thermofisher Scientific, USA) without serum. Serial dilutions were used to infect Vero cell monolayers seeded the night before into 6 well plates at 4X10⁵ cells per well. During the infection, plates were gently rocked from side to side every 15 minutes to ensure even distribution of virus. After 90 minutes, a 1:1 mixture of 2x DMEM (produced in-house) and 2% Seaplaque low melting point agarose (Lonza, Switzerland) was used to overlay the infected cells (the inoculum was not removed before this overlay was added). Infected cells were cultured for 5 days at 37°C in 5% CO₂. On Day 5, another layer of overlay containing neutral red dye (Sigma-Aldrich, USA) with a final concentration: 0.036%, was added to the wells. Neutral red accumulates in the lysosomes of living cells, therefore allowing the visualisation of plaques without additional fixation or counter-staining. On

Day 10, plaques were counted, allowing the determination of viral titre in pfu/mL.

2.4 BMDM experiments

2.4.1 In vitro blockade of type I interferon signalling

WT and IFNAR^{-/-} BMDMs were treated overnight with varying concentrations (range: 10μ g/mL to 0.1μ g/mL) of MAR1-5A3 (henceforth referred to as MAR1) IFNAR-blocking antibody (Leinco Technologies, USA) or 10μ g/mL of an IgG₁ isotype control (Leinco Technologies, USA). The next morning, BMDMs were stimulated with 100 units of recombinant murine interferon- β (PBL Assay Science, USA) for 20 minutes and lysates from these cells were probed by Western blot (see section 2.11).

2.4.2 DENV2 in vitro infection of BMDMs

BMDMs were treated overnight with MAR1 or IgG_1 isotype control. For Chapter 3 section 2.4 "MAR1 antibody treatment facilitates infection of WT BMDMs" MAR1 and isotype control antibodies were used at $1\mu g/mL$; for all other BMDM infections these antibodies were used at $2\mu g/mL$. The next day, cells were infected with DENV2 at a MOI of 1 in the presence of 5uL/mL 4G2 hybridoma supernatant (opsonising antibody; Hall Lab, University of Queensland) and MAR1 or isotype control in serum free DMEM for 90 minutes at 37°C. Following infection, media was replaced with complete BMDM media and either MAR1 or isotype control. Cells were then incubated at 37°C in 5% CO₂ for 24-48 hours before cells and or supernatants were harvested and used for downstream applications.

2.4.3 Drug treatment of BMDMs

For dose titration experiments, WT BMDMs were treated with two-fold dilutions of LCL-161 (MedChem Express, USA) or BAY 11-7082 (Sigma-Aldrich). For both drugs, the titration used was from 5μ M (highest concentration) to 0.16 μ M (lowest concentration). After 48 hours, BMDMs were prepared for flow cytometry as described below (section 2.12).

For other experiments, WT and IFNAR^{-/-} BMDMs were treated with 0.63μ M LCL-161 either 2hr prior to infection or immediately following infection. Similar experiments were also carried out using 2.5 μ M BAY 11-7082. Infections were carried out as

described in section 2.4.2. After 48 hours, BMDMs were prepared for flow cytometry (section 2.12)

2.4.4 Cell death control for BMDM flow cytometry experiments

I used apoptotic BMDMs as a positive control for my zombie aqua viability staining. To induce apoptosis, I treated WT BMDMs with $20\mu g/mL$ cycloheximide (CHX) and 100ng/mL TNF treatment of WT BMDMs for 48 hours. For staining, cells were then processed in parallel with live cells according to the protocol described in section 2.12.

2.5 Animal Ethics Statement

All mouse experiments were conducted according to the recommendations in the National Statement on Ethical Conduct in Animal Research of the National Health and Medical Research Council, and were reviewed and approved by the Walter and Eliza Hall Institute of Medical Research Animal Ethics Committee (AEC2017.016).

2.6 Mouse strains

All WT mice and gene-targeted animals were on a C57BL/6 background. Generation of SOCS3^{LysM} mice (B. A. Croker et al., 2003), P50^{-/-} mice (Sha, Liou, Tuomanen, & Baltimore, 1995), cIAP1^{-/-} mice (Gardam et al., 2011), cIAP2^{-/-} mice (Gardam et al., 2011), cIAP1^{LysM}/cIAP2^{-/-} mice (Lawlor et al., 2015; W. W. L. Wong et al., 2014), SIDT2^{-/-} mice (T. A. Nguyen et al., 2017) IFNAR^{-/-} mice (Nagarajan et al., 2008) and TRAF2^{fl/fl} mice (Grech et al., 2004), on a C57BL/6 genetic background has previously been described. TRAF2^{fl/fl} mice were crossed to LysM Cre (Clausen, Burkhardt, Reith, Renkawitz, & Förster, 1999) transgenic mice to generate TRAF2^{LysM} animals. All strains of gene-targeted mice were backcrossed to C57BL/6 mice for > 6 generations.

2.7 Genotyping

DNA was prepared from tail biopsies which were digested overnight at 55°C in DirectPCR (Tail) buffer (Viagen Biotech, USA), then heated to 85°C for 45 minutes. 1μ L of crude lysate was then used for genotyping polymerase chain reactions (PCRs). Bands were resolved by gel electrophoresis of reaction products using 1% agarose gels (Agarose powder, Bioline, UK).

Table	2.1	Genotyping	Primers
-------	-----	------------	---------

Specific For	Primer Name	Sequence (5'-3')
cIAP1 ^{fl}	Thong Forward	AGACCCTTTCTAAGTAGACTGGTT
cIAP1 ^{fl}	WT cIAP1 Rev	TTATAGAAATGTTCAGATGTC
cIAP1 ^{fl}	KO cIAP1 Rev	TCAATCCTCCATGCCACAATAAACAT
cIAP2 ^{frt}	Sandal Forward	CCCTCAGGGTGTGTGGCTTA
cIAP2 ^{frt}	WT cIAP2 Rev	TGTGCATGGCTTCTGGTCGG
cIAP2 ^{frt}	Sandal Rev	CACTGGCTGTTCTTTCAGAGA
Common Cre	Common Cre Fwd	GCTCGACCAGTTTAGTTACCC
Common Cre	Common Cre Rev	TCGCGATTATCTTCTATATCTTCAG
IFNAR KO	IFNAR Fwd	CTC CTC CCG GAC AAG ACG GG
IFNAR KO	IFNAR Rev	TGG TGC TTA TAC ACT GCA CAG TGC
IFNAR KO	IFNAR Neo	GAG GCA GCG CGG CTA TCG TG
Р50 КО	WT-50	GCAAACCTGGGAATACTTCATGTGACTAAG
Р50 КО	HH neo	AAATGTGTCAGTTTCATAGCCTGAAGAACG
Р50 КО	BS-7	ATAGGCAAGGTCAGAATGCACCAGAAGTCC
SIDT2 KO	Т2КО_5	GCGAGTGTCTGTGAATGTCC
SIDT2 KO	Т2КО_6	CCGCTGATATCTATGGTCCAAG
SIDT2 KO	T2KO_Neo3A	GCAGCGCATCGCCTTCTATC
SOCS3 ^{fl}	Olg 160	GAGTTTTCTCTGGGCGTCCTCCTAG
SOCS3 ^{fl}	Olg 161	TGGTACTCGCTTTTGGAGCTGAA
SOCS3 ^{fl}	Olg 162	GATAACTGCCGTCACTCCAACG
TRAF2 ^{fl}	TRAF2 ^{fl/fl} Fwd	CCTACAGTCAAGGCTCAGTGACAA
TRAF2 ^{fl}	TRAF2 ^{fl/fl} Rev	GCAAGCAC GTGGGGCAGAAGGTA

2.8 Mouse experiments

Mice were used between the ages of 6-16 weeks. A small exception to this was that two mice each of SOCS3^{LysM} and cIAP2^{-/-} strains, and three mice of the IFNAR^{-/-} strain, were used at ages of 16-28 weeks, and this data forms part of Chapter 4. Mice were housed under specific pathogen free conditions, with a 12-hour day/night cycle, and were provided with access to food and water *ad libitum*.

2.8.1 In vivo infections, safety and dosing

For infections, pre-titrated DENV2 stocks were thawed on wet ice and diluted in sterile PBS to obtain the concentration required for intravenous injection. All mice were infected by intravenous injection via the tail vein, using an injection volume of 100μ L.

These experiments were approved by relevant WEHI safety officers. One condition of this approval involved the collection and autoclaving of biological waste. Furthermore, to conform to the Institute dengue safety policy, the animal technicians and research staff involved in this study in circumstances where they could potentially be required to handle replication-competent virus or infected animals were required to provide written consent and to check their dengue serostatus before being cleared to participate in experiments.

For all experiments performed in Chapter 4, WT and gene-targeted animals, including IFNAR^{-/-} mice, were infected with 2X10⁷ pfu of DENV2 per mouse. For all experiments in Chapter 5, WT mice were infected as in chapter 4, but IFNAR^{-/-} mice were infected with 1X10⁵ pfu of DENV2 per mouse. The rationale for this decision is provided in Chapter 5, section 2.

2.8.2 Isolation of plasma from whole blood samples

Mouse whole blood was collected by cardiac / mandible / retro-orbital bleed into EDTAcoated tubes and stored on wet ice. Within an hour of collection, whole blood was centrifuged at 2000g for 10 minutes at 4°C and clarified plasma was aliquoted as required into 1.5mL centrifuge tubes. Centrifuge tubes containing clarified plasma were then stored at -80°C before being used for downstream cytokine and qPCR assays.

2.8.3 Monitoring of weight and temperature; ethical endpoints

For all *in vivo* experiments, weight and temperature of mice was measured daily. For weight measurements, mice were placed into a plastic beaker on a scale. Temperature was measured by rectal probe (Oakton Instruments, USA). The relevant ethical endpoint for these experiments was two consecutive readings of \geq 15% weight loss (relative to baseline) within a 24-hour period. E.g. for a mouse that weighed 20g at baseline, two consecutive readings of 17g or less within a 24-hour period would require the mouse to

be humanely euthanised. The institute animal ethics committee did not require a complete clinical score monitoring for these experiments.

2.8.4 MAR1 suppression of type I interferon signalling in vivo

With the exception of IFNAR^{-/-} positive controls, WT and gene-targeted animals were treated with MAR1 both prior to and following infection according to the dosing protocol presented in Table 2.2. Therefore, mice were treated with $500\mu g$ of MAR1, 24 hours prior to infection, and $250\mu g$ of MAR1, 2 hours prior to infection, with further doses of $250\mu g$ at 24, 48, and 72 hours post infection. MAR1 was administered by intraperitoneal injection.

For animals which were culled at 48 hours post infection, the final two doses of MAR1 were omitted (animals received $1\mu g$ / mouse).

Table 2.2 Dosing schedule of MAR1 relative to the time of infection

Timing relative to infection	-24 hours	-2 hours	+24 hours	+48 hours	+72 hours
Dosage of MAR1 (per mouse)	500µg	250µg	250µg	250µg	250µg

2.8.5 Supportive saline treatment for IFNAR^{-/-} mice

Intravenous saline is used as a supportive treatment for severe dengue (World Health Organisation, 2009). In Chapter 5, DENV2 infected IFNAR^{-/-} mice were administered supportive fluid replacement therapy by intraperitoneal injection of 1mL of sterile, 0.9% normal saline. This was performed from day 2-7 post infection.

2.8.6 LCL-161 treatment of mice

For all experiments except for the data presented as figure 5.3, mice were administered 100mg/kg LCL-161 (MedChem Express, USA) or vehicle by oral gavage. For the experimental data presented as figure 5.3 mice were instead administered 400mg/kg LCL-161 or vehicle. The vehicle was prepared by combining 0.1 M HCl with 100mM Sodium Acetate (pH 4.63) at a 3:7 ratio, to create a solution with a final pH of 4.3-4.6.

2.8.7 Ruxolitinib and tofacitinib treatment of IFNAR^{-/-} animals

For the dose titration study, vehicle (2% DMSO, 30% polyethylene glycol 300, deionised H₂O) or drug was administered to mice by oral gavage at 36 and 48 hours post infection. For "low" doses, I used 1.04mg/kg for tofacitinib and 4.16mg/kg for ruxolitinib. These are allometrically scaled from the human dosing regimens for tofacitinib and ruxolitinib of 5mg and 20mg doses, respectively, administered twice daily. The recommendations of Nair and Jacob were used for allometric scaling calculations (Nair & Jacob, 2016). For "high" doses, I used 30mg/kg for tofacitinib and 90mg/kg for ruxolitinib. Mice were humanely euthanised at 50hr post infection, and spleen lysates were prepared for western blotting (see section 2.11).

For the time-to-euthanasia study, mice were treated with vehicle, or "high" doses of ruxolitinib or tofacitinib twice daily (morning and evening) by oral gavage. Treatment was initiated the morning after mice were infected and continued until mice were humanely euthanised.

2.8.8 WEHI-112 treatment of IFNAR^{-/-} animals

Mice were treated with vehicle (2.5% DMSO in PBS) or 30mg/kg WEHI-112. Drug was administered 1x daily by intraperitoneal injection. Treatment was initiated the morning after mice were infected and continued until mice were humanely euthanised.

2.9 Preparation of RNA standard for quantitative PCR (qCPR)

A preparation of a DNA plasmid encoding a laboratory isolate of DENV2, New Guinea C strain, termed MON601 (Pryor et al., 2001), was linearised by overnight digestion with the restriction enzyme Xbal (New England Biolabs, USA). Following this, *in vitro* transcription of MON601 RNA was performed using the HiScribe T7 High Yield RNA Synthesis Kit (New England Biolabs, USA) according to the manufacturer's instructions. The RNA reaction production was purified using an RNEeasy Plus kit (Qiagen, Germany), and residual DNA was removed by a digestion with amplification grade DNAse I (Sigma-Aldrich, USA). The removal of plasmid DNA was confirmed by conducting a qPCR (see below) without reverse transcriptase, and detecting no amplification. Finally, the concentration of RNA was determined using a Qubit RNA High Sensitivity Assay kit

(Thermofisher, USA) and a Qubit Fluorometer (Thermofisher, USA) in accordance with the manufacturer's instructions.

2.10 Quantification of viral load by qPCR

A one-step reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction was used to quantify DENV2 RNA. The chemistry used was the Power Sybr Green 1-step kit (Life Technologies, USA). Samples were run in a 384-well plate format on a LightCycler II machine (Roche, Switzerland). Serial dilutions of purified MON601 RNA (see section 2.9 above) were used to construct a standard curve ($10^8 \rightarrow 10^1$ MON601 genomes per 20uL reaction). The absolute quantification mode of LightCycler II software (Roche, Switzerland) was then used to determine the number of DENV2 genomic equivalents (GE) per sample. Sadon and colleagues described the primers used for the qPCR assay; these primers amplify the DENV capsid gene (Sadon et al., 2008). Forward Primer (5'-3'): CTGCARGGACGAGGACCATT. Reverse primer (5'-3'): GGGATTGTTAGGAAACGAAGGA.

Reaction mix

Component	Volume (µL)
Forward Primer (10 μ M)	0.4
Reverse Primer (10 μ M)	0.4
2x Power Sybr Master Mix	10
Reverse Transcriptase	0.16
PCR-grade H ₂ O	5.04
Template	4
Total	20

2.11 Western blotting

BMDMs were trypsinised or scraped and washed with PBS prior to lysis. Mouse spleen sections were homogenised using a Tissue Lyser II (Qiagen, Germany). Cells were lysed in protein lysis buffer: 20mM Tris-HCl pH 7.5, 135mM NaCl, 1.5mM MgCl₂, 1mM EGTA, 1% Triton X-100 (Sigma-Aldrich, USA), 10% glycerol (Ajax Finechem, Australia), Complete

mini EDTA-free Protease Inhibitor Cocktail Tablets and PhosStop phosphatase inhibitor tablets (Roche, Switzerland) for 30 minutes on wet ice. Lysates were spun at 10,000g for 5 minutes at 4°C to pellet debris. Clarified lysates were quantified using Bio-Rad Protein Assay (Biorad, USA). 30-50µg/lane of lysate was boiled for 5 min in SDS-containing (denaturing) loading buffer (Invitrogen, USA) and separated using 4-12% Bis-Tris pre-cast gels (Thermofisher, USA). Proteins were transferred onto nitrocellulose membranes (Thermofisher, USA) using an iBlot dry transfer system (Thermofisher, USA) and detected using the primary and secondary antibodies detailed in Table 2.3. Primary and secondary antibodies were made up in 5% BSA (Bovogen Biologicals, Australia) and 0.1% Tween 20 (Sigma-Aldrich, USA) in PBS. Primary antibody incubations were performed overnight at 4°C, secondary antibody incubations were performed for 2 hours at room temperature. All incubations were performed with gentle rolling agitation. Chemiluminescence was detected by ChemiDoc (Biorad, USA).

Antigen	Clone	Dilution	Source	Conjugate	Manufacturer
STAT1	Polyclonal	1:1000	Rabbit		CST*
pSTAT1	58D6	1:1000	Rabbit		CST
STAT3	Polyclonal	1:1000	Rabbit		CST
pSTAT3	D3A7	1:1000	Rabbit		CST
cIAP1	1E1-1-10	1:500	Rat		Enzo [#]
Rabbit IgG	Polyclonal	1:5000	Goat	HRP	GE Healthcare, USA
Rat IgG	Polyclonal	1:1000	Goat	HRP	Southern Biotech ^{\$}
β -actin	13E5	1:10,000	Rabbit	HRP	CST

 Table 2.3 Antibodies used for Western Blotting

*Cell Signalling Technologies, USA; [#]Enzo Lifesciences, USA; ^{\$}Southern Biotech, USA

2.12 Flow Cytometry

2.12.1 NS1 and Zombie staining of BMDMs

Viable BMDMs were detached from untreated cell culture plates (Corning, USA) using cell lifters. Apoptotic controls were generated as described in section 2.4.4 above. BMDMs were washed with PBS prior to staining with Zombie Aqua live/dead stain (Biolegend, USA) at 1:500 in PBS for 15 minutes at room temperature. Cells were then

pelleted by centrifugation at 400g for 5 min at 4°C and washed with PBS supplemented with 2% FCS. Cells were then fixed and permeabilised using the FOXP3 Staining Kit (Thermofisher, USA) according to manufacturer's instructions. Cells were stained using 30ng/well (1:500 of a 2mg/mL solution) of mouse anti-NS1 in FOXP3 Staining Kit permeabilisation buffer for 1hr at 4°C. Cells were then washed twice with FOXP3 Staining Kit permeabilisation buffer (400g for 5 min at 4°C) and stained with a 1:500 dilution of goat anti-mouse IgG Dylight 549 in FOXP3 Staining Kit permeabilisation buffer for 30 minutes at 4°C. All flow cytometry data was collected using a Fortessa X20 analyser (Becton Dickinson, USA) and analysed using FlowJo software (Version 10, FlowJo LLC, USA). Note: for antibody details see Table 2.4.

2.12.2 Immunophenotyping by flow cytometry

PBMCs isolated from peripheral blood or spleens of animals were stained for 30 minutes at 4°C with antibodies to detect the following antigens: CD4, CD8, MHC II, CD11b, CD11c, Ly6G. Cells were acquired using a Fortessa X20 analyser (Becton Dickinson, USA) and analysed using FlowJo software (Version 10, FlowJo LLC, USA). Note: for antibody details see Table 2.4.

Defining Immune Cell Populations using Flow Cytometry

All cell populations were initially gated to remove doublets and to isolate the WBC population using forward and side scatter.

CD4⁺ T cell: CD4⁺, CD8⁻ CD8⁺ T cell: CD4⁻, CD8⁺ B Cell: CD4⁻, CD8⁻, CD19⁺ DCs: CD4⁻, CD8⁻, CD19⁻, MHC Class II⁺, CD11c⁺ Monocytes: CD4⁻, CD8⁻, CD19⁻, CD11b⁺, Ly6G^{Lo} Inflammatory Macrophages: CD4⁻, CD8⁻, CD19⁻, CD11b⁺, Ly6G^{Int} Granulocytes: CD4⁻, CD8⁻, CD19⁻, CD11b⁺, Ly6G^{Hi}

Antigen	Conjugate	Clone	Isotype	Company /
_				Source
CD4	AF700	RM4-5	Rat IgG2a, κ	BD*
CD8 <i>a</i>	BV510	53-6.7	Rat IgG2a, κ	BD
MHC Class II	BV650	M5/114.15.2	Rat IgG2b, κ	Biolegend
CD11b	FITC	M1/70	Rat IgG2b, κ	BD
CD11c	PE-Cy7	HL3	Hamster IgG ₁ , $\lambda 2$	BD
Ly6G	APC/Cy7	1A8	Rat IgG2a, κ	Biolegend
NS1	NA	4G4	Mouse IgG ₁	UQ / WEHI#
Mouse IgG	Dy549	Polyclonal	NA	Biorad

Table 2.4 Antibodies used for flow cytometry

*BD - Becton Dickinson, #UQ / WEHI – hybridoma supernatant sourced from University of Queensland, purified by the WEHI Monoclonal Antibody Facility

2.13 Multiplex immunoassays

Immunoassays were purchased from Procartaplex, a subsidiary of Thermofisher, USA. A custom panel was used to obtain the cytokine results presented in Chapter 3 and the IFNAR^{-/-} data presented as Figure 5.2. The Cytokine & Chemokine 26-Plex Mouse ProcartaPlex[™] Panel 1 (Catalogue # EPX260-26088-901), supplemented with the IFN alpha Mouse ProcartaPlex[™] Simplex Kit (EPX01A-26027-901) was used to obtain the cytokine results presented in Chapters 4 and 5 (with the exception of figure 5.2).

Assays were run to detect cytokines in BMDM supernatants or in mouse plasma according to the manufacturer's instructions. 50μ L BMDM samples were run neat, while 25μ L plasma samples were diluted two-fold using Universal Assay Buffer (Thermofisher, USA). Beads were quantified using a Bioplex 200 analyser (Biorad, USA). Specific analytes of individual samples with a bead count lower than 5 were excluded from downstream analyses.

2.14 Statistical Analysis

All statistical analyses were performed using Prism 8 (Graphpad Software, USA). The use of particular statistical tests is outlined as is relevant in the subsequent results chapters.

Chapter 3 - Characterisation of Novel DENV Host Restriction Factors Using *In Vitro* Models.

3.1 Introduction

An understanding of cell intrinsic factors that impact DENV infection would provide insight into important host molecular pathways that could be targeted prophylactically to either reduce or prevent viraemia in people who travel to endemic areas. Furthermore, an understanding of key DENV host factors could form the basis of interventions that break transmission during seasonal epidemics. This chapter describes the experiments I performed to identify such targetable pathways. My hypothesis was that some host cell signalling molecules may be required for DENV replication whilst others may impede viral turnover. Inhibiting the former and promoting the activity of the latter could result in novel prophylactic or therapeutic avenues.

Type I interferon signalling is quickly and robustly stimulated by DENV infection (Chapter 1, sections 1.4 and 1.7.2) and most known host restriction factors are components of this signalling pathway or modulate its function (Chapter 1, section 1.8). I speculated that additional host cell signalling molecules, independent of or intersecting with interferon signalling, may impact on the ability of DENV to replicate and establish infection. I focused my attention on three major host cell signalling hubs that have been implicated in host cell survival and activation, sensitivity to cytokine signalling and detection of viral PAMPS.

NF- κ B signalling has many functions during viral infection, including upregulation of proinflammatory gene transcription and promotion of cellular survival (Chapter 1, section 1.7.3). The most important NF- κ B dimers for canonical signalling are the p50-p65 and p50-c-Rel heterodimers (T. Liu et al., 2017). Generally, p65 is a transcriptional activator and p50 in many instances is a transcriptional repressor (Bohuslav et al., 1998; Udalova et al., 2000), however this is highly context dependent. The role of p50 in supporting or abrogating DENV replication has not been described.

Several cytokines, death ligands and pathogen-associated molecular patterns can activate the NF- κ B pathway through engagement of upstream cognate receptors. Signal

43

transduction through these receptors is critically dependent on a set of proteins called cellular inhibitor of apoptosis (cIAP) proteins. cIAPs are essential for the activation of canonical NF- κ B signalling and the downstream transcriptional activation of genes that drive cytokine production, cell activation and survival (Mahoney et al., 2008; Varfolomeev et al., 2008). In the absence of cIAPs, oligomerisation of death receptors and PRRs causes apoptosis (reviewed in (Lalaoui & Vaux, 2018)). Cytokine production, death ligands and apoptosis have all been implicated in aspects of DENV disease pathogenesis. Despite being a central hub in coordinating these processes, the role of cIAPs in promoting or abrogating DENV infection has not been described in the literature.

One of the major DENV PAMPs is dsRNA which activates cytosolic toll-like receptors (Chapter 1, section 1.7.1). Recent data suggests that extracellular viral dsRNA, released during the course of infection, can be internalised by uninfected cells into an endosomal compartment. A molecule called SIDT2 is capable of transporting the dsRNA out of the endosomes and into the cytoplasm to allow activation of cytoplasmic TLRs (T. A. Nguyen et al., 2017). The consequence of this TLR activation, as alluded to above, is the activation of cellular antiviral and proinflammatory responses. The role of SIDT2 in abrogating DENV infection has not been described in the literature. One of the many consequences of TLR activation and NF- κ B activation is the production of proinflammatory cytokines that act in *cis* and *trans* to promote cellular responses in infected and uninfected cells.

The SOCS family of proteins represent an important signalling hub that regulate cellular responses to cytokines. SOCS3 is transcriptionally regulated by cytokine signalling and it forms a negative feedback loop by antagonising IL-6 family cytokine signalling through inhibition of active JAKs (Babon, Varghese, & Nicola, 2014). I hypothesised that the signalling hubs, described above, could have roles in promoting or restriction DENV infection and this chapter explores their contribution in permitting viral replication *in vitro*.

44

3.2 Establishment of an *in vitro* DENV infection / replication system

3.2.1 Type I interferon is a major restriction factor for murine DENV infection

To initially characterise novel host factors that may impact DENV infection or replication I set out to establish an *in vitro* model using primary murine cells. Such a model would allow me to utilise primary cells derived from existing gene-targeted animals that are deficient in the pathways I described above. Monocytes and macrophages are the main cell type that DENV infects (Blackley et al., 2007; Pham, Langlois, & tenOever, 2012) so I chose to generate primary bone marrow derived macrophages (BMDMs) and infect these with DENV. Using such a system I could quantify the number of infected cells, examine the kinetic of viral production, assess cell viability and quantify cytokine responses. In order to enhance the level of infection that is observed during *in vitro* culture, I used the previously described ADE-facilitating anti-DENV envelope antibody 4G2 (Henchal, Gentry, McCown, & Brandt, 1982; Littaua et al., 1990).

When WT BMDMs were infected with DENV, there was only a modest increase in cell death (Figure 3.1). However, the proportion of WT cells that were infected was less than 10 % (Figure 3.1). To measure the proportion of cells that were infected, I used a flow cytometry assay to detect cells that expressed the DENV NS1. Murine cells are known to be refractory to DENV infection and this is mediated through type I interferon signalling (Shresta et al., 2004; Züst et al., 2014). I examined whether type I interferon signalling was abrogating my ability to infect primary BMDMs by comparing infection kinetics in WT cells to cells derived from gene-targeted mice that lacked IFNAR. Primary macrophages that were deficient in IFNAR were highly susceptible to DENV infection and had a modestly increased propensity to die during infection (Figure 3.1).

Interestingly, the ability of murine type I interferon signalling to restrict DENV infection is different than what is observed during human infections. In clinical cases of mild dengue fever and severe dengue, high serum levels of type I interferon are often recorded (Talarico et al., 2017; Y. Tang et al., 2010). It should however, be duly acknowledged that plasma levels of interferon during human infection are highly dynamic, and consistently high levels of type I interferon have not been identified by meta-analyses (see section 1.4). *In vitro* studies have also shed light on the effect of type I interferon treatment on human cells in the context of DENV infection. Upstream regulators of human interferon signaling such as cGAS act to restrict DENV replication by promoting interferon production (Aguirre et al., 2017), and direct pre-treatment of human HEPG2 cells with type I interferon is antiviral (Wati, Li, Burrell, & Carr, 2007). However, a growing body of evidence shows that DENV is able to cleave components of the human type I interferon signaling cascade, but not orthologous proteins from other species (Ashour et al., 2010; Stabell et al., 2018), suggesting that on balance, the type I interferon response is probably less restrictive to viral replication in human cells than in mouse cells.

Since type I interferon appears to act as a particularly potent host restriction factor in mouse, I needed to ameliorate type I interferon signaling to facilitate robust infection of my gene-targeted BMDMs that were deficient in signalling hubs not directly related to interferon. I reasoned that removal of type I interferon signalling in my *in vitro* system would allow me to dissect other important host cell signalling hubs that were made redundant in mice because of interferon responses but could be important in humans where interferon does not play such a dominant role.



Figure 3.1 | Murine type I interferon is a restriction factor precluding robust DENV infection *in vitro*. WT and IFNAR-/- BMDMs were either left uninfected (mock) or were infected with DENV2 (MOI of 1) in the presence of 4G2 enhancing antibody. Cells were harvested 48 hours after infection and analysed by flow cytometry. The proportion of cells in each quadrant are indicated. These data are representative of 2 independent experiments. The mean ± SEM for the proportion of cells in each quadrant was calculated across the 2 experiments and is indicated in the relevant region.

3.2.2 IFNAR-blocking antibody diminishes type I interferon signaling in uninfected BMDMs and permits robust DENV infection.

To assess whether an IFNAR-blocking antibody could enhance DENV infection, I cocultured cells prior and during infection with a well characterised anti-IFNAR monoclonal antibody, clone MAR1-5A3 (henceforth referred to as MAR1) (Sheehan, Dunn, Bruce, & Diamond, 2006; Sheehan, Lazear, Diamond, & Schreiber, 2015). To initially determine the effectiveness of this antibody to block IFNAR signaling, WT BMDMs were stimulated with recombinant interferon- β . This strongly induced downstream interferon signaling as evidenced by a robust induction of phosphorylated STAT1 (pSTAT1) (Figure 3.2). However, when cells had been pre-incubated with MAR1, the expression of pSTAT1 was abolished. This strong inhibition of type I interferon signaling with MAR1 replicated what was observed in IFNAR^{-/-} cells (Figure 3.2). This confirmed the notion that MAR1 may be able to enhance DENV infection in WT BMDMs. Next, I wanted to determine if MAR1 could block IFNAR signaling during *in vitro* infection with DENV.



Figure 3.2 MAR1 treatment blocks type I interferon signalling *in vitro*. WT and IFNAR⁻ ^{/-} BMDMs were cultured overnight with 10μ g/mL of an isotype control antibody or with varying amounts of MAR1 antibody (range: 10μ g/mL to 0.1μ g/mL). BMDMs were subsequently stimulated with recombinant murine interferon- β (100U/mL) or PBS control for 20 minutes and lysates from these cells were probed by Western blot. Numbers to the left of the panel represent the positions of protein size markers (in kDa). Data are representative of 3 independent experiments.

3.2.3 MAR1 treatment diminishes type I interferon signalling in DENV infected WT BMDMs

In order to determine if MAR1 antibody treatment might facilitate DENV infection in WT

BMDMs, I first needed to confirm that this treatment ameliorated IFNAR signaling during *in vitro* infection. WT and IFNAR^{-/-} BMDMs were treated with 1μ g/mL of MAR1 or isotype control overnight. BMDMs were then infected for 90 minutes in the presence of MAR1 or isotype control. Cells were harvested at 24-hour intervals and lysates were probed for pSTAT1 as a marker of type I interferon signalling. Compared to isotype control treated WT BMDMs, MAR1 treatment drastically reduced the expression of pSTAT1 one day after DENV infection (Figure 3.3). However, this effect was greatly diminished by day two post infection, with both isotype and MAR1 treated cells showing similarly pronounced levels of pSTAT1. As a negative control, there was no pSTAT1 observed in IFNAR deficient BMDMs at any timepoint during DENV infection (Figure 3.3). As I had confirmed the effectiveness of using MAR1 to block type I interferon signaling, I next wanted to determine whether MAR1 treatment could enhance the susceptibility of WT BMDMs to DENV infection.





3.2.4 MAR1 antibody treatment facilitates infection of WT BMDMs

I showed that blocking murine type I interferon via MAR1 treatment greatly ameliorates downstream IFNAR signalling, and I next wanted to determine if MAR1 treatment could facilitate the infection of WT BMDMs. MAR1 treatment enhanced the proportion of WT BMDMs infected with DENV2 at 48 hours post infection, as measured by NS1 staining (Figure 3.4). WT BMDMs treated with MAR1 had 4-fold as many infected cells as compared to isotype control treated cells. Compared to mock infected cells, infection with DENV2 induced a modest increase in cell death in WT BMDMs, as measured by Zombie Aqua staining, which has a greater affinity for dead / dying cells (Figure 3.4).

Although MAR1 greatly enhanced the proportion of infected WT BMDMs, it was still only approximately half of what was observed in IFNAR deficient cells (Figure 3.4). Approximately 80% of IFNAR^{-/-} BMDMs stained positive for NS1, regardless of whether they were pre-treated with isotype or MAR1, relative to 35% of WT BMDMs treated with MAR1. The fact that MAR1 treatment enhances the proportion of NS1-positive WT BMDMs but not to the same degree as IFNAR deficient cells is most likely due to the marginal reduction in IFNAR signaling at 48 hours (Figure 3.3). This reduction in signalling is most likely due to the homeostatic turnover of IFNAR on the surface of cells, which leads to newly synthesised IFNAR capable of ligation with type I interferons.

Given that I had developed an *in vitro* DENV infection system that augmented a robust infection in WT BMDMs, I then sought to screen a range of primary BMDMs with genetic deficiencies in different signalling pathways. This would enable me to determine which pathways promote or abrogate viral replication.



Infection (NS1)

Figure 3.4 MAR1 treatment augments WT BMDM infection *in vitro*. WT and IFNAR^{-/-} BMDMs were pre-treated with 2μ g/mL of the indicated antibodies overnight, and subsequently infected with DENV2 (MOI of 1) or mock-infected with PBS in the presence of 2μ g/mL of the indicated antibodies. Cells were cultured before staining and analysis by flow cytometry. Viability was determined using Zombie Aqua staining and infection determined by NS1 staining. These data are representative of 2 independent experiments. The mean ± SEM for the proportion of cells in each quadrant was 51
calculated across the 2 experiments and is indicated in the relevant region.

3.2.5 BMDM endpoint screening

I chose the following endpoints as relevant markers to quantify the magnitude and consequences of infection in gene-targeted BMDMs:

Endpoint	Method of Assessment
Infected Cells	NS1 FACS
Cell Death	Zombie Aqua FACS
Viral Production	Plaque assay
Cytokine Production	Multiplex ELISA

3.2.6 A note on data analysis

In this chapter, I present flow cytometry data in the form of staining for viral antigen (NS1 staining) and cell viability (zombie aqua staining). This data was collected over multiple experiments, examining multiple genotypes of genetically targeted BMDMs. This flow cytometry was then pooled to form one dataset. For statistical analysis, I have used a one-way ANOVA with the Dunnett post-hoc test for multiple comparisons to compare the mean levels of viral infection (using the surrogate marker NS1) and cell death values of each genotype of BMDMs to the mean levels of viral infection and cell death values for WT controls. For the sake of clarity, I have presented this analysis in the form of graphs comparing one individual genotype to pooled WT and IFNAR positive controls (e.g. Figure 3.5 below), as opposed to presenting the entire dataset all at once.

The same statistical approach was also taken to analyse plaque assay data (Figure 3.13) and cytokine data (Figure 3.14)

3.3 Investigating the effect of p50 genetic knockout on *in vitro* susceptibility to DENV infection

NF-κB signalling has powerful effects on diverse outcomes such as cell survival and innate immunity. The NF-κB pathway is activated by both RLR and TLRs in response to DENV infection, reviewed in (Green, Beatty, Hadjilaou, & Harris, 2014). In addition, DENV infection activates the cGAS-STING signalling axis (Aguirre et al., 2017), which can also induce NF-κB signalling (Q. Chen, Sun, & Chen, 2016). As described in the literature review, NF-κB subunits form hetero- or homo-dimers. Importantly, the different properties of the subunits can influence the transcriptional activity of the resulting dimer. The most important NF-κB dimers for canonical NF-κB signalling are the p50p65 and p50-c-Rel heterodimers, and these dimers are potent activators of transcription (T. Liu et al., 2017). p50 homodimers can bind to some κ B sites and stimulate transcription (Baek et al., 2002; Fujita, Nolan, Ghosh, & Baltimore, 1992). However, in most instances p50 acts as a transcriptional repressor (Bohuslav et al., 1998; Udalova et al., 2000). Therefore, the presence of the p50/p50 homodimer could mitigate proinflammatory NF- κ B signalling.

Several groups have examined the impact of p50 deficiency on mammalian disease *in vivo*. Interestingly, these results have indicated that p50 deficiency can result in strikingly different outcomes, depending on the nature of the pathogenic challenge. For instance, when Sha and colleagues infected p50^{-/-} mice with *L. monocytogenes*, mice were able to clear extracellular bacteria, but had a reduced ability to clear intracellular bacteria, perhaps due to an inability of infected macrophages to respond to T cell cytokines (Sha et al., 1995). p50^{-/-} mice infected with *E. coli* did not show changes in bacterial loads but succumbed earlier than controls due to acute lung injury caused by increased levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines (Mizgerd et al., 2003).

Conversely, p50 deficiency rescued animals challenged with encephalomyocarditis virus (EMCV) from mortality (Sha et al., 1995). Initially, this resistance to EMCV infection was attributed to an increase in type I interferon production from stromal cells (Sha et al., 1995). However, a subsequent study found that mice with a compound p50^{-/-} IFNAR^{-/-} deficiency were still more resistant to EMCV-induced mortality than WT mice (Schwarz

et al., 1998). Schwarz and colleagues argued that without p50, and by extension, prosurvival p65-p50 transcription, cells were unable to inhibit apoptosis. With increased apoptosis, p50^{-/-} mice had reduced viral titres, relative to WT, and were able to survive the EMCV infection (Schwarz et al., 1998).

Preliminary findings from our laboratory have also shown that p50^{-/-} mice succumb to lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus (LCMV) due to increased endothelial cell permeability, manifested as vascular leak (Cody Allison, unpublished work).

In the first instance I decided to examine the effect of p50 deficiency in DENV infection using my BMDM model. To determine the role of p50 during in vitro DENV infection, I infected p50^{-/-} BMDMs and analysed them by flow cytometry. At 48 hours post infection, the proportion of BMDMs infected was similar between WT and p50^{-/-} BMDMs (Figure 3.5). I also infected IFNAR^{-/-} BMDMs as a positive control. As p65-p50 mediated upregulation of transcription has been proposed to be important for the pro-survival function of NF- κ B (Schwarz et al., 1998), I sought to determine if p50 deficiency affected the viability of DENV infected BMDMs. There was, however, no difference in the viability of p50^{-/-} BMDMs compared to WT cells (Figure 3.6). I also co-cultured WT BMDMs with the protein synthesis inhibitor cycloheximide (CHX) and TNF, to promote cell death and act as a positive control for the assay. Although I was unable to observe any difference in the infectivity or viability in DENV infected BMDMs in the absence of p50, it's likely that the *in vitro* system is unable to recapitulate many aspects of the *in vivo* environment, especially as I hypothesise that loss of p50 could promote loss of endothelial integrity. I addressed the role of p50 during DENV infection in vivo in Chapter 4.



Figure 3.5 p50^{-/-} BMDMs do not have an enhanced susceptibility to DENV infection. Flow cytometric analysis of BMDMs, pre-treated with (A) isotype control or (B) MAR1 antibody 48 hours post infection with DENV2. Cells were stained with NS1 to determine the proportion of infected cells. Every dot represents an individual biological replicate. p50^{-/-} data is combined from 5 independent experiments. Error bars indicate the mean and SEM. Statistical analysis: ordinary one-way ANOVA followed by Dunnett's test for multiple comparisons. **** p < 0.0001.





А

Figure 3.6 Loss of p50 does not affect the viability of DENV infected BMDMs.

Cell death was quantified by flow cytometry in BMDMs that were left (A) Uninfected or were infected with (B, C) DENV2. DENV2 infected cells were either treated with (B) isotype antibody (C) MAR1. All BMDMs were harvested 48 hours after infection for analysis. Every dot represents BMDMs from an independent biological replicate. BMDMs treated with CHX and TNF were used as a positive control for the death assay. $p50^{-/-}$ data is combined from 5 independent experiments. Error bars indicate the mean \pm SEM. Statistical analysis: ordinary one-way ANOVA followed by Dunnett's test for multiple comparisons. * p < 0.05, **** p < 0.0001.

3.4 Investigating the effect of SOCS3 genetic knockout on *in vitro* DENV infection

SOCS3 is one of eight SOCS proteins that act to restrain cytokine signalling mediated by the JAK-STAT pathway. SOCS3 is induced by numerous cytokines, including G-CSF, GM-CSF, EPO, interferon- γ , leptin, IL-6, and IL-10 (Babon et al., 2014; Bjørbaek, Elmquist, Daniel Frantz, Shoelson, & Flier, 1998; Ito et al., 1999; Schneider, Chevillotte, & Rice, 2014; Starr et al., 1999). SOCS3 is essential for fetal erythropoiesis and placental formation, with full body knockout resulting in embryonic lethality (Marine et al., 1999; Roberts et al., 2002). Conditional knockout mouse models have also confirmed that SOCS3 has roles in neural leptin signalling, granulopoiesis and regulation of G-CSF and IL-6 signalling (B. A. Croker et al., 2012, 2004; Mori et al., 2004; P. K. K. Wong et al., 2006). SOCS3 functions by negatively regulating the activity of JAK proteins.

There are four mammalian JAKS: JAK1, JAK2, JAK3 and Tyk2. In a resting state, JAKs are found bound to cytokine receptors. Upon ligand binding, receptor activation leads to tyrosine phosphorylation of the cytoplasmic tail of the receptor, and subsequent phosphorylation and activation of the bound JAK molecule (Babon et al., 2014). The SH2 domain of SOCS3 allows it to recognise the phoshotyryosine residues of specific receptors such as gp130, leptin-R and G-CSFR (B. A. Croker et al., 2004; Mori et al., 2004; Nicholson et al., 2000). The KIR domain of SOCS3 allows it to bind JAK1, JAK2 and Tyk2 but not JAK3 (Babon et al., 2014). The dual interaction of SOCS3 to be confined to certain

receptors, as opposed to targeting all JAK1, JAK2 and Tyk2 signalling. The exquisite specificity of this system can be obscured by protein over-expression. For example, SOCS1 was originally described as an *in vitro* inhibitor of IL-6 signalling (Naka et al., 1997). However, subsequent characterisation of SOCS1^{-/-} cells and mice showed that SOCS1 had no effect on IL-6 signalling, and instead inhibited interferon signalling (Alexander et al., 1999; B. A. Croker et al., 2003).

In particular, SOCS3 has been shown to be a key regulator of IL-6 signalling. IL-6 signalling results in the phosphorylation of STAT3, and to a lesser extent STAT1. Administration of IL-6 to mice or macrophages deficient in SOCS3 results in an increase in the duration of STAT1 and STAT3 phosphorylation (B. A. Croker et al., 2003; Lang et al., 2003; Whitmarsh et al., 2011). However, no prolonged phosphorylation was observed when mice or cells were administered with interferon- γ or IL-10, demonstrating the specificity of SOCS3 inhibition (B. A. Croker et al., 2003; Lang et al., 2003; Whitmarsh et al., 2011).

In addition, SOCS3 can qualitatively alter IL-6 signalling. Loss of SOCS3 has been shown *in vitro* and *in vivo* to result in increased transcription of genes characteristically associated with interferon- γ signalling (B. A. Croker et al., 2003; Lang et al., 2003). Some groups have also suggested that loss of SOCS3 can result in anti-inflammatory responses to IL-6 (Whitmarsh et al., 2011; Yasukawa et al., 2003), although this view has been contested (B. a Croker et al., 2012).

As a key inhibitor of cytokine signalling, SOCS3 has an important, but complex, role in fine-tuning the host response to pathogenic infection. *In vitro* studies have demonstrated that SOCS3 is upregulated upon infection with the parasite *Toxoplasma gondii* (*T. gondii*); the DNA viruses Herpes Simplex Virus 1 (HSV-1) and Hepatitis B Virus (HBV), and the ssRNA viruses Influenza A (IAV) and DENV (Koeberlein et al., 2010; Pothlichet, Chignard, & Si-Tahar, 2008; Tsai et al., 2014; Whitmarsh et al., 2011; Yokota et al., 2004). Although some groups have argued that SOCS3 acts to inhibit type I interferon signalling during viral infection, these results are based on protein overexpression and should be regarded with caution until they can be replicated *in vivo* (D. Liu et al., 2015; Pothlichet et al., 2008; Yokota et al., 2004).

58

IL-10 is an anti-inflammatory cytokine that is an inducer of SOCS3 (Ito et al., 1999). Several studies have suggested that an IL-10-SOCS3 axis has a role in the pathogenesis of severe dengue. *in vitro* studies have shown that THP-1 monocyte cells produce IL-10 upon DENV infection, and PBMCs from severe dengue patients upregulate SOCS3 to a higher degree than dengue fever patients (Ubol, Phuklia, Kalayanarooj, & Modhiran, 2010). More convincingly, two independent meta-analyses found that elevated IL-10 is a potential prognostic marker for severe dengue (Y. H. Lee et al., 2016; Soo et al., 2017).

To determine the effect on dengue infection of potentiating cytokine signalling, I infected SOCS3 deficient macrophages in the presence of MAR1. As SOCS3^{-/-} mice are embryonic lethal, bone marrow from SOCS3^{fl/fl} LysM-Cre (SOCS3^{LysM}) mice was used to generate BMDMs. The LysM-Cre conditionally deletes targeted genes in myeloid cells such as monocytes and macrophages (Clausen et al., 1999). SOCS3^{LysM} BMDMs were treated and infected in an identical fashion as the p50^{-/-} BMDMs described above. Cells were harvested at 48 hours post infection and prepared for flow cytometry. Flow cytometric analysis of SOCS3^{LysM} BMDMs revealed that these cells did not have statistically significant differences compared to WT cells in terms of their expression of DENV NS1 (Figure 3.7). There was also no difference in the viability of SOCS3^{LysM} and WT cells in the context of infection (Figure 3.8). It is possible that a loss of SOCS3 in myeloid cells could affect the wider host immune response to DENV infection. For example, previous work has shown that the loss of SOCS3 in myeloid cells of mice infected with T. gondii can alter T cell activation and cytokine production (Whitmarsh et al., 2011). Therefore, I also examined the disease course of DENV2 infection of SOCS3^{LysM} mice, and these results are presented in Chapter 4.



Figure 3.7 SOCS3^{LysM} BMDMs do not have an enhanced susceptibility to DENV infection. Flow cytometric analysis of BMDMs, pre-treated with (A) isotype control or (B) MAR1 antibody 48 hours post infection with DENV2. Cells were stained with NS1 to determine the proportion of infected cells. Every dot represents an individual biological replicate. SOCS3 data is combined from 4 independent experiments. Error bars indicate the mean and SEM. Statistical analysis: ordinary one-way ANOVA followed by Dunnett's test for multiple comparisons. **** p < 0.0001.







MAR1



A

В

С

100

Figure 3. 8 Loss of SOCS3 does not affect the viability of DENV infected BMDMs. Cell death was quantified by flow cytometry in BMDMs that were left (A) Uninfected or were infected with (B, C) DENV2. DENV2 infected cells were either treated with (B) isotype antibody (C) MAR1. All BMDMs were harvested 48 hours after infection for analysis. Every dot represents BMDMs from an independent biological replicate. BMDMs treated with CHX and TNF were used as a positive control for the death assay. SOCS3 data is combined from 4 independent experiments. Error bars indicate the mean and SEM. Statistical analysis: ordinary one-way ANOVA followed by Dunnett's test for multiple comparisons. * p < 0.05, **** p < 0.0001.

3.5 Investigating the effect of SIDT2 genetic knockout on *in vitro* DENV infection

DENV and many other ssRNA viruses produce dsRNA intermediates during viral replication (Dansako et al., 2013; Welsch et al., 2009). These dsRNA species act as PAMPs that are recognised by various PRR families such as the RLRs and TLR3 (Kawasaki & Kawai, 2014; Yoneyama et al., 2004). PRR signalling in response to dsRNA results in activation of the transcription factors IRF3, IRF7 and NF- κ B and the upregulation of an antiviral transcription programme (Kawasaki & Kawai, 2014; Yoneyama et al., 2004). Crucially, this antiviral state can be spread to neighbouring cells by the paracrine action of type I Interferons, reviewed in (Ivashkiv & Donlin, 2014).

Recently, several groups have showed that PRR signalling can be induced in bystander cells via the uptake of dsRNA. Early research showed that the viral dsRNA analogue poly(I:C) could be taken up by clathrin-mediated endocytosis (Itoh, Watanabe, Funami, Seya, & Matsumoto, 2008). It was recently reported that extracellular HCV dsRNA could trigger TLR3 signalling and restrict HCV replication (Dansako et al., 2013). Another group found that extracellular dsRNA from ssRNA and dsDNA viruses could be trafficked from endo-lysosomes to the cytoplasm by the transmembrane protein SIDT2 (T. A. Nguyen et al., 2017). SIDT2^{-/-} mice infected with EMCV succumbed rapidly, produced more virus, and had lower serum levels of interferon- β than WT control mice. In addition, SIDT2^{-/-} cells were unable to activate RLR signalling in bystander cells, due to their inability to transport endocytosed dsRNA to the cytoplasm (T. A. Nguyen et al., 2017).

Interestingly, EMCV and DENV are both ssRNA viruses that have observable dsRNA intermediates (Weber, Wagner, Rasmussen, Hartmann, & Paludan, 2006; Welsch et al., 2009). EMCV and DENV are both also lytic viruses, and lysis of infected cells has been hypothesised to increase levels of extracellular viral dsRNA (T. A. Nguyen et al., 2017). This led me to hypothesise that SIDT2 could be a host restriction factor for DENV infection. To examine this hypothesis, I infected SIDT2^{-/-} BMDMs.

SIDT2^{-/-} BMDMs were treated and infected in an identical fashion as the p50^{-/-} BMDMs described above. In a similar fashion to p50^{-/-} and SIDT2^{-/-} BMDMs, flow cytometry analysis of SIDT2^{-/-} BMDMs revealed that these cells did not have statistically significant differences to WT cells in terms of their expression of DENV NS1 (Figure 3.9). Interestingly, Nguyen and colleagues found that SIDT2^{-/-} mouse embryonic fibroblasts (MEFs) were more susceptible to infection with HSV-1 than WT MEFs and SIDT2^{-/-} mice were also more susceptible to infection with HSV-1 and EMCV than WT controls (T. A. Nguyen et al., 2017). My result suggests that the SIDT2 channel, in my BMDM model, is not an important factor restricting DENV infection. Flow cytometry was also used to look for differences in levels of cell death between WT and SIDT2^{-/-} BMDMs. However, no differences were observed (Figure 3.10).



Figure 3.9 SIDT2^{-/-} BMDMs have a normal level of susceptibility to DENV infection relative to WT BMDMs. BMDMs were treated with isotype control (A) or MAR1 (B) and infected with DENV2 at a MOI of 1. Cells were harvested at 48 hours post infection and prepared for flow cytometry. Quantification of NS1 is shown above. Every dot represents BMDMs from an independent biological replicate. SIDT2^{-/-} data is combined from 4 independent experiments. Statistical analysis: ordinary one-way ANOVA followed by Dunnett's test for multiple comparisons. **** p < 0.0001.





DENV infection. Cell death was quantified by flow cytometry in BMDMs that were left (A) Uninfected or were infected with (B, C) DENV2. DENV2 infected cells were either treated with (B) isotype antibody (C) MAR1. All BMDMs were harvested 48 hours after infection for analysis. Every dot represents BMDMs from an independent biological replicate. WT BMDMs treated with CHX and TNF were used as a positive control for the death assay. SIDT2 data is from 4 independent experiments. Error bars indicate the mean and SEM. Statistical analysis: ordinary one-way ANOVA followed by Dunnett's test for multiple comparisons. * p < 0.05, **** p < 0.0001.

3.6 Investigating the effect of IAP deficiency on *in vitro* DENV infection

Pro-survival and pro-inflammatory NF- κ B signalling can be activated by TNF. When TNF binds to TNFR1, cIAP1 and cIAP2 and associate with the TNFR signalling complex by binding to the adaptor TRAF2 (Vince et al., 2009). The cIAPs are able to attach K11, K48 and K63 ubiquitin linkages to TRAF2 (Li X, Yang Y, & Ashwell JD., 2002), RIP1 (Bertrand et al., 2008; Dynek et al., 2010; Mahoney et al., 2008), NEMO (E. D. Tang, Wang, Xiong, & Guan, 2003) and the cIAPs themselves (Conze et al., 2005). This allows recruitment of the LUBAC complex, comprised of HOIL, HOIP and SHARPIN (Gerlach et al., 2011; Haas et al., 2009; Tokunaga et al., 2009). The attachment of linear ubiguitin chains stabilises the TNFR1 signalling complex and is required for efficient NF- κ B and JNK signalling by the complex (Haas et al., 2009). Following LUBAC recruitment, the TAK1-TAB1-TAB2 kinase and IKK complexes are able to dock to NEMO and facilitate removal of IKB inhibition via site-specific phosphorylation (reviewed in (Adhikari, Xu, & Chen, 2007)). Therefore, cIAPs play a crucial role in the transduction of canonical NF- κ B signalling. NF- κ B activation initiates the transcription of pro-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-6 and interferon- β , and the transcription of pro-survival genes such as cFLIP (Micheau, Lens, Gaide, Alevizopoulos, & Tschopp, 2001; Pahl, 1999). During DENV infection, NF-*k*B activation downstream of the PRR pathways is purported to be an important component of the anti-DENV immune response.

When cIAP proteins are absent, RIP1 cannot be ubiquitinated downstream of receptor ligation, and consequently, NF- κ B cannot be activated (Bertrand et al., 2008;

Varfolomeev et al., 2008). As NF- κ B signalling upregulates the transcription of potent anti-apoptotic factors such as cFLIP (Micheau et al., 2001), a reduction in NF- κ B signalling sensitises cells to apoptosis. Therefore, the loss of cIAPs sensitizes cells to apoptosis downstream of death receptor and TLR ligation (Lalaoui & Vaux, 2018). As described in the introduction, apoptosis appears to be active during dengue, but does not play a causal role in the pathogenesis of severe dengue (Chapter 1, section 1.4.2).

Given the key role of cIAPs in promoting NF- κ B signalling, host transcriptional activity and cell survival, I hypothesised that the lack of cIAPs would impair DENV replication and increase levels of cell death. To determine the function of cIAPs in dengue virus infection, I infected IAP deficient BMDMs in the presence of MAR1.

Flow cytometric analysis showed that there was a statistically significant increase in NS1 staining at 48 hours post infection (hpi) when cIAP2^{-/-} BMDMs were infected with DENV2 in the presence of MAR1 (Figure 3.11). The mean \pm SEM of NS1 positive cells was 27.6 \pm 4.18 percent for cIAP2^{-/-} BMDMs compared with 14.5 \pm 1.81 percent for WT BMDMs. There was no statistically significant increase in NS1 staining when cIAP2^{-/-} and WT cells were infected in the presence of isotype control (Figure 3.11). Contrastingly to the cIAP2^{-/-} MAR1 result, when cIAP1^{-/-} or c1^{LysM}/cIAP2^{-/-} BMDMs were infected in the presence of relative to WT controls (Figure 3.11).

It was surprising that cIAP1^{-/-} and cIAP2^{-/-} cells did not have the same susceptibility to DENV2 when infected in the presence of MAR1. cIAP1 and cIAP2 are both E3 ubiquitin ligases that have closely overlapping roles in control of apoptosis and TNF signalling. It has been well documented that these proteins are able to compensate for each other in the event of genetic deletion of the other (Mahoney et al., 2008; Moulin et al., 2012; J. Zhang et al., 2019). Therefore, it would be plausible to expect that any phenotype associated with lack of one cIAP would also be apparent when the other cIAP was deleted.

As described above, when the pro-survival ubiquitin ligase function of cIAPs is impaired or absent, TNF can stimulate cell death by the extrinsic apoptotic pathway. However, no differences in levels of cell death were observed relative to WT controls when cIAP1^{-/-}, cIAP2^{-/-}, or c1^{LysM}/cIAP2^{-/-} BMDMs were infected in the presence of isotype or MAR1 (see figure 3.12). It was surprising to see a lack of cell death when both cIAPs were deleted. One possible explanation was that cIAP1 was not being efficiently deleted *in vitro* by the LysM-Cre system. However, efficient deletion of cIAP1 was subsequently confirmed by western blot (Figure 3.15). My observation that there was a low level of cell death during DENV infection of IAP deficient BMDMs would make sense if no TNF was present in the system to trigger cell death. However, this would be unexpected as TNF has previously been reported to be produced by macrophages upon DENV infection (Y.-C. Chen & Wang, 2002; M. Wu et al., 2013). I determined levels of cytokine production during DENV infection of BMDMs, and these results are reported below in section 3.8.



Figure 3.11 clAP2^{-/-} BMDMs, but not clAP1^{-/-} or c1^{LysM}/clAP2^{-/-} BMDMs, are more susceptible to DENV infection than WT BMDMs. BMDMs were treated with isotype control (A) or MAR1 (B) and infected with DENV2 at a MOI of 1. Cells were harvested at 48 hours post infection and prepared for flow cytometry. Quantification of NS1 is shown above. Every dot represents BMDMs from an independent biological replicate. clAP1^{-/-} data is from 3 independent experiments. clAP2^{-/-} data is from 8 independent experiments. c1^{LysM}/clAP2^{-/-} data is from 3 independent experiments. Statistical analysis: ordinary one-way ANOVA followed by Dunnett's test for multiple comparisons. ** p < 0.01, **** p < 0.0001.



Figure 3.12 cIAP1^{-/-}, cIAP2^{-/-} and c1^{LysM}/cIAP2^{-/-} BMDMs do not have changed levels of cell death in response to DENV infection. Cell death was quantified by flow cytometry

in BMDMs that were left (A) Uninfected or were infected with (B, C) DENV2. DENV2 infected cells were either treated with (B) isotype antibody (C) MAR1. All BMDMs were harvested 48 hours after infection for analysis. Every dot represents BMDMs from an independent biological replicate. WT BMDMs co-treated with CHX and TNF were used as a positive control for the death assay. clAP1^{-/-} data is from 3 independent experiments. clAP2^{-/-} data is from 8 independent experiments. c1^{LysM}/clAP2^{-/-} data is from 8 independent experiments. Statistical analysis: ordinary one-way ANOVA followed by Dunnett's test for multiple comparisons. * p < 0.05, **** p <.0001.

3.7 Investigating the effect of IAP deficiency on *in vitro* DENV production using plaque assays

My flow cytometry results showed that cIAP2^{-/-}, but not cIAP1^{-/-} or c1^{LysM}/cIAP2^{-/-} BMDMs had increased levels of NS1 when infected in the presence of MAR1 antibody (Figure 3.11). To further investigate the effect of IAP deficiency on DENV infection, I chose to quantify the ability of IAP deficient BMDMs to produce replication-competent DENV. To do this, I took the supernatant from MAR1-treated WT and IAP deficient BMDMs at 48hr post infection and determined levels of viral production by plaque assay.

Surprisingly cIAP2^{-/-} did not produce significantly more virus than WT cells and double knockout cells produced less virus than WT cells (see figure 3.13). The log-transformed mean viral production \pm SEM, in pfu/mL, was 3.97 \pm 0.14 for cIAP2^{-/-} BMDMs; and 2.82 \pm 0.33 for c1^{LysM}/cIAP2^{-/-} BMDMs; compared with 3.7 \pm 0.15 for WT BMDMs. Supernatants from IFNAR^{-/-} positive controls produced roughly two orders of magnitude more virus (6.220 \pm 0.16) than WT BMDMs.



Figure 3.13 clAP1^{LysM}/clAP2^{-/-} BMDMs produce less virus than WT controls. Supernatants from MAR1-treated BMDM cultures at 48hr post infection were titrated by plaque assay. Every dot represents BMDMs from an independent biological replicate. BMDM supernatants were collected from three independent experiments. Statistical analysis: ordinary one-way ANOVA of log-transformed data followed by Dunnett's test for multiple comparisons. * p < 0.05, **** p < 0.0001.

3.8 Investigating the effect of IAP deficiency on cytokine production during DENV infection

During severe dengue, cytokine storms cause transient changes in endothelial permeability and subsequent haemorrhage and hypotension (Rothman, 2011). The cytokine TNF can also trigger the extrinsic pathway of apoptosis if cells have compromised pro-survival NF- κ B signalling (Mahoney et al., 2008; Varfolomeev et al., 2008). To further dissect the effect of IAP deficiency on the response to DENV infection, levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines were assessed in supernatants from uninfected BMDMs, and infected BMDMs treated with MAR1 (Figure 3.14). Levels of interferon- γ produced from uninfected and infected cells were universally low. This was expected as interferon- γ is predominantly produced by T cells and NK cells, and not by macrophages. Unexpectedly, levels of other quantified cytokines were increased in the supernatants of uninfected clAP1^{LysM}/clAP2^{-/-} BMDMs (Figure 3.14A). This was

surprising as cytokine release from naïve BMDMs has been demonstrated previously, but required the combined loss of cIAP1, cIAP2 and X-linked Inhibitor apoptosis Protein (XIAP) (W. W. L. Wong et al., 2014). Significantly more IL-1 β was detected in the supernatant of infected cIAP1^{LysM}/cIAP2^{-/-} BMDMs relative to WT, and significantly more TNF was detected in the supernatant of infected cIAP2^{-/-} BMDMs, relative to WT (Figure 3.14B).



Infected, MAR1-treated



Figure 3.14 Cytokine levels of uninfected BMDMS, and of infected, MAR1-treated BMDMs at 48 hours post infection. Levels of cytokines in the supernatants of A) uninfected and, B) infected MAR1-treated BMDMs, were assessed by multiplex immunoassay. Every dot represents supernatant taken from an independent biological replicate. WT supernatants were collected from four independent experiments; cIAP2^{-/-} and c1^{LysM}/cIAP2^{-/-} supernatants were collected from three independent experiments. Statistical analysis: ordinary one-way ANOVA of log-transformed data followed by Dunnett's test for multiple comparisons. * p < 0.05, ** p < 0.01, **** p < 0.0001.

3.9 The effect of drug-mediated NF- κ B inhibition on *in vitro* DENV infection

To summarise previous experiments briefly, NS1 results and viral production results were non-concordant. NS1 levels of cIAP2^{-/-} BMDMs were increased above baseline, although NS1 levels of double-deficient BMDMs were not statistically increased (Figure 3.11C). However, viral production of cIAP2^{-/-} BMDMs was indistinguishable to WT cells, and viral production of c1^{LysM/}cIAP2^{-/-} was reduced compared to WT cells (Figure 3.13).

Also, when I examined the ability of MAR1-treated, infected WT and IAP deficient BMDMs to produce cytokines, no clear differences were observed in patterns of cytokine production were observed, although production of individual cytokines were sometimes found to be increased (Figure 3.14B).

One possible explanation for the observed decrease in viral production from $c1^{LysM/}cIAP2^{-/-}$ could be that DENV requires a certain level of NF- κ B activity to drive viral replication. In the absence of cIAPs, NF- κ B signalling can be blunted (Mahoney et al., 2008). As one of the most important signalling pathways in mammalian cells, the NF- κ B pathway is often hijacked by viruses. For instance, the Tax protein of HTLV-1 is able to bind the IKK complex and constitutively activate NF- κ B signalling in infected T cells (Z. L. Chu et al., 1999). It is thought that this is required to maintain the transformed phenotype of HTLV-1 infected cells (Z. L. Chu et al., 1999). In addition, monocytes chronically infected with HIV show pronounced NF- κ B induction and increased activation of the HIV enhancer region (Bachelerie et al., 1991).

I previously examined the effect of NF- κ B signalling on *in vitro* DENV infection by infecting p50^{-/-} BMDMs. p50 homodimers can activate transcription in some circumstances (Baek et al., 2002; Fujita et al., 1992), but normally repress transcription (Bohuslav et al., 1998; Udalova et al., 2000). Accordingly, the hypothesis behind these experiments was that removal of transcriptional repression could result in increased transcription and apoptosis. However, I found that p50^{-/-} BMDMs had no differences in their susceptibility to DENV infection and virus induced cell death (see Figures 3.5 and 3.6). However, it is possible that some degree of genetic compensation, e.g. overexpression of other NF- κ B subunits, exists in p50^{-/-} BMDMs.

My *in vitro* c1^{LysM/}cIAP2^{-/-} plaque assay results (see Figure 3.13) suggest that cIAPs could be used by DENV to transduce NF- κ B signalling, and establish a transcriptionally active environment in the cell which is favourable for viral replication. To investigate this hypothesis, I decided to attempt to block NF- κ B signalling in BMDMs during DENV infection. I used two compounds to block NF- κ B signalling. LCL-161 is a monovalent IAP antagonist that can efficiently degrade cIAP1, and to a variable effect cIAP2 and XIAP (K. F. Chen et al., 2012; Ramakrishnan et al., 2014). As a monovalent IAP antagonist, LCL- 161 can be given orally, and has been well tolerated in clinical oncology trials at doses of up to 1200mg weekly (Chesi et al., 2016). BAY 11-7082 (henceforth referred to as "BAY") acts to potently inhibit NF- κ B signalling by blocking the degradation of I κ B molecules, therefore preventing translocation of the p50-P65 heterodimer to the nucleus (Pierce et al., 1997).

3.9.1 LCL-161 degradation of cIAP1

To confirm that LCL-161 was active in my *in vitro* system, I treated WT BMDMs with DMSO or LCL-161. I found that LCL-161 was able to potently degrade cIAP1 (Figure 3.15), as per previous reports (K. F. Chen et al., 2012; Ramakrishnan et al., 2014). A recent paper has discussed the mechanism by which LCL-161 is likely to trigger the degradation of cIAP proteins (K. F. Chen et al., 2012).



Figure 3.15 Confirmation that LCL-161 treatment potently degrades cIAP1 in BMDMs. WT BMDMs were treated with DMSO or 0.63μ M LCL-161. 60 minutes after treatment, cells were harvested and levels of cIAP1 and β -actin were determined by western blot. Data is representative of one independent experiment.

3.9.2 Determination of optimal LCL-161 dosage for in vitro experiments

To select a dose of LCL-161 that was not toxic for cells, I infected WT BMDMs with DENV2 for 90 minutes in the presence of MAR1, and treated wells with a two-fold dilution series of LCL-161 (Figure 3.16). After 48 hours, cells were harvested, stained for NS1 and zombie aqua, and analysed by flow cytometry. I selected a dose of 0.63μ M as optimal for future experiments, as concentrations higher than this resulted in high levels of cell death as quantified by zombie aqua staining. In addition, this dose was sufficient to trigger degradation of cIAP1 (see figure 3.15 above).



Figure 3.16 Selection of a working dose of LCL-161 for *in vitro* **assays.** WT BMDMs were treated with MAR1 antibody alone, or infected with DENV2 (MOI 1) in the presence of MAR1. Following infection, media was changed and more MAR1 was added. BMDMs were treated with the concentrations of LCL-161 indicated; cultures not treated with LCL-161 were treated with 1% DMSO. After 48 hours, cultures were stained for viral antigen (NS1) and cell death (zombie aqua) and analysed by flow cytometry. The concentration of drug selected for future experiments is shown by the rectangle. Results are from one independent experiment.

3.9.3 Treatment of BMDMs with LCL-161 does not reduce viral production

To determine whether LCL-161 treatment could reduce viral replication during *in vitro* DENV infection, I treated WT and IFNAR^{-/-} BMDMs with LCL-161 either "Pre" or "Post" infection and analysed them by flow cytometry. To enhance susceptibility to infection, mock and infected BMDMs were also treated with MAR1 before and following infection. There was a trend for LCL-161 to increase the susceptibility of WT BMDMs to infection, regardless of whether or not LCL-161 was applied pre- or post- infection (Figure 3.17A). However, this trend did not reach statistical significance in either case. Contrastingly, treatment of IFNAR^{-/-} BMDMs with LCL-161 either prior to or following infection did not increase levels of NS1 staining (Figure 3.17B).

Treatment of WT and IFNAR^{-/-} BMDMs with LCL-161did not increase levels of cell death, relative to a DMSO-treated WT control (Figure 3.17C and 3.17D). This finding is

consistent with the lack of cell death observed when I infected c1^{LysM/}cIAP2^{-/-} with DENV2 (Figure 3.12C).

Finally, I assessed the effect of LCL-161treatment on viral production. To determine levels of viral production, frozen supernatants collected at 48hpi from both WT and IFNAR^{-/-} BMDMs were titrated by plaque assay. The plaque assay results revealed that treatment of BMDMs with LCL-161prior to or post infection did not alter levels of virus production relative to a DMSO only control (3.17E and 3.17F). This finding was in contrast to the reduction in viral production observed when c1^{LysM/}cIAP2^{-/-} BMDMs were infected with DENV2 in the presence of MAR1 (Figure 3.13).

Overall, these results show that, although LCL-161may have some effect on production of viral NS1, production of infectious virions was unchanged. There could be several explanations for this. Firstly, although I confirmed that LCL-161potently degraded cIAP1, to date there is not a high-quality antibody that can detect mouse cIAP2 by western blot. Other groups have shown in studies of human cancer cells that the ability of LCL-161 to degrade cIAP2 *in vitro* is variable (K. F. Chen et al., 2012; Ramakrishnan et al., 2014). Therefore, I cannot rule out the possibility that NF-κB signalling is active in these cells despite LCL-161 treatment. Secondly, it is possible that c1^{LysM/}cIAP2^{-/-} BMDMs have developed a degree of genetic compensation for the lack of cIAPs, and this compensation is absent in the context of acute IAP degradation triggered by LCL-161 treatment, and this difference contributes to the different ability of these different cells to produce virus. WT

IFNAR/-



Figure 3.17 LCL-161 treatment does not alter DENV infection of BMDMs. WT and IFNAR^{-/-} BMDMs were treated with DMSO or LCL-161 for either 2hr prior to ("Pre") or immediately following "Mock" or "DENV" infection ("Post") with a MOI of 1. All BMDM cultures were also treated with MAR1. At 48hpi, cells were processed for flow cytometry. The susceptibility of WT (A) and IFNAR^{-/-} cells (B) to infection was assessed by staining for viral NS1. Measurement of zombie aqua staining by flow cytometry was used to determine levels of cell death for WT (C) and IFNAR^{-/-} (D) BMDMs. Finally, supernatants harvested at 48hpi were used to determine levels of viral production from WT (E) and IFNAR^{-/-} (F) BMDMs. Every dot represents cells (A-D) or supernatants (E and F) taken from an independent biological replicate. For A-D, n=2-5 from at least two independent experiments per condition with the exception of WT and IFNAR^{-/-} mock-infected "Pre" treated BMDMs, where n=1. For E and F, n= 3-5 and data are pooled from 1-3 independent experiments. Statistical analysis of NS1 and Zombie flow cytometry data: ordinary one-way ANOVA followed by Dunnett's test for multiple comparisons.

Statistical analysis of plaque assay data: ordinary one-way ANOVA of log-transformed data followed by Dunnett's test for multiple comparisons.

3.9.4 Determination of optimal BAY dosage for in vitro experiments

To further dissect the importance of NF-kB signalling to DENV infection *in vitro*, I performed experiments using the NF-kB inhibitor BAY. As for the *in vitro* LCL experiments described above, I infected WT BMDMs with DENV2 in the presence of MAR1 and performed a 2-fold titration of BAY (Figure 18). Cells were harvested at 48 hours post-infection, stained for NS1 and zombie, and analysed by flow cytometry. I selected a dose of 2.5μ M for usage the following experiments, as treatment of cells with 5μ M resulted in >10% of cells staining positive for zombie aqua, compared to <5% with the 2.5μ M dosage.



Figure 3.18 Selection of a working dose of BAY 11-7082 ("BAY") for *in vitro* **assays.** WT BMDMs were treated with MAR1 antibody alone, or infected with DENV2 (MOI 1) in the presence of MAR1. Following infection, media was changed and more MAR1 was added. BMDMs were treated with the concentrations of BAY indicated; cultures not treated with BAY were treated with 1% DMSO. After 48 hours, cultures were stained for viral antigen (NS1) and cell death (Zombie Aqua) and analysed by flow cytometry. The concentration of drug selected for future experiments is shown by the rectangle. Results are from one independent experiment.

3.9.5 Treatment of BMDMs with BAY does not reduce viral production

After optimising the dosage of BAY, I went on to examine the effect of this compound on susceptibility to infection, cell death and virus production. WT and IFNAR^{-/-} BMDMs were treated with 2.5 μ M BAY either 2hr prior to infection ("Pre") or immediately following ("Post") infection with DENV2 at a MOI of 1. Mock and infected BMDMs were also treated with MAR1 before and following infection. Treatment of WT BMDMs with BAY either before or after infection increased levels of NS1 staining above that of DMSOtreated controls (Figure 3.19A). Contrastingly, NS1 staining of IFNAR^{-/-} BMDMs was not altered by BAY treatment (Figure 3.19B). Interestingly, application of BAY prior to infection, but not post infection, increased levels of cell death for both WT and IFNAR^{-/-} BMDMs (Figure 3.19C-3.19D). Viral production was not altered by BAY treatment of WT or IFNAR^{-/-} BMDMs (Figure 3.19E-F).



Figure 3.19 BAY treatment increases the susceptibility of BMDMs to infection, and can increase cell death. WT and IFNAR^{-/-} BMDMs were treated with DMSO or BAY for either 2hr prior to infection ("Pre") or immediately following mock or DENV2 infection ("Post") with a MOI of 1. All BMDM cultures were also treated with MAR1. At 48hpi, cells were processed for flow cytometry. The susceptibility of WT (A) and IFNAR^{-/-} cells (B) to infection was assessed by staining for viral NS1. Measurement of zombie aqua staining by flow cytometry was used to determine levels of cell death for WT (C) and IFNAR^{-/-} (D) BMDMs. Finally, supernatants harvested at 48hpi were used to determine levels of viral production from WT (E) and IFNAR^{-/-} (F) BMDMs. Note, for all panels of this figure, DMSO control data has been re-used from Figure 16, as LCL and BAY data was collected simultaneously, but has been presented separately for the purpose of clarity. Every dot represents cells (A-D) or supernatants (E and F) taken from an independent biological For A-D, n=2-5 from at least two independent experiments per condition replicate. with the exception of WT and IFNAR^{-/-} mock-infected "Pre" treated BMDMs, where n=1. For E and F, n= 2-5 and data are pooled from 1-3 independent experiments. Statistical analysis of NS1 and Zombie flow cytometry data: ordinary one-way ANOVA followed by Dunnett's test for multiple comparisons. Statistical analysis of plaque assay data: ordinary one-way ANOVA of log-transformed data followed by Dunnett's test for multiple comparisons. * p < 0.05, ** p < 0.01, *** p < 0.001.

3.10 Discussion

Although many DENV host restriction factors have been previously identified (Chapter 1, section 1.8) the nature of the host signalling pathways that are dysregulated during severe dengue is still poorly understood. To shed light on this, an *in vitro* screen of genetically targeted BMDMs was conducted. No alterations in cell death or susceptibility to infection were observed when p50^{-/-}, SOCS3^{LysM}, or SIDT2^{-/-} BMDMs were screened. Therefore, at the level of susceptibility and cell death, these pathways did not appear to be important for cell intrinsic control of DENV infection. Because the cells of these genotypes lacked a positive phenotype during flow cytometry screening, I did not go on to screen these cells for virus production and cytokine production. However, as the *in vitro* screening work was conducted on pure cultures of BMDMs, it is entirely possible that some of these mutations could cause profound signal dysregulation *in vivo*. To this end, p50^{-/-} and SOCS3^{LysM} mice were studied using an *in vivo* model of DENV infection (see Chapter 4).

Mammalian cIAP proteins have dual, interlinked roles as transducers of NF-κB signalling and determinants of the apoptotic threshold. Removal of both cIAP1 and cIAP2 in some cell types can almost completely disrupt canonical NF-κB signalling (Mahoney et al., 2008; Varfolomeev et al., 2008). Although cIAP proteins do not directly inhibit mammalian caspases (Eckelman & Salvesen, 2006), they exert a potent anti-apoptotic effect by ubiquitinating key substrates associated with the TNFR1 complex such as TRAF2, RIP1 and the cIAPs themselves, (Bertrand et al., 2008; Li X et al., 2002; Mahoney et al., 2008; Samuel et al., 2006; Varfolomeev et al., 2008). Specifically, cIAP1 and cIAP2 play a crucial role in linking K63 ubiquitin chains to RIP1, allowing recruitment of prosurvival TAK1 and NEMO, and preventing from RIP1 assuming a pro-death adaptor function (Bertrand et al., 2008; Ea, Deng, Xia, Pineda, & Chen, 2006; Varfolomeev et al., 2008).

Given the pro-survival ubiquitin ligase function of cIAPs, it is not surprising that, in some cell types, genetic or pharmacological ablation of both cIAP1 and cIAP2 dramatically sensitises cells to TNF-mediated killing. However, previously it was shown that efficient TNF-mediated killing of BMDM cells requires deletion of the protein XIAP in addition to the deletion of cIAP1 and cIAP2 (Lawlor et al., 2015; W. W. L. Wong et al., 2014). This may explain why I did not observe substantial cell death when I infected c1^{LysM/}cIAP2^{-/-} BMDMs.

My examination of NS1 staining and viral production in IAP deficient BMDMs yielded non-concordant results. NS1 levels in cIAP2^{-/-} were increased above baseline, and NS1 levels of double-deficient BMDMs were not statistically increased. However, viral production in cIAP2^{-/-} cells was indistinguishable compared to WT cells, and viral production by c1^{LysM/}cIAP2^{-/-} was reduced compared to WT cells.

Viral production is the more informative result as NS1 expression is simply a surrogate marker of the former. Potently increased levels of NS1 staining could represent an increase in levels of defective virus, or a defect in the budding pathway that allows infectious viral particles to be liberated from the host cell. In contrast to intracellular NS1, the plaque assay is the gold standard for measuring the production of infectious, viral particles. Therefore, the decrease in the production of virus from c1^{LysM/}cIAP2^{-/-} BMDMs has direct implications for the understanding of how changes to immune signaling can contribute to dengue pathogenesis.

As outlined above, the compound genetic or pharmacological ablation of cIAP1 and cIAP2 can dramatically restrict canonical NF- κ B signalling (Mahoney et al., 2008; Varfolomeev et al., 2008). As canonical NF- κ B signalling is exploited to facilitate the replication of important human viruses such as HTLV and HIV (Bachelerie et al., 1991; Z. L. Chu et al., 1999; Faure, Lecine, Imbert, & Champion, 1996) I hypothesised that a deficiency in canonical NF- κ B signalling could be responsible for the observed reduction in DENV production from c1^{LysM/}cIAP2^{-/-} BMDMs. However, treatment of WT and IFNAR^{-/-} BMDMs with the IAP antagonist LCL-161 did not reduce the ability of these cells to

84

produce DENV (Figures 3.17E and 3.17F).

BAY 11-7082 has been shown to inhibit both NF- κ B signalling (Rauert-Wunderlich et al., 2013; Varley, 2017). However, this drug did not affect viral production in WT or IFNAR⁻ ^{/-} BMDMs (Figures 3.19E and 3.19F). The LCL-161 and BAY data could be interpreted to indicate that efficient DENV production does not require NF- κ B signalling. Alternatively, and more plausibly, the doses and protocols I used did not robustly inhibit NF- κ B signalling. To clarify this point, further experiments aiming to confirm that these pharmacological treatments are directly inhibiting NF- κ B signalling are proposed in Chapter 6.

3.11 Conclusion

I screened BMDMs to identify host restriction factors that could contribute to DENV infectivity and viral replication. I found that suppression of type I interferon signalling was necessary to establish DENV2 infection of BMDMs. cIAP1^{LysM}/cIAP2^{-/-}, but not cIAP2^{-/-} BMDMs showed a reduction in viral production, as determined by plaque assay of cell supernatants. In an effort to clarify the genetic results obtained, WT and IFNAR^{-/-} cells were treated with either the SMAC mimetic LCL-161 or the NF- κ B inhibitor BAY prior to, or following, DENV infection. Interestingly, LCL-161 or BAY did not reduce the production of DENV2 from WT or IFNAR^{-/-} BMDMs, and BAY increased NS1 staining in WT, but not IFNAR^{-/-} cells.

Chapter 4 - Characterisation of Novel DENV Host Restriction Factors Using *In Vivo* Models

4.1 Introduction

For this chapter, I sought to extend the *in vitro* work presented in chapter 3 by infecting mice deficient in key immune signalling components and examining the effects of these deficiencies *in vivo*. As for Chapter 3, I hypothesised that the hypersensitivity of DENV to murine interferon could eliminate any chance I had of observing novel phenotypes when infecting conditional or full body knockout mice.

To circumvent this problem, I hypothesised that I could use the MAR1 IFNAR blocking antibody to reduce interferon signalling *in vivo*. Research groups studying DENV and other flaviviruses have had success in increasing the susceptibility of immunocompetent mice to infection using the MAR1 IFNAR-blocking antibody (Carlin et al., 2017; Govero et al., 2016; Roth et al., 2019). The benefit of this approach is that it increases the susceptibility of mice to infection, but, as the blocking effect of the antibody is less absolute than that of a genetic knockout, avoids the global immunosuppression observed in type I interferon pathway knockout models. Furthermore, in earlier results I successfully used MAR1 to increase the infection rate of BMDMs *in vitro* (see Chapter 3). Although the partial abrogation of type I IFN signalling represents a caveat, this proposed approach may allow the identification of ancillary and cooperative host pathways that may impact clinical outcomes during DENV infection. To assess the feasibility of this approach I first examined the virological and clinical outcomes in DENV2 infected mice that were treated with MAR1 IFNAR-blocking antibody.

4.2 MAR1 antibody treatment increases the susceptibility of WT mice to DENV2 infection.

To further explore the role of p50, SOCS3 and cIAP deficiency *in vivo* I wanted to infect genetic knockout mice. However, immunocompetent mice, upon DENV challenge, clear virus quickly and do not normally show signs of disease, reviewed in (Raphaël M. Zellweger & Shresta, 2014). Type I interferon signalling appears to be a powerful restriction factor for DENV infection in mice, whereas in humans DENV infection can

proceed in the presence of high concentrations of these cytokines (see Chapter 3). Therefore, I examined whether administration of MAR1 antibody could increase the susceptibility of immunocompetent mice to DENV infection. To address this question, wild type C57BL/6 mice were treated with MAR1 or isotype control and infected with DENV2. The weight and temperature of infected mice was measured daily. Although I observed trends towards enhanced weight loss and hypothermia in MAR1 treated mice, these differences were not statistically significant (Figure 4.1A-B). MAR1 treated mice had much higher plasma viral loads, as measured by qCPR, at Day 2 post-infection (Figure 4.1C). At day 2, the log-transformed mean viral load \pm SEM, in genomic equivalents (GE)/mL, was 6.34 ± 0.10 for MAR1 treated animals compared to 3.42 ± 0.42 for isotype treated animals (viraemia was sampled at other timepoints in subsequent experiments, see Figure 4.2).




details see section 2.8.4. Mice were monitored for signs of illness; the weight (A) and temperature (B) of mice was monitored daily. Plasma viral load (C) was quantified by qPCR at day two post-infection. Each dot represents an individual mouse. Isotype: n=3; MAR1: n=6. Data was obtained from one experiment. Error bars indicate the mean ± SEM. Statistical analysis: weight and temperature datasets were analysed by multiple unpaired t-tests with the Holm-Sidak correction for multiple comparisons. Raw qPCR data was log-transformed and analysed by unpaired, two-tailed t-test. **** p < 0.0001.

4.3 An immunocompetent mouse model of DENV2 infection

Using MAR1 I was able to successfully increase the susceptibility of immunocompetent WT mice to DENV2 infection (Figure 4.1). I then proceeded to screen cohorts of mice with the following genotypes: p50^{-/-}, SOCS3^{Lysm}, cIAP2^{-/-}, and c1^{LysM}/cIAP2^{-/-} and TRAF2^{LysM}. All mice were on a C57BL/6 genetic background. For each experiment, C57BL/6 (WT) and IFNAR^{-/-} mice were included as negative and positive controls, respectively.

WT and IFNAR^{-/-} mice were infected with the same dose of DENV2. WT mice had remarkably stable weight and temperature measurements over the course of infection (Figure 4.2A, 4.2B). In contrast to WT mice, IFNAR^{-/-} quickly lost weight and developed a transient fever (Figure 4.2A, 4.2B). IFNAR^{-/-} mice reached a pre-determined ethical endpoint at Day 2 post-infection and were humanely euthanised.

IFNAR^{-/-} mice had much higher plasma viral loads at Day 2 post-infection than WT MAR1 mice (Figure 4.2C). At day 2, the log-transformed mean viral load \pm SEM, in GE/mL, was 6.10 \pm 0.07 for WT animals compared to 7.63 \pm 0.10 for IFNAR^{-/-} animals. At days 4 and 7 post-infection, only a small proportion of WT animals (31% and 25% respectively) had viral loads above the limit of detection for the qPCR assay.



Figure 4.2 | Characterisation of a novel immunocompetent mouse model of DENV2 infection. WT mice were treated with MAR1 prior and subsequent to infection with DENV2. IFNAR^{-/-} mice were included as a positive control. Mice were monitored for 89

signs of illness: weight (A) and temperature (B) were determined daily. Mice were euthanised when they reached a pre-determined ethical endpoint. Plasma viral load was quantified for surviving mice at days 2, 4 and 7 post-infection (C). For panel C, dots represent individual mice. WT: n=24; IFNAR^{-/-}: n=4. Data is pooled from 4-5 independent experiments per genotype. Error bars indicate the mean ± SEM. Statistical analysis: weight and temperature datasets were analysed by multiple unpaired t-tests with the Holm-Sidak correction for multiple comparisons. Raw qPCR data was log-transformed and analysed by one-way ANOVA with Dunnett's test for multiple comparisons. * p < 0.05, ** p < 0.01, **** p < 0.0001.

This model of DENV disease has several strengths. Firstly, during the course of human disease, viraemia is transient with peak viral loads occurring in the first few days following the onset of fever (Duyen et al., 2011; Libraty, Endy, et al., 2002). Crucially, symptoms of dengue are most severe at approximately 4-6 days after fever onset, and this correlates with the time of defervescence, when the plasma viral load is generally sharply declining (Duyen et al., 2011; Fox et al., 2011). Therefore, unlike other dengue models where virus can be detected for weeks following infection (Mota & Rico-Hesse, 2009; Shresta et al., 2004), infection of MAR1 treated immunocompetent animals results in a viraemia which more closely mimics human disease. Secondly, this model does not utilise mouse strains that have a global defect in interferon signalling. Many studies of dengue use mouse models that have either single (IFNAR^{-/-}) or compound (IFNAR^{-/-} IFNGR^{-/-}) defects in interferon signalling (reviewed in (Raphaël M. Zellweger & Shresta, 2014)). Therefore, the ability of findings to be generalised to clinical disease is somewhat limited. Although IFNAR signalling is actively being suppressed in this MAR1 model, it is clear, given the vastly different outcomes of WT mice and IFNAR^{-/-} mice, that some degree of type I interferon signalling remains intact in these animals. Finally, the viraemia achieved with this MAR1 model is not dependent on the use of mouse-adapted strains of dengue that have mutated during serial passaging and therefore are biologically distinct from human infectious virus (Atrasheuskaya, Petzelbauer, Fredeking, & Ignatyev, 2003; J.-P. Chen et al., 2006; Orozco et al., 2012).

4.3.1 A note on data analysis

Viral load data from the different genotypes (WT, IFNAR^{-/-}, p50^{-/-}, SOCS3^{Lysm}, cIAP2^{-/-}, and c1^{LysM}/cIAP2^{-/-}) was collected over multiple experiments and pooled. All qPCR values of viral loads were compared to the WT control group. As such, I have used a one-way ANOVA with the Dunnett post-hoc test for multiple comparisons (e.g., see Figure 4.2C) for the analysis of this data.

However, for reasons that were not entirely apparent, when TRAF2^{LysM} mice were infected, the Day 2 viral titre for WT mice in the experiment was considerably lower than titres recorded for other experiments. To account for this, TRAF2^{LysM} viral data was not compared to the pooled data as for other genotypes. Instead, TRAF2^{LysM} titres were compared to intra-experimental controls (Section 4.6).

4.4 Investigating the effect of p50 genetic knockout on DENV infection *in vivo*

Previously, I infected BMDMs to investigate the effect of p50 NF- κ B subunit deficiency *in vitro* (see Chapter Three). I found that p50 deficiency did not affect the susceptibility of BMDMs to DENV infection or change levels of cell death. I decided to extend my *in vitro* study of the role of p50^{-/-} in DENV pathogenesis by infecting p50^{-/-} knockout mice. The rationale for studying the effect of p50 deficiency *in vivo* was three-fold. Firstly, I hypothesised that a lack of p50-homodimers could remove transcriptional repression and promote pro-inflammatory cytokine signalling and associated pathology. Secondly, as p50-P65 and p50-cRel heterodimers are the main mediators of pro-survival canonical NF-*κ*B signalling (T. Liu et al., 2017), I hypothesised that removal of p50 could sensitise cells to undergo apoptosis upon DENV infection. To summarise the first two parts of my hypothesis: I set out to investigate whether, given the increased complexity of an *in vivo* model, a phenotype related to cytokine signalling or apoptosis might be apparent *in vivo* that was not apparent in my *in vitro* system.

Thirdly, unpublished work from our lab showed that LCMV infection of p50^{-/-} mice triggered endothelial cell permeability and vascular leak (Cody Alison, unpublished work). As one of the most dangerous outcomes of severe dengue, the pathogenesis of vascular leak is not well understood. Various host factors such as chymase, leukotrienes,

platelet activating factor and TNF (Dewi, Takasaki, & Kurane, 2004; Souza et al., 2009; St John, Rathore, Raghavan, Ng, & Abraham, 2013), in addition to viral NS1 (Modhiran et al., 2015; Puerta-Guardo, Glasner, & Harris, 2016) have been implicated in the development of vascular leak during DENV infection. Given that LCMV infection triggered vascular in p50^{-/-} mice I was interested to see whether DENV infection of p50^{-/-} mice could also result in vascular leak.

Despite a lack of phenotype in BMDM *in vitro* experiments it was eminently possible that p50 could have clinically relevant functions or contributions in other cellular compartments that would only be manifest *in vivo* and in the context of complex cellular interactions. To investigate the effect of p50 deficiency on *in vivo* I turned to the MAR1 model (described above). These mice, with a complete complement of immune cells and complete vasculature, allowed the investigation of the effect of p50 deficiency during DENV infection in a way that the study of BMDMs could not. While vascular leak was not directly examined by using Evans blue or similar techniques, animals were closely monitored to detect any serious side effects of DENV infection in this particular genetic background.

MAR1-treated p50^{-/-} mice were infected with DENV. To determine whether these mice developed disease after infection, weight and temperature was assessed daily. Although I noted divergent trends in weight and temperature relative to WT mice these differences did not reach statistical significance (Figure 4.3A and 4.3B). To assess the kinetics of viraemia WT and p50^{-/-} viral titres were determined at days 2, 4 and 7 post-infection (Figure 4.3C). No significant differences in viral load for WT and p50^{-/-} animals were observed.

If p50 deficiency was causing subtle endothelial leakage in experimental animals then it was relatively minor and did not impact disease outcomes. Further analysis of these animals would be prudent including an examination of serum cytokine production given that aberrations in cytokine signalling have been implicated in clinical disease.

92



Figure 4.3 | p50^{-/-} mice show no changes in weight, temperature or viral load when infected with DENV2. WT C57BL/6 and p50^{-/-} mice were treated with MAR1 prior and subsequent to infection with DENV2. Mice were monitored for signs of illness: weight 93

(A) and temperature (B) were determined daily. Plasma viral load was quantified at days 2, 4 and 7 post-infection (C). For panel C, dots represent individual mice. WT n=24; $p50^{-7}$ ·: n=11. WT data is pooled from 4-5 independent experiments, and is re-used from figure 2. $p50^{-7}$ data is pooled from 2 independent experiments. Error bars indicate the mean ± SEM. Statistical analysis: weight and temperature datasets were analysed by multiple unpaired t-tests with the Holm-Sidak correction for multiple comparisons. Raw qPCR data was log-transformed and analysed by one-way ANOVA with Dunnett's test for multiple comparisons.

4.5 Investigating the effect of SOCS3 conditional knockout on *in vivo* DENV infection

In Chapter Three, I showed that the loss of SOCS3 in BMDMs did not increase the susceptibility of these cells to infection or change levels of cell death in response to DENV infection. However, several groups have reported that in vitro and in vivo SOCS3^{LysM} infections can result in drastically different outcomes. For instance, Carow et al. infected SOCS3^{LysM} BMDMs with Mycobacterium tuberculosis (M. tuberculosis) and found that they did not produce more *M. tuberculosis* than WT controls (Carow et al., 2013). However, these cells produced less IL-12p40. In vivo this deficiency of IL-12 production from myeloid cells resulted in a delay in the activation of T or NK cells to produce IFN- γ , and a reduction in survival (Carow et al., 2013). A similar decrease in survival due to impaired IL-12 production, and delayed T cell activation, was observed when SOCS3^{LysM} mice were infected with *T. gondii* (Whitmarsh et al., 2011). Given the ability of SOCS3 to change the recruitment and response of the immune system to infection in vivo, I was interested to examine the role of SOCS3 in my MAR1 model of in vivo DENV infection. As full-body SOCS3 knockouts do not survive to maturity (Marine et al., 1999), and given that the primary host cells of DENV are monocytes and macrophages of the monocyte lineage, I chose to infect SOCS3^{LysM} mice.

SOCS3^{LysM} mice were treated with MAR1 and infected with DENV2. Similar to p50^{-/-} mice, I noted a divergence in in weight and temperature in SOCS3^{LysM} mice relative to WT mice, with a statistically significant, albeit transient, increase in temperature in SOCS3^{LysM} animals at day 6 post-infection (Figures 4.4A and 4.4B). When log-

transformed viral titres were compared by one-way ANOVA, there were no significant differences in titres at days 2, 4 and 7 post-infection (Figure 4.4C). Although subtle, the phenotypes of both p50 and SOCS3^{LysM} animals could be further explored to examine cytokine levels.





were monitored for signs of illness: weight (A) and temperature (B) were determined daily. Plasma viral load was quantified at days 2, 4 and 7 post-infection (C). For panel C, dots represent individual mice. WT n=24; SOCS3^{LysM -/-}: n=10. WT data is pooled from 4-5 independent experiments, and is re-used from figure 2. SOCS3^{LysM -/-} data is pooled from 2 independent experiments. Error bars indicate the mean ± SEM. Statistical analysis: weight and temperature datasets were analysed by multiple unpaired t-tests with the Holm-Sidak correction for multiple comparisons. Raw qPCR data was log-transformed and analysed by one-way ANOVA with Dunnett's test for multiple comparisons. * p < 0.05

4.6 The role of TRAF2 during *in vivo* DENV infection

One of the key proteins of the TNFR1 signalling complex (TNFR SC) is TRAF2. TRAF2 is an adaptor protein that has roles in promoting NF- κ B and JNK signalling, and in regulating apoptosis. During TNFR1 signalling, TRAF2 binds to TRADD, and is able to recruit cIAP1 and cIAP2 to the nascent TNFR SC via their BIR domains (Zheng, Kabaleeswaran, Wang, Cheng, & Wu, 2010).

Together with the cIAP proteins, TRAF2 possesses a RING domain and exhibits E3 ubiquitin ligase activity. Specifically, TRAF2 has been shown to attach K63- ubiquitin chains to RIP1, cIAP1 and cIAP2 (Vallabhapurapu et al., 2008; Wertz et al., 2004). However, whereas the ubiquitin ligase activity of the cIAPs is crucial to their role in NF- κ B signalling (Mahoney et al., 2008; Varfolomeev et al., 2008), it appears that TRAF2 enables NF- κ B signalling in an alternative manner. Early work showed that NF- κ B signalling was normal in MEFs deficient in either TRAF2^{-/-} or TRAF5^{-/-}, but defective in TRAF2/5 double knockout (DKO) MEFs (Tada et al., 2001). Further study showed that transient transfection of DKO MEFs with a RING domain-deleted form of TRAF2 (TRAF2 Δ RING) was able to rescue NF- κ B signalling (Vince et al., 2009). The dispensable nature of the TRAF2 RING domain suggests that the main role of TRAF2 during NF- κ B signalling is to act as a scaffold for cIAP recruitment. The precise activity of TRAF2 in NF- κ B signalling appears to be cell-type dependent, as it was recently reported that TRAF2 was required for normal TNF-mediated canonical NF- κ B and MAPK signalling in MEFs, fibroblasts and keratinocytes but not in macrophages (Etemadi et al., 2015). Moreover,

in vitro and ex vivo studies have also demonstrated an important role for TRAF2 in JNK signalling (S. Y. Lee et al., 1997; Tada et al., 2001; Yeh et al., 1997).

In addition to mediating NF-*k*B and JNK signalling, TRAF2 has an independent function as an inhibitor of apoptosis. Although Etemadi et al., found that TRAF2 deficient macrophages were still able to signal normally via NF- κ B and MAPK pathways, they also showed that TRAF2^{-/-} BMDMs were especially prone to apoptosis (Etemadi et al., 2015). This is in agreement with historical ex vivo studies of TRAF2 deficient thymocytes that also demonstrated an increased rate of apoptosis (S. Y. Lee et al., 1997; Yeh et al., 1997). Furthermore, full body TRAF2^{-/-} deletion *in vivo* causes a degree of embryonic lethality as homozygous null offspring from crosses are not born at the expected Mendelian ratios (Piao et al., 2011; Yeh et al., 1997). TRAF2^{-/-} offspring that survive to term are runted, and die within the first few weeks of life, at least in part due to increased apoptosis of colonic epithelial cells (Piao et al., 2011; Yeh et al., 1997). In vitro, the antiapoptotic activity of TRAF2 was shown to be dependent on proper function of the TRAF2 RING domain (Vince et al., 2009; L. Zhang, Blackwell, Shi, & Habelhah, 2010). The exact anti-apoptotic role of the TRAF2 RING domain was clarified when Gonzalvez et al. demonstrated that the TRAF2 RING domain could link K48 ubiguitin chains to caspase-8 (Gonzalvez et al., 2012). TRAF2 deficient cells had an inability to degrade caspase-8, and were therefore sensitised to death (Gonzalvez et al., 2012).

My previous *in vitro* work showed that the cIAPs, which have important roles in NF- κ B signal transduction and apoptotic control, seem to have an accessory role facilitating DENV production. Given that, in some cell types, TRAF2 has an important role in NF- κ B and JNK signal transduction, and also a distinct role in setting the cellular apoptotic threshold, I decided to investigate the effect of TRAF2 deficiency on *in vivo* DENV infection. As TRAF2^{-/-} mice are not born at mendelian ratios, and surviving pups do not survive for more than a few weeks (Yeh et al., 1997), TRAF2^{LysM} mice were used.

WT and TRAF2^{LysM} mice were treated with MAR1 and infected with DENV2 as for p50^{-/-} mice, and weight and temperature were monitored daily. TRAF2^{LysM} animals did not undergo significant changes in weight (Figure 4.5C), and temperature was normal except for a slight elevation at Day 4 post-infection (Figure 4.5B). For reasons that were not

98

entirely apparent, WT viral titres at Day 2 post-infection were lower than titres recorded for other experiments. To account for this, TRAF2^{LysM} viral data was not compared to the pooled data as for other genotypes. Instead, TRAF2^{LysM} titres were compared to intra-experimental controls (Figure 4.5C). When log-transformed WT and TRAF2^{LysM} titres were compared, there was no difference in viral load at Day 2 post-infection. However, TRAF2^{LysM} titres were significantly higher at Day 4 post-infection. This suggests that absence of TRAF2 in myeloid cells could potentiate the DENV2 infection *in vivo*. A caveat is that this data was generated from one experiment, with 3-4 animals per group. Nonetheless it is interesting to speculate that the absence of TRAF2 may abrogate TNF signalling and or NF- κ B antiviral responses and examination of cytokine responses in these animals may be informative.





monitored for signs of illness: weight (A) and temperature (B) were determined daily. Plasma viral load was quantified at days 2, 4 and 7 post-infection (C). For panel C, dots represent individual mice. WT n=3; TRAF2^{LysM -/-}: n=4. Data is from one independent experiment. Error bars indicate the mean \pm SEM. Statistical analysis: weight and temperature datasets were analysed by multiple unpaired t-tests with the Holm-Sidak correction for multiple comparisons. Raw qPCR data was log-transformed and analysed by two-tailed t test. * p < 0.05

4.7 Investigating the effect of IAP deficiency on *in vivo* DENV infection

Previously, I showed that cIAP2^{-/-} BMDMs but not c1^{LysM}/cIAP2^{-/-} BMDMs produced more NS1 when infected with DENV2 than WT controls (Chapter 3, section 3.6). Conversely, I showed that c1^{LysM}/cIAP2^{-/-} BMDMs produced less DENV2 than WT BMDMs, whereas there was no significant difference in virus production when cIAP2^{-/-} BMDMs were compared to WT controls. Degradation of IAPs prior to, or immediately following infection with the IAP antagonist LCL-161 did not affect levels of NS1 staining or virus production of WT or IFNAR^{-/-} BMDMs (Chapter 3, section 3.9.3). However, use of the NF- κ B inhibiting compound Bay 11-7082 increased NS1 staining of WT but not IFNAR^{-/-} cells (Chapter 3, section 3.9.5).

To further analyse the role of IAPs and NF- κ B signalling in DENV infection, I infected MAR1-treated cIAP2^{-/-} and c1^{LysM}/cIAP2^{-/-} mice. c1^{LysM}/cIAP2^{-/-} animals and cIAP2^{-/-} animals showed transient periods of weight loss, relative to wild type controls, at day 1 and day 4 post infection respectively (Figure 4.6A). In addition, double deficient animals showed transient increases at temperature at day 1 and 3 post infection relative to wild type controls (Figure 4.6B). When I examined the viral load of these MAR1 treated mice at day 2 post infection, double deficient animals had a decreased viral load (Figure 4.6C) just as we observed *in vitro* by plaque assay (Figure 3.13). The log-transformed mean ± SEM Day 2 viral load was 6.10 ± .07 GE/mL for WT animals, and 5.50 ± .09 GE/mL for c1^{LysM}/cIAP2^{-/-} mice. No difference was observed with WT and CIAP2^{-/-} mice, and this was again in agreement with the *in vitro* plaque assay results.

The finding that deficiency of cIAP1 and cIAP2 reduces viral production *in vitro* (see Chapter 3) and *in vivo* provides convincing evidence that NF- κ B activity, and presumably, an active transcriptional state in the cell, is required for DENV2 production. Alternatively, cIAPs may simply promote survival of infected cells to allow sufficient time for viral replication and completion of the viral lifecycle. Subsequently, the cause of this reduced viral load was further explored by flow cytometry (see section 4.8 below).



Figure 4.6 | DENV2 infection of IAP-deficient mice results in transient changes in 103

weight and temperature. c1^{LysM}/cIAP2^{-/-} mice produce less DENV2 than WT mice. WT C57BI/6, cIAP2^{-/-} and c1^{LysM}/cIAP2^{-/-} mice were treated with MAR1 prior and subsequent to infection with DENV2. Mice were monitored for signs of illness: weight (A) and temperature (B) were determined daily. Plasma viral load was quantified at days 2, 4 and 7 post-infection (C). For panel C, dots represent individual mice. WT n=24, cIAP2^{-/-} n=17, c1^{LysM}/cIAP2^{-/-} n=9. WT data is pooled from 4-5 independent experiments, and is re-used from figure 2. cIAP2^{-/-} and c1^{LysM}/cIAP2^{-/-} data is pooled from 3 and 2 independent experiments, respectively. Error bars indicate the mean ± SEM. Statistical analysis: weight and temperature datasets were analysed by multiple unpaired t-tests with the Holm-Sidak correction for multiple comparisons. Raw qPCR data was log-transformed and analysed by one-way ANOVA with Dunnett's test for multiple comparisons. * p < 0.05, ** p < 0.01, **** p < 0.0001.

4.8 Further investigation of the role of IAPs in vivo

I decided to use flow cytometry to further investigate the outcomes of DENV infection in IAP deficient mice. There were several reasons for using flow cytometry for this purpose. Firstly, it would allow me to determine if there were differences in the number of monocyte and macrophage host cells required for DENV replication. This was important to determine, as DENV titre is thought to be correlated to the size of the infected cell compartment (reviewed in (Halstead, 2019)). Secondly, given that severe dengue is driven by dysregulation of inflammatory cytokines, I wanted to quantify the size of different compartments of cytokine-producing myeloid cells. Analysis of the myeloid compartments of cIAP2^{-/-} mice at day 2 post-infection revealed that there were significantly upregulated levels of monocytes and inflammatory macrophages relative to WT controls (see Figure 4.7A and 4.7B). The upregulation of monocytes and inflammatory macrophages is attributable to DENV2 infection, and not the loss of cIAP2, as previous analysis of cIAP2^{-/-} mice did not detect any changes in the myeloid compartment (Conte et al., 2006). For details on the flow cytometry markers used to define particular immune subsets, please see section 2.12.2.

It was interesting to observe that although there was an increase in monocytes and macrophages, which serve as the primary host cells for DENV *in vivo*, there was no

difference in viral load between WT and cIAP2^{-/-} mice.

To extend this analysis further, I infected WT and c1^{LysM}/cIAP2^{-/-} mice with DENV2. At 48 hours post infection, myeloid cells were isolated from the blood and the spleen and prepared for flow cytometry. Previously, Lawlor and colleagues discovered that c1^{LysM}/cIAP2^{-/-} mice spontaneously develop arthritis (Lawlor et al., 2015). This disease was characterised by significantly increased levels of TNF, and trends toward higher levels of IL-1 β and IL-6 (Lawlor et al., 2015). In addition, c1^{LysM}/cIAP2^{-/-} mice had elevated numbers of splenic neutrophils, and a tendency towards increased numbers of splenic inflammatory monocytes (Lawlor et al., 2015). My findings cannot be exactly compared to the previous publication, as I measured levels of granulocytes and inflammatory macrophages rather than neutrophils and inflammatory monocytes. However, I found statistically elevated proportions of granulocytes in the spleen and blood (Figure 4.8A and 4.8B), and statistically elevated numbers of inflammatory macrophages in the spleen (Figure 4.8B). Surprisingly, the proportion of monocytes was significantly lower in the blood of c1^{LysM}/cIAP2^{-/-} mice than in WT controls, although no difference was observed in the spleen. In addition, there was a trend towards there being a lower proportion of dendritic cells in the blood of c1^{LysM}/cIAP2^{-/-} mice relative to WT controls, although this did not reach statistical significance (Figure 4.8A).

Overall, my results suggest that upon DENV2 infection, there is a degree of upregulation of the monocyte and inflammatory macrophage compartments of cIAP2^{-/-} animals. However, in c1^{LysM}/cIAP2^{-/-} animals, the proportion of monocytes is sharply lowered relative to controls, and a trend is also present for a decrease in the proportion of dendritic cells in these gene-targeted mice a caveat with this data is that the reduction may just represent redistribution of cells rather than an absolute decrease in numbers. More comprehensive necropsies would be required to exclude this.



Figure 4.7 | Quantification of myeloid cell populations in WT and cIAP2^{-/-} mice. WT and

cIAP2^{-/-} mice were treated with MAR1 prior and subsequent to DENV2 infection. At Day 2 post infection mice were euthanised and flow cytometry was used to quantify the myeloid cell populations in the spleen and peripheral blood. Each dot represents an individual animal. n=4 animals per group, data are from one independent experiment. For the spleen, total numbers of cells were determined by multiplying total leukocyte counts with the percentages of myeloid cell subsets determined by flow cytometry. Statistical analysis: groups were compared by unpaired, two-tailed t-test. Error bars indicate the mean ± SEM. * p < 0.05, ** p < 0.01.



Figure 4.8 | Quantification of myeloid cell populations in WT and c1^{LysM} / cIAP2^{-/-} mice.

WT and c1^{LysM} / cIAP2^{-/-} mice were treated with MAR1 prior and subsequent to DENV2 infection. At Day 2 post infection mice were euthanised and flow cytometry was used to quantify the myeloid cell populations in the spleen and peripheral blood. Each dot represents an individual animal. n=4 animals per group, data are from one independent experiment. For the spleen, total numbers of cells were determined by multiplying total leukocyte counts with the percentages of myeloid cell subsets determined by flow cytometry. Statistical analysis: groups were compared by unpaired, two-tailed t-test. Error bars indicate the mean ± SEM. * p < 0.05, ** p < 0.01, *** p < 0.001.

4.9 The cytokine response to DENV infection in MAR1 treated WT mice

As the pathologic symptoms of dengue are largely driven by a cytokine storm phenotype, I characterised the cytokine response in WT mice. This was an important piece of model characterisation in the sense that this WT dataset could act as a baseline, that would subsequently allow me to determine whether different genetically-targeted animals developed a more pronounced cytokine storm phenotype in response to DENV infection. To assess the cytokine response to DENV2 infection in my model, I took plasma from WT animals prior to infection (note: naïve animals were not MAR1 treated), and from MAR1-treated WT animals at days 2 and 4 post-infection. Levels of 27 cytokines were quantified by a commercial multiplex immunoassay. Longitudinal profiling over the course of infection for each of these cytokines is presented below (Figure 4.9A-B), and a summary of statistical differences relative to baseline levels (figure 4.9C).

At day 2 post infection, IFN- α and the pro-inflammatory chemokines IP-10 and RANTES were upregulated. Surprisingly, the Th1 cytokine IL-2 was significantly downregulated, although this result was transient and not seen when day 4 values were compared to naïve controls.

At day 4 post-infection, a broader pro-inflammatory cytokine response was observed. Mean concentrations of IP-10 and RANTES increased, while the concentration of IFN- α remained approximately constant. The other cytokines that were upregulated, relative to baseline, at day 4 post infection were: the hallmark Th1 cytokine IFN- γ ; the pro-inflammatory cytokines IL-18 and TNF; and the chemokines Gro-alpha, MCP-1, MCP-3 109 and MIP-1 β . Therefore, the overall state of the cytokine milieu at day 4 post infection is strongly reflective of an acute anti-inflammatory response. IFN- α , TNF, Gro-alpha, MCP-1, MCP-3 and MIP-1 β , RANTES and IP-10 are released by innate immune cells such mast cells and macrophages (Ivashkiv & Donlin, 2014; Sokol & Luster, 2015), and therefore it could be these cells that are driving the innate immune response in this model. There was no statistically significant increase in the concentration of the Th2 cytokines IL-4, IL-5 or IL-13, or the Th17 cytokine Th17.

As described in the introduction, characterisation of the cytokine storm that occurs during severe dengue has been difficult. This difficulty has been due to several factors, including heterogeneity in the reporting and sample collection practises of different groups, and differences between different human host populations and viral serotypes (Y. H. Lee et al., 2016; Soo et al., 2017). Therefore, the only cytokines that have been shown to be consistently upregulated in severe dengue, according to meta-analysis, have been IL-8, IL-10, IL-18, while RANTES, IL-7, TGF- β and VEGFR2 are consistently down-regulated (Y. H. Lee et al., 2016; Soo et al., 2016; Soo et al., 2017).

In this model I found that IL-18 was upregulated at day 4 post-infection, which is in agreement with meta-analysis results (Figure 4.9A) (Soo et al., 2017). While there is no direct mouse orthologue for human IL-8, mouse KC and MIP-2 belong to the same chemokine cluster, and have similar roles in neutrophil chemotaxis (Hol, Wilhelmsen, & Haraldsen, 2010). I found that Gro- α / KC was significantly upregulated at day 4 post-infection (Figure 4.9A), while there was no significant upregulation of MIP-2. IL-10 has been repeatedly and consistently shown to be upregulated in severe dengue (Y. H. Lee et al., 2016; Soo et al., 2017), however, I did not find evidence that this was upregulated during infection in my model (Figure 4.9A). Interestingly, I found that RANTES was upregulated at both day 2 and day 4 post-infection, whereas meta-analysis has shown that RANTES is downregulated during severe dengue in humans.







Figure 4.9 | Statistical differences in plasma cytokine levels of DENV2-infected WT mice, relative to naïve WT controls. Plasma was isolated from naïve animals or MAR1-treated, DENV2 infected animals at day 2 and day 4 post-infection. Cytokine levels were determined by multiplex bead array. Cytokines are graphed in alphabetical order, accordingly A) depicts results for Eotaxin through to IL-17A; B) depicts results for IL-18 through to TNF. Error bars indicate the mean \pm SEM. Data is representative of 3-13 animals per group. Plasma samples for "Day 2" and "Day 4" were obtained from 3 independent experiments. The mean values for Day 2 and Day 4 data were compared to the mean of the naïve group by one-way ANOVA, using Dunnett's post-hoc test. * p < 0.05, ** p < 0.01, *** p < 0.001. C) this heatmap summarises statistical differences when Day 2 and Day 4 samples were compared to naïve samples. "0" = ns, "1" p < 0.05, "2" p < 0.01, "3" p < 0.001, "4" p < 0.0001. Negative values indicate that levels of the

cytokine are downregulated relative to naive controls.

4.10 The cytokine response to DENV infection in MAR1 treated genetargeted mice

After the characterisation of the cytokine response to DENV2 infection in MAR1-treated WT animals, I compared cytokine data from MAR1-treated gene-targeted animals to the equivalent data from WT controls. For naïve controls, bleeds were obtained from animals that had not been treated with MAR1. Ordinary one-way ANOVA with Dunnett's post-hoc test for multiple comparisons was used to determine cytokines that were statistically up- or down-regulated in gene-targeted animals compared to WT controls. In a similar fashion to the summary of the WT cytokine data, I have used heatmaps to graph the degree of statistical difference between gene-targeted and WT animals for each group. For example, SOCS3^{LysM} results at Day 2 post infection are compared to WT results at Day 2 post infection (Figure 4.10A-B). Unfortunately, naïve SOCS3^{LysM} plasma and TRAF2^{LysM} plasma from Day 4 post-infection was not available for this cytokine analysis, and hence these columns are missing from Figure 4.10.

4.10.1 The cytokine response of p50^{-/-} mice to DENV2 infection

There were no significant differences in the levels of surveyed cytokines between naïve WT and p50^{-/-} animals. At Day 2 post-infection, levels of IFN- α , MCP-1 and MCP-3 were downregulated in p50^{-/-} vs WT animals. There is no clear explanation for the decrease of type I interferon in the p50^{-/-} animals. *In vitro*, one group has reported that p50^{-/-} MEFS produced increased IFN- β mRNA relative to WT controls, consistent with a role for p50 homodimers as repressors of IFN- β expression (Gough, Messina, Clarke, Johnstone, & Levy, 2012; Sha et al., 1995). *In vivo*, as previously mentioned , p50 deficiency seems to confer a degree of resistance to infection with EMCV, ostensibly due to a decreased apoptotic threshold reducing the ability of the virus to replicate (Schwarz et al., 1998; Sha et al., 1995). To the extent of my knowledge, no groups have measured levels of type I interferon in a p50^{-/-} murine model to date.

MCP-1 and MCP-3 have been reported to be ISGs (de Veer et al., 2001). In addition, an NF- κ B site, along with SP1 and AP1 sites, has been reported to control expression of MCP-1, while overexpression of I κ Ba was able to significantly reduce production of MCP-

1 and MCP-3 following LPS stimulation of human monocyte-derived macrophages (Ciesielski, Andreakos, Foxwell, & Feldmann, 2002; Lim & Garzino-Demo, 2000). This suggests that the reduced expression of MCP-1 and MCP-3 could be due to a combination of firstly, reduced levels of type I interferon; and secondly, changes in NF- κ B activity in these p50 deficient animals in response to DENV2 infection.

4.10.2 The cytokine response of SOCS3^{LysM} mice to DENV2 infection

Deletion of SOCS3 in the myeloid compartment did not lead to significant increases in production of the cytokines examined, with the exception being an upregulation of MCP-1 at Day 2 post-infection. Perhaps this lack of cytokine dysregulation was to be expected, as SOCS3 deficiency, at least in the case of IL-6 signalling, has been shown to qualitatively alter the responses to gp130 cytokine signalling rather than altering cytokine production *per se* (B. A. Croker et al., 2012). Previously, a group was able to reduce production of MCP-1 in response to LPS treatment *in vitro* by treating cells with a cell-permeable version of SOCS3 (Jo, Liu, Yao, Collins, & Hawiger, 2005). Therefore, it is not entirely surprising that plasma levels of MCP-1 should be increased during DENV infection of SOCS3^{LysM} mice.

4.10.3 The cytokine response of TRAF2^{LysM} and IAP deficient mice to DENV2 infection

The cIAPs and TRAF2 play key roles in the transduction of NF-kB signalling and the control of cell survival. However, I found that patterns of cytokine expression in DENV-infected c1^{LysM}/cIAP2^{-/-} mice and TRAF2^{LysM} mice were quite different. When naïve bleeds plasma from c1^{LysM}/cIAP2^{-/-} and WT animals were compared, it was evident that c1^{LysM}/cIAP2^{-/-} mice had a broad pro-inflammatory phenotype, with upregulation of pro-inflammatory cytokines TNF and IL-18, and pro-inflammatory chemokines IP-10, MCP-1, MCP-3, MIP-1 β and RANTES (Figure 10A and 10B). In addition, c1^{LysM}/cIAP2^{-/-} animals showed upregulation of IFN- γ , indicative of a chronic Th1-mediated response, and the anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-10. In stark contrast, no cytokines were upregulated in naïve plasma collected from TRAF2^{LysM} and cIAP2^{-/-} mice.

At day 2 post-infection, c1^{LysM}/cIAP2^{-/-} animals had elevated levels of IL-6, RANTES, and TNF relative to WT animals. The reduction, compared to naïve measurements, in the number of cytokines that were upregulated in c1^{LysM}/cIAP2^{-/-} at day 2 post infection,

relative to WT, probably reflects the broad induction of pro-inflammatory cytokines in WT animals in response to infection (see figure 9A-9C). Surprisingly, levels of IFN- α were significantly lower in c1^{LysM}/cIAP2^{-/-} animals (mean ± SEM of 1.72 ± 0.42 ng/mL) relative to WT (mean ± SEM of 12.26 ± 0.17 ng/mL). At day 2 post infection, TRAF2^{LysM} mice also had a lower level of IFN- α (4.93 ± 1.02 ng/mL) than WT, and a decreased level of MCP-1. In contrast to the c1^{LysM}/cIAP2^{-/-} animals, no levels of cytokines were increased, relative to WT, in TRAF2^{LysM} animals at day 2 post infection. cIAP2^{-/-} animals had upregulated expression of IL-6 and MIP-1 β , relative to WT at this day 2 time point.

At day 4 post-infection, the c1^{LysM}/cIAP2^{-/-} animals still exhibited increased levels of RANTES and decreased levels of IFN- α , but levels of all other cytokines were not statistically different from WT control values. Levels of cytokines in TRAF2^{LysM} and cIAP2^{-/-} animals were also not statistically different from WT control values.

Therefore, the overall picture is one of profound dysregulation of pro-inflammatory cytokine expression in c1^{LysM}/cIAP2^{-/-} animals, with increased inflammatory cytokine production in the naïve state and at day 2 post-infection, and some pro-inflammatory cytokines were also elevated at this timepoint in cIAP2^{-/-} animals. This dysregulation was not matched in TRAF2^{LysM} animals, despite the fact that TRAF2 and the cIAPs have similar biological functions. In addition, c1^{LysM}/cIAP2^{-/-} and TRAF2^{LysM} animals showed decreased production of IFN- α following infection perhaps consistent with the decreased viral load in the former mice.



Figure 4.10| Statistical differences of cytokine levels in the plasma of DENV2-infected genetically-targeted mice, relative to WT control (this figure is continued below). Plasma was isolated from naïve animals, or MAR1-treated, DENV2 infected animals at day 2 and day 4 post-infection. Cytokine levels were determined by multiplex bead array. Cytokine levels are coloured according to their statistical difference relative to a WT control group, with red representing upregulation and blue representing downregulation. For each timepoint, data was analysed by ordinary one-way ANOVA, with Dunnett's post-hoc test for multiple comparisons. Data is representative of 3-13 animals per group, with the exception of p50^{-/-} Day 2 samples for IL-5, IL-6 and MIP-1 α , where data was only recovered for two animals. Plasma samples for each group were obtained from 1-4 independent experiments. "0" = ns, "1" p < 0.05, "2" p < 0.01, "3" p < 0.001, "4" p < 0.0001.





4.11 Discussion

Given that our knowledge of the exact aetiology of severe dengue is lacking, and that the cytokine storms of severe dengue are caused by dysregulated host signalling, I set out to attempt to identify and characterise potential host restriction factors *in vivo*. In the first instance, I used MAR1 antibody to suppress the type I interferon responses of a panel of gene-targeted animals. These animals were subsequently infected with DENV2 and followed to determine whether they developed clinical signs of infection. Isolated instances of weight and temperature change were observed in SOCS3^{LysM}, TRAF2^{LysM} and cIAP2^{-/-} animals (see figures 4.4B, 4.5B and 4.6A, respectively). Interestingly, c1^{LysM}/cIAP2^{-/-} animals showed a transient decrease in weight, and repeated spikes in temperature early during the course of infection (days 1-3 post-infection, Figure 4.6A-B) coincident with aberration in cytokines observed in these animals.

Furthermore, $c1^{LysM}/cIAP2^{-/-}$ animals displayed a decrease in viral load at day 2 post infection (Figure 4.6C), consistent with the BMDM *in vitro* results presented earlier (Chapter 3, Figure 3.13). Given the importance of the IAPs to NF- κ B signalling (Mahoney et al., 2008; Varfolomeev et al., 2007), it is logical to conclude that a decrease in NF- κ B activity in the myeloid DENV host cells in $c1^{LysM}/cIAP2^{-/-}$ animals contributes to the lower viral load observed in these animals. In addition, a decreased proportion of monocytes, and a trend towards a decreased proportion of dendritic cells, was found in the blood of $c1^{LysM}/cIAP2^{-/-}$ mice, relative to WT mice.

Given that monocytes and dendritic cells are preferred host cells for DENV, an argument can be made that the decreased proportions of these populations in c1^{LysM}/cIAP2^{-/-} animals could explain the consistently lower viral titres observed upon DENV2 infection of these animals (Figure 4.6C). However, in this case it would be reasonable to expect that cIAP2^{-/-} animals, which have expanded monocyte and inflammatory macrophage blood compartments upon DENV2 infection (Figure 4.7A), would correspondingly have a higher viral load than WT animals, and this does not seem to be the case (Figure 4.6C). To further examine the effect of IAPs on DENV infection *in vivo*, I treated WT MAR1treated mice with IAP antagonists; these results are presented in Chapter 5.

Determination of the plasma cytokine levels in WT animals revealed that DENV2 infection induced a pro-inflammatory response. There was a general trend for pro-inflammatory cytokines levels to increase above the level of naïve samples at day 2 post infection, before elevating still higher at day 4 post infection (Figure 4.9A-B). This was reflected in the larger number of cytokines that were significantly elevated above the levels of naïve controls as the infection progressed (summarised in Figure 4.9C). Overall, most of the genetically targeted animals did not have pro-inflammatory cytokine profiles that were markedly different to that of the WT controls, with the

exception of the c1^{LysM}/cIAP2^{-/-} mice which showed a consistently more proinflammatory response than WT controls (Figure 4.10A-B). However, despite the widespread elevation of pro-inflammatory cytokines, there was no noticeable effect the weight and temperature of these animals, with the exception of c1^{LysM}/cIAP2^{-/-} animals which manifested moderate signs of fever and weight change (Figure 4.6A-B

Given that the cIAPs and TRAF2 have similar roles in transducing NF-kB signalling and restraining cell death, it was interesting to observe that high levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines were detected in the plasma of c1^{LysM}/cIAP2^{-/-} animals, but not in TRAF2^{LysM} animals (Figure 4.10). Recently, in addition to their well-documented role in preventing cell death, many reports have shown that IAPs have a key role in restraining inflammation. Depletion of IAPs can result in the activation of caspase 8 by TNF signalling (Varfolomeev et al., 2007). In part, this is due to the reduced production of cFLIP, a protein which heterodimerises with caspase 8, and in doing so, restricts the number of substrates that caspase 8 can cleave. Therefore, reduced cFLIP equates to an increase in the substrates that can be processed by caspase 8 (Lalaoui & Vaux, 2018). In addition, there is evidence that in some cell types, an absence of cIAP activity favours the assembly of the ripoptosome, a death signalling complex constituted of RIPK1, FADD, cFLIP and caspase 8 (Lawlor et al., 2015). The ripoptosome is capable of activating caspase 8 in the absence of TNF signalling (Feltham & Silke, 2017). Activated caspase 8 can then drive inflammation by cleaving pro-IL-1 β or driving apoptotic cell death (Lawlor et al., 2015; J. Zhang et al., 2019). Alternatively, deficiency of IAPs has been shown to result in activation of the NLRP3 inflammasome, and cleavage of IL-1 β by caspase 1 (Vince et al., 2012).

TRAF2 has also been reported to have an anti-inflammatory function. When Jin and colleagues treated WT and TRAF2^{LysM} mice with dextran sodium sulphate to induce colitis they observed that TRAF2^{LysM} mice had higher levels of mortality and inflammation of the distal colon (Jin et al., 2015). Naïve TRAF2^{-/-} animals have been reported to have higher levels of serum TNF than WT controls (L. T. Nguyen et al., 1999), and TRAF2^{-/-} macrophages produce more pro-inflammatory cytokines than WT controls (Jin et al., 2015; L. T. Nguyen et al., 1999)

However, the crossover in functionality between TRAF2 and the cIAPs is not absolute. While a small fraction of TRAF2^{-/-} mice can survive until 2-3 weeks of age before succumbing to colitis or wasting ((Piao et al., 2011; Yeh et al., 1997), cIAP1^{-/-}/cIAP2^{-/-} full body knockout mice succumb at approximately E10 to cardiovascular failure and haemorrhage due to excessive activation of RIP kinases (Moulin et al., 2012), which can drive inflammation and cell death in the absence of cIAPs (Vince et al., 2012). Furthermore, mortality of TRAF2^{-/-} mice could be rescued by concurrent deletion of TNFR1 (Piao et al., 2011),, although this phenotype is partially strain-specific (L. T. Nguyen et al., 1999). In contrast, cIAP1^{-/-}/cIAP2^{-/-} TNFR1^{-/-} mice are only able to survive until day 2 after birth (Moulin et al., 2012). Finally, NF- κ B signalling was largely normal, albeit with delayed kinetics, in TRAF2^{-/-} thymocytes and MEFs (S. Y. Lee et al., 1997; Yeh et al., 1997). In contrast, NF- κ B signalling is minimal in cIAP1^{-/-}/cIAP2^{-/-} MEFs and hepatocytes (Mahoney et al., 2008; Varfolomeev et al., 2007).

Collectively, these data suggest that a degree of inflammation-dampening IAP-mediated ubiquitination is able to be maintained in the absence of TRAF2, and by extension, is present in the myeloid cells of TRAF2^{LysM} mice. Some weight is given to this argument by the finding that the kinetics and magnitude of $I\kappa B\alpha$ degradation in response to TNF is identical in WT and TRAF2^{LysM} macrophages, suggesting intact IAP-mediated ubiquitination (Etemadi et al., 2015). In contrast, IAPs are deficient in the myeloid cells of clAP1^{LysM}/clAP2^{-/-} mice, therefore inflammatory processes are not restrained and these mice produce higher concentrations of pro-inflammatory cytokines in response to DENV infection.

A single knockout of cIAP2^{-/-} would be predicted to have much less of a pro-inflammatory effect, as substantial ubiquitin-mediated control of pro-inflammatory machinery should be maintained, and in keeping with this, cIAP2^{-/-} animals had a lesser degree of inflammation than cIAP1^{LysM}/cIAP2^{-/-} mice at all examined timepoints.

I also observed that IFN- α levels were decreased at Day 2 post infection for c1^{LysM}/cIAP2⁻/- and TRAF2^{LysM} mice, but not for cIAP2^{-/-} mice. Furthermore, c1^{LysM}/cIAP2^{-/-} also had decreased levels of IFN- α at day 4 post infection. Although TRAF2^{LysM} macrophages have been shown to have intact canonical NF- κ B signalling, they were reported to be more

susceptible to apoptotic stimuli (Etemadi et al., 2015). Likewise, $c1^{LysM}/cIAP2^{-/-}$ BMDMs have also been shown to be sensitised to undergo apoptosis (Lawlor et al., 2015). Therefore, it is possible that increased apoptosis of IFN- α generating cells could be driving this reduction in IFN- α . In support of this, flow cytometry revealed that there were fewer monocytes in the blood of $c1^{LysM}$ / $cIAP2^{-/-}$ mice at day 2 post-infection, relative to WT controls (see Figure 4.8A). There was also a trend towards reduced numbers of dendritic cells in the blood. Dendritic cells, in particular plasmacytoid DCs that are found in peripheral blood, are very potent producers of type I interferon in response to viral stimulation (Swiecki & Colonna, 2015). Alternatively, the decrease in viral loads in IAP deficient may abrogate production of type I IFN.

Another possibility is that the IAPs and / or TRAF2 are controlling the induction of IFN- α by PRRs. One important pathway for the induction of type I interferon involves the cytoplasmic PRR RIG-I and the adaptor protein MAVS (Seth, Sun, Ea, & Chen, 2005; Yoneyama et al., 2004). In this pathway, RIG-I senses viral RNA, and this signal is transduced by MAVS, resulting in K63-linked ubiquitination of TRAF3, activation of IRF-3 and IRF-7, and the upregulation of type I interferon (Mao et al., 2010; Sharma et al., 2003). cIAP-mediated ubiquitination has been described as an important component of this pathway. Mao and colleagues found that a reduction of levels of cIAP1 and cIAP2 by genetic manipulation or by treatment with an IAP antagonist resulted in reduced levels of TRAF3 ubiquitination, and a reduced type I interferon production in response to Sendai Virus infection (Mao et al., 2010). Therefore, it is possible that decreased ubiquitination in the absence of cIAPs or their adaptor protein TRAF2 ameliorates RIG-I – MAVS signalling, and hence the induction of IFN- α . The role of the cIAPs in controlling type I interferon production was further explored when IAP antagonist treated mice were infected with DENV2, and these results are presented in Chapter 5.

One of the caveats of this *in vivo* model of DENV2 infection is that, over the timepoints assessed, IL-10 levels in WT mice did not significantly increase above baseline (Figure 4.9A), and there was no statistically significant upregulation of IL-10 in other genotypes, relative to WT control, at days 2 and 4 post infection (Figure 4.9C). Meta-analyses have found that IL-10 is consistently upregulated in cases of severe dengue, relative to control patients that have standard dengue fever (Y. H. Lee et al., 2016; Soo et al., 2017). IL-10

122

is a key anti-inflammatory cytokine that is produced mainly by monocytes, macrophages and T cells (Moore et al., 2001). IL-10 upregulates expression of the JAK signalling regulator SOCS3, and exerts its effects primarily via reducing production of the potent pro-inflammatory cytokines IL-1 and TNF (Ito et al., 1999; Moore et al., 2001; Qasimi et al., 2006). IL-10 was statistically elevated in c1^{LysM}/cIAP2^{-/-} animals at baseline; however, the significance of this upregulation was lost in infected mice (Figure 4.9C).

Previously, other groups have investigated cytokine production in the context of murine DENV infection. Cytokine levels generally correlated with the degree of viral control that could be achieved using different strains of virus and different transgenic mice. For example, Zust and colleagues infected mice strains that had the IFNAR gene selectively deleted from different cell populations using Cre recombinase (Züst et al., 2014). They found that deletion of the IFNAR gene in myeloid populations, including the DENV monocyte, macrophage and dendritic cell host cells, resulted in high viral load and cytokine expression relative to infection of mice with a Cre-mediated deletion of IFNAR in lymphocytes, which are not DENV host cells, or WT mice (Züst et al., 2014). DENV infection of AG129 mice, which have a compound deletion of the type I and type II interferon receptors, results in very high levels of inflammatory cytokines and IL-10 (Balsitis et al., 2009; Sarathy et al., 2015), as does infection of mice with mouse-adapted virus (Atrasheuskaya et al., 2003). The MAR1 model of DENV2 presented in this chapter is characterised by high viraemia at day 2, which is rapidly falling at day 4. The higher degree of viral control achieved in this immunocompetent model, compared to the other models referenced above, seems likely to account for the lower levels of cytokine production observed in this model, and perhaps the relatively low concentrations of IL-10.

A caveat of this work is that the examination of the effects of DENV infection in these animal models could have been more thorough. Analysis was restricted to measurement of weight, temperature, plasma viremia, flow cytometry and cytokine levels. These analyses could have been complemented in several informative ways. For instance, a vascular leakage analysis could have been performed to determine whether differences in inflammatory mediators observed with genetic deficiency of cIAP1 and cIAP2 had an effect on endothelial integrity. Furthermore, viremia was only determined 123
in the blood, and it could be possible, though unlikely, that the kinetics of viral clearance are different in solid organs e.g. the spleen or the brain. Unfortunately, due to constraints involved with the quantities of MAR1-blocking antibody and the numbers, of genetically deficient animals available, these experiments were not performed.

Collectively my data indicate that IAPs may be involved in DENV disease pathogenesis and this should be further explored by formal necropsy assessment and histopathology. In the next section I used clinical stage inhibitors of IAP to determine impact on clinical outcomes and to complement the data in this chapter.

Chapter 5 - Preclinical Testing of Therapeutic Candidates Using *In Vivo* Models

5.1 Introduction

As outlined in the literature review, many clinical trials have been conducted to assess the ability of repurposed therapeutics to improve outcomes of patients suffering from dengue. Given that none of the drugs trialled against dengue to date have shown efficacy in clinical trials, I wanted to explore the ability of novel drugs to treat clinical indications of dengue.

However, before I could explore the function of potential therapeutic drugs, I wanted to develop a suitable *in vivo* model to assess efficacy. IFNAR^{-/-} mice have several features that make them attractive as a model for the study of severe dengue. IFNAR^{-/-} mice are relatively susceptible to DENV infection and develop high levels of viraemia in comparison to WT mice (Züst et al., 2014). Unlike WT animals, IFNAR^{-/-} mice exhibit clinical signs of infection such as weight loss, and therefore the ability of candidate therapeutics to prevent these signs can be assessed (Züst et al., 2014). Finally, and most importantly, IFNAR^{-/-} mice produce high levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines in response to DENV infection such as TNF, IL-6 and IP-10 that are also found in human disease (Züst et al., 2014).

However, several important caveats apply to the use of IFNAR^{-/-} mice as a model for DENV infection. As previously mentioned, type I interferon signalling is important for many aspects of the immune response such as dendritic cell maturation (Montoya et al., 2002), and the enhancement of humoral antiviral responses (K. Fink et al., 2006). Secondly, titres of DENV in the plasma of IFNAR^{-/-} animal are normally very high when mice are severely ill (Züst et al., 2014). In contrast, during human infection, peripheral levels of DENV are normally rapidly declining at the point of defervescence (Duyen et al., 2011; Fox et al., 2011), which coincides with the most severe symptoms of DENV (Halstead, 2019). Finally, the clinical signs exhibited by IFNAR^{-/-} mice, such as weight loss, do not always correlate with symptoms of DENV observed in humans. Therefore, it is important to keep these caveats in mind when interpreting the results of 125

experiments using IFNAR^{-/-} mice.

The initial section of this chapter will detail the characterisation of an IFNAR^{-/-} mouse model of severe dengue. The remainder of this chapter will briefly summarise the properties and the rationale for the use of various host-directed therapeutic drugs to treat dengue, before outlining the results of these studies. Studies in this chapter were conducted using either IFNAR^{-/-} mice, or the WT mouse MAR1 model of dengue, which was characterised in experiments presented in Chapter 4.

5.2 Establishment of an *in vivo* model of severe dengue

I should note that in Chapter 4, I presented data that showed that IFNAR^{-/-} infected with DENV2 at the same dose given to MAR1-treated WT and gene-targeted mice (20,000,000 pfu/mouse) succumbed very rapidly to the infection. For the experiments presented in this chapter, I infected IFNAR^{-/-} mice with a lower dose of DENV2 (100,000 pfu/mouse). This resulted in a less aggressive course of disease, which afforded me an extended window where I could treat mice with candidate therapeutics.

In order to characterise an *in vivo* model of severe dengue, I infected IFNAR^{-/-} mice and monitored mice daily to determine the clinical course of infection. IFNAR^{-/-} mice rapidly lost weight (Figure 5.1A), and had a small increase in temperature (Figure 5.1B). Given that fluid replacement therapy is the mainstay of clinical management for severe dengue (World Health Organisation, 2009), these mice were provided with ongoing fluid replacement of 1mL of 0.9% normal saline daily as supportive treatment. At Day 4 post-infection mice exhibited a relatively high viral load of 2.54 X10⁶ ± 0.69X10⁶ pfu/mL (Figure 5.1C). These results were similar to those resulted previously by another group (Züst et al., 2014).



Figure 5.1 | Initial characterisation of an IFNAR^{-/-} **mouse model of severe dengue.** IFNAR^{-/-} mice were infected intravenously with 1X10⁵ pfu of DENV2. Weight (A) and temperature (B) were monitored daily. Mice were humanely euthanised at 4 days post infection. Plasma isolated at Day 4 post infection was used to determine viral loads (C). n=12 mice for weight and temperature; n=9 mice for viral load data. Data is combined from two independent experiments. Error bars indicate the mean ± SEM. For panel C, dots represent data from individual mice.

To confirm that there was a pro-inflammatory cytokine milieu in this IFNAR^{-/-} mouse model, I isolated plasma from peripheral blood at Day 4 post-infection, and quantified cytokine levels using multiplex ELISA (Figure 2). I found significantly increased levels of IFN- γ (A), IL-1 β (B), IL-6 (C), IP-10 (D), MIP-2 (E) and TNF (F). After this initial characterisation, I proceeded to use this mouse model of severe dengue to assess the efficacy of novel host-directed therapeutics.



Figure 5.2| Determination of pro-inflammatory cytokine levels in an IFNAR^{-/-} mouse model of severe dengue. IFNAR^{-/-} mice were infected intravenously with 1X10⁵ pfu of DENV2. Mice were humanely euthanised at 4 days post infection. A multiplex bead array was run to quantify levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines from plasma isolated at Day 4 post infection. Plasma isolated from the blood of naïve IFNAR^{-/-} mice was included as a negative control. The cytokines analysed were: IFN- γ (A), IL-1 β (B), IL-6 (C), IP-10 (D), MIP-2 (E) and TNF (F). n=5 and n=9 for naïve and infected mice, respectively, and data is from one independent experiment. Statistical analysis: samples from naïve and infected plasma for each cytokine was compared by unpaired two-tailed t-test. Error bars indicate the mean ± SEM. Circles and squares represent data from individual mice. ** p < 0.01, *** p < 0.001, **** p < 0.0001.

5.3 Use of LCL-161 to treat in vivo DENV infection

Previously, my *in vitro* and *in vivo* studies revealed that a loss of cIAP proteins could reduce viral production (Chapters 3 and 4). Therefore, I decided to use the clinical stage anti-cancer compound LCL-161 to degrade cIAPs in *in* vivo models of DENV infection, and assess the effect of this treatment on disease progression and viral load. For a brief

summary of the LCL-161 literature, please refer to Chapter 3.

For the experiments presented in this chapter, LCL-161 was administered by oral gavage either prophylactically as a single dose of 400mg/kg, or therapeutically as 1-2 doses at 100mg/kg. Previously, our lab has shown that a single dose of LCL-161 administered to mice by oral gavage at 50mg/kg was sufficient to trigger marked degradation of cIAP1 levels in the liver (24 hour time point) (Ebert et al., 2015). Therefore, it can be assumed that the doses of LCL-161 used to treat the animal models of DENV2 infection presented subsequently in this chapter were sufficient to trigger the degradation of IAP proteins.

5.3.1 Can LCL-161 treatment improve the outcomes of DENV2 infected IFNAR^{-/-} mice?

Initially, I decided to test LCL-161 using the IFNAR^{-/-} model of severe dengue (see above). IFNAR^{-/-} animals were pre-treated with a single dose of vehicle or LCL-161 prior to infection with DENV2. After infection, the weight of LCL-161 treated animals declined significantly more rapidly than vehicle-treated controls (Figure 5.3A), although this weight loss normalised from day 3 post infection. LCL-161 treated mice did not show differences in temperature relative to wild type controls (Figure 5.3B). Finally, log-rank analysis revealed that there was no significant difference in survival between the vehicle and LCL-161 groups (Figure 5.3C). It should be noted that a measurement of viral load was not performed for these animals. This was because animals were not euthanised on a set day, but instead were euthanised when they reached a pre-determined ethical endpoint.

In conclusion, LCL-161 did not improve survival outcomes in IFNAR^{-/-} animals; in fact, there was a trend for LCL-161 treated mice to succumb earlier than vehicle treated animals, although this trend did not reach statistical significance.





indicate the mean ± SEM. ** p < 0.01, *** p < 0.001.

5.3.2 How does LCL-161 treatment alter the myeloid compartments and viral load of MAR1-treated WT mice infected with DENV2?

To further examine the effect of LCL-161 treatment on DENV2 infection *in vivo*, WT mice treated with MAR1 were infected with DENV2. At 24 hours post-infection, mice were treated with a single dose of vehicle or LCL-161. At 48 hours post-infection, LCL-161 mice had developed profound weight loss (Figure 5.4A) while temperature was not significantly altered compared to the control group (Figure 5.4B).

I wanted to determine the size and nature of different myeloid cell subsets in the context of LCL-161 treatment and DENV infection. As DENV host cells, the size of these myeloid cell subsets has been correlated to viral load and disease severity (Halstead, 2019), and these cells also have an important role in producing cytokines that contribute to the pathogenesis of severe dengue. At 48 hours post infection, mice were humanely euthanised. Cells were processed for flow cytometry. There were no differences between vehicle and LCL-161 groups when myeloid cell subsets were examined in the blood (Figure 5.4C), and in the spleen (Figure 5.4D). In addition, an examination of plasma viral load at 48 hours post infection showed that there was no difference between treatment groups (Figure 5.4E).

To extend these results, I repeated this experiment but administered two doses of vehicle / LCL-161 to mice at 4 hours and 30 hours post infection. Again, LCL-161 treated mice lost weight (Figure 5.5A); however, due to the small number of animals in this experiment (n=3 per group), the differences did not reach statistical significance. Mice were euthanised at 48 hours post infection and organs were processed for qPCR and flow cytometry as previously.

Administration of two doses of LCL-161 resulted in the depletion of monocytes and dendritic cells in the blood, while elevating levels of inflammatory macrophages (Figure 5.5C). In the spleen, LCL-161 treatment decreased the numbers of all myeloid subsets examined (Figure 5.5D). Because two doses of LCL-161 was able to reduce the size of the important monocyte, macrophage and DC host compartments (with the exception of inflammatory macrophages in the blood), it was surprising to see that this treatment

had no impact on viral load (Figure 5.5E).



Figure 5.4 | One dose of LCL-161 does not reduce viral load in the WT MAR1 mouse

model of DENV infection. WT mice were treated with MAR1 IFNAR-blocking antibody $(500\mu g \text{ at } 24 \text{ hours prior to infection}, 250\mu g 2 \text{ hours prior to infection}, 250\mu g \text{ at } 24 \text{ hours})$ post-infection) and infected with 2x10⁷ pfu DENV2 per mouse. At 24 hours postinfection, mice were administered vehicle or 100mg/kg LCL-161 by oral gavage. Weight (A) and temperature (B) were monitored. Mice were humanely euthanised at 48 hours post infection. Flow cytometry was used to enumerate the proportions and absolute cell counts of the different myeloid cell compartments of the blood (C), and spleen (D), In parallel, plasma isolated at 48 hours post infection was used to respectively. determine the viral loads of vehicle and LCL-161 treated mice (E). n=5 mice per group, data is from one independent experiment. The following statistical tests were used to analyse the presented data. Differences in weight and temperature were assessed by multiple unpaired t-tests with the Holm-Sidak correction for multiple comparisons. Flow cytometry myeloid cell compartment data and log-transformed qPCR viral load data was analysed using two-tailed unpaired t-tests. Error bars indicate the mean ± SEM. For panels C-E, circles and squares represent data from individual mice. *** p < 0.001.



Figure 5. 5 | Two doses of LCL-161 does not reduce viral load in the WT MAR1 mouse model of DENV infection. WT mice were treated with MAR1 IFNAR-blocking antibody

(500µg at 24 hours prior to infection, 250µg 2 hours prior to infection, 250µg at 24 hours post-infection) and infected with 2×10^7 pfu DENV2 per mouse. At 4 hours and 30 hours post-infection, mice were administered vehicle or 100mg/kg LCL-161 by oral gavage. Weight (A) and temperature (B) were monitored. Mice were humanely euthanised at 48 hours post infection. Flow cytometry was used to enumerate the proportions and absolute cell counts of the different myeloid cell compartments of the blood (C), and spleen (D), respectively. In parallel, plasma isolated at 48 hours post infection was used to determine the viral loads of vehicle and LCL-161 treated mice (E). n=3 mice per group, data is from one independent experiment. The following statistical tests were used to analyse the presented data. Differences in weight and temperature were assessed by multiple unpaired t-tests with the Holm-Sidak correction for multiple comparisons. Flow cytometry myeloid cell compartment data and log-transformed qPCR viral load data was analysed using two-tailed unpaired t-tests. Error bars indicate the mean \pm SEM. For panels C-E, circles and squares represent data from individual mice. * P < 0.05, ** P < 0.01, *** p < 0.001.

5.3.3 The effect of LCL-161 treatment on plasma cytokine levels in MAR1-treated WT mice infected with DENV2

Previously, I showed that MAR1-treated WT mice produced substantial levels of proinflammatory cytokines and chemokines in response to DENV2 infection (Chapter 4). Given that two doses of LCL-161 could significantly reduce the size of several myeloid compartments (Figure 5.5C-D), I wanted to see whether this treatment could also reduce levels of cytokine production in response to DENV2 infection. Therefore, I used a commercial multiplex immunoassay to quantify levels of 27 cytokines and chemokines in the plasma of mice that had been treated with either vehicle, one dose of LCL-161 or two doses of LCL-161. All bleeds were taken at 48 hours post infection. I used ordinary one-way ANOVA with Dunnett's test for multiple comparisons to identify levels of cytokines in the plasma of LCL-161 treated mice that were significantly increased or decreased relative to vehicle only control. A summary of these statistical differences is presented below (Figure 5.6).

Not surprisingly, I saw several parallels between the cytokine profile of LCL-161 treated mice and the cytokine profile of c1^{LysM}/cIAP2^{-/-} mice. Previously, I showed that levels

of MCP-3 and IL-18 were elevated in naïve $c1^{LysM}/cIAP2^{-/-}$ mice relative to WT controls (Chapter 4, figure 4.10). However, no statistically significant difference in MCP-3 and IL-18 expression was observed in $c1^{LysM}/cIAP2^{-/-}$ at 48 hours post infection (Chapter 4, figure 4.10). I found that mice treated with a single dose of LCL-161 had increased levels of MCP-3 and IL-18 at 48 hours post-infection (Figure 5.6). I should note that there was also a trend toward elevated concentrations of MCP-3 and IL-18 in the plasma of mice treated with two doses of LCL-161 (p=0.08, p=0.29 respectively). These values probably did not reach the threshold of statistical significance (p<0.05) due to the small number of mice included in this experimental arm (n=3). As the loss of cIAPs has been associated with inflammation (Vince et al., 2012; J. Zhang et al., 2019), this probably explains the increased levels of MCP-3 and IL-18 in mice treated with a single dose of LCL-161.

In contrast, levels of IFN- α , were significantly lower at 48 hours post infection in the plasma of mice treated with one or two doses of LCL-161 treated mice (Figure 5.6), and this finding was also found in c1^{LysM}/cIAP2^{-/-} mice (Chapter 4, Figure 4.10). Surprisingly, levels of type I interferon declined significantly with one dose of LCL-161 (Figure 5.6), even though one dose of LCL-161 did not significantly decrease the size of the myeloid cell compartment (Figure 5.4C-D). The concentration of IFN- α in the plasma of mice treated with one dose of LCL 161 (mean ± SEM 6344 ± 862.4 pg/mL) was higher than that of mice treated with two doses of LCL-161 (mean ± SEM 2793 ± 1162 pg/mL).

There was also an upregulation of IL-22 in mice that had been treated with one dose of LCL-161 and IL-5 in mice that had been treated with two doses of LCL-161 (Figure 5.6). IL-22 is a member of the IL-10 cytokine family that acts to control innate immune responses in epithelial cells (Hakemi, Eskandari, Yazdani, Farahani, & Sherkat, 2014). IL-5 is a Th2 cytokine that promotes B-cell development and regulates eosinophil production (Takatsu & Nakajima, 2008). These results imply that the presence of cIAPs may have a role in regulating production of IL-22 and IL-5 during DENV infection, although this needs more investigation.

In conclusion, LCL-161 treatment was unable to extend the survival of IFNAR^{-/-} mice. In addition, although treatment of MAR1-suppressed WT mice with two doses of LCL-161 was able to alter the composition of myeloid subsets in the peripheral blood and spleen,

this did not translate to a difference in viral load. Finally, treatment of DENV-infected mice with LCL-161 caused an increased level of pro-inflammatory cytokines such as MCP-3 and IL-18, and reduced levels of IFN- α .





control: n=8; one dose LCL: n=5; two dose LCL: n=3. Statistical analysis: the mean values for "One Dose" and "Two Dose" groups were compared to the mean of the naïve group by one-way ANOVA, using Dunnett's post-hoc test. "0" = ns, "1" p < 0.05, "2" p < 0.01, "3" p < 0.001, "4" p < 0.0001.

5.4 Assessment of jakinibs as novel therapeutics for the treatment of *in vivo* DENV infection

The JAK-STAT pathway is important for the signalling of class I and class II cytokine receptors. Cytokines that signal via these receptors include interferons, many interleukins, colony stimulating factors, erythropoietin, thrombopoietin, prolactin, leptin and growth hormone (O'Shea, Holland, & Staudt, 2013). JAKs are found bound to the cytoplasmic domains of these cytokine receptors, and upon cytokine binding, go on to phosphorylate STATs, allowing STAT proteins to dimerise, translocate to the nucleus, and upregulate gene transcription. The ability of specific cytokine receptors to activate particular combinations of JAK and STAT proteins allows different receptors to induce the transcription of different genes. Regulation of JAK-STAT signalling is regulated by several families of proteins such as the SOCS proteins (reviewed in Chapter 3), protein tyrosine phosphatases and protein inhibitor of activated STATs (reviewed in (Villarino, Kanno, & O'Shea, 2017)). In addition, some cytokine receptors can signal by JAK-STAT signalling, and by other pathways. For instance, IL-6 receptor signalling primarily involves JAK1 phosphorylation of STAT3, but also can involve JAK2, Tyk2, STAT1 and the MAP Kinase ERK (Naugler & Karin, 2008; O'Shea et al., 2015).

Knockout mouse models have provided key insights into the role of specific JAKs. JAK1^{-/-} mice die within 24 hours of birth, and JAK1^{-/-} cells are unable to signal via Class II cytokine receptors, common γ c receptors and gp130 receptors (Rodig et al., 1998). JAK2^{-/-} cells are unable to transduce signals from erythropoietin, thrombopoietin, IL-3, IFN- γ or GM-CSF, and JAK2 deficiency results in embryonic lethality due to a lack of definitive erythropoiesis (Neubauer et al., 1998; Parganas et al., 1998). In contrast, JAK3^{-/-} and Tyk2^{-/-} mice are viable and fertile (O'Shea et al., 2015). JAK3 deficiency in humans and mice results in severe combined immunodeficiency (O'Shea et al., 2015). JAK3 associates with the common γ c, and consequently, the phenotype for deficiency of the

common γ c is almost identical to the phenotype of JAK3 deficiency (Cao et al., 1995; Russell et al., 1994) this phenotype is almost identical to knockout of the common γ c, and can be explained by the association of JAK3 with the common γ c. Tyk2^{-/-} mice have reduced responses to IFN - α , - β , - γ , and IL-12 (Karaghiosoff et al., 2000).

Given that JAKs have wide-reaching roles in controlling growth, inflammation, and other immune responses, they are attractive drug targets. Ruxolitinib and tofacitinib are two FDA-approved JAK inhibitors (jakinibs). These drugs are small molecules with excellent solubility and permeability, that act via their competitive, reversible inhibition of JAK ATP-binding sites (Winthrop, 2017).

Pre-clinical data showed ruxolitinib inhibited JAK1 and JAK2 with an IC₅₀ of <5nM, with higher values for Tyk2 and JAK3 (Quintás-Cardama et al., 2010). Ruxolitinib could block JAK1 signalling *ex vivo* to reduce STAT3 phosphorylation, and reduced levels of IL-6 and/or TNF in mouse models of myeloproliferative neoplasm and graft versus host disease (GVHD) (Quintás-Cardama et al., 2010; Spoerl et al., 2014). Ruxolitinib has been approved for the treatment of the BCR-ABL (Philadelphia chromosome) negative myeloproliferative neoplasms. In two independent phase 3 trials, ruxolitinib reduced spleen volume and improved quality of life compared to placebo or best available treatment (Harrison et al., 2012; Verstovsek et al., 2012). Importantly, both of these trials reported sustained decreases in levels of the inflammatory cytokines TNF and IL-6 (Harrison et al., 2012; Verstovsek et al., 2012). Two studies have also shown that ruxolitinib treatment was able to improve outcomes and lower plasma IL-6 levels in patients with GVHD (Spoerl et al., 2014; Zeiser et al., 2015).

Whereas ruxolitinib exhibits a degree of specificity for JAK1 and JAK2, *ex vivo* whole blood assays showed that tofacitinib exhibited a 5-100 fold specificity for JAK1 and JAK3 over JAK2 (Meyer et al., 2010). Similar results were obtained by another group using Tcells (Ghoreschi et al., 2011), and in pre-clinical models of arthritis, tofacitinib treatment was able to reduce levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines including IL-6 and IP-10 (Dowty et al., 2013; Ghoreschi et al., 2011; Meyer et al., 2010). Phase II trials have shown that tofacitinib was efficacious for treating atopic dermatitis (Bissonnette et al., 2016), but 139 showed no benefit as a treatment for Crohn's disease (Sandborn et al., 2014). Furthermore, phase three trials have shown that tofacitinib is efficacious for treatment of ulcerative colitis (Sandborn et al., 2017) and rheumatoid arthritis (E. B. Lee et al., 2014). Importantly, treatment of rheumatoid arthritis patients with IL-6 decreased levels of IL-6, while having a variable effect on IP-10, TNF and IL-8 (Hodge et al., 2016). Given that ruxolitinib and tofacitinib are both potent anti-inflammatory compounds with proven clinical safety profiles, I investigated the ability of these drugs to treat severe dengue *in vivo*.

Initially, I conducted a titration experiment to determine doses of ruxolitinib and tofacitinib that showed efficacy. Ruxolitinib and tofacitinib have been shown to decrease levels of IL-6 in human cohorts of myelofibrosis (Harrison et al., 2012; Verstovsek et al., 2012) and rheumatoid arthritis patients (Hodge et al., 2016), respectively. Given that I had shown that there were high levels of IL-6 in the serum of DENV-infected IFNAR^{-/-} mice (Figure 5.2C), and IL-6 mainly signals via STAT3 (Naugler & Karin, 2008), I decided to examine the ability of ruxolitinib and tofacitinib to block IL-6 signalling in vivo, using STAT3 phosphorylation as a surrogate marker for IL-6 signal transduction. While gp130 signalling can stimulate phosphorylation of both STAT1 and STAT3, it is widely accepted that IL-6 signalling favours activation of STAT3, and therefore the decision was made to use STAT3 phosphorylation as the surrogate marker (Schaper & Rose-John, 2015). I infected IFNAR^{-/-} mice with DENV2 and treated mice at 36 hours and 48 hours post infection with either vehicle, low doses of ruxolitinib or tofacitinib, or high doses of ruxolitinib and tofacitinib. Two hours after the final drug treatment, mice were humanely euthanised and whole spleen lysates were probed for phosphorylated STAT3 by western blot. I found that only high doses of ruxolitinib and tofacitinib were able to block STAT3 phosphorylation in the spleen of IFNAR^{-/-} mice (Figure 5.7). Therefore, I elected to assess the ability of high doses of ruxolitinib and tofacitinib to improve relevant severe dengue outcomes in IFNAR^{-/-} mice.



Figure 5.7 | High doses of jakinibs can dramatically reduce STAT3 phosphorylation in DENV-infected IFNAR^{-/-} mice. IFNAR^{-/-} mice were infected with 1X10⁵ pfu of DENV2 or sham infected with PBS. At 36 and 48hr post infection, mice were treated with PBS, or low (L) or high (H) doses of ruxolitinib or tofacitinib. At 50hr post-infection, mice were humanely euthanised and spleens were taken. Whole spleen lysates were used for western blotting for pSTAT3 and STAT3. β -actin was used as a loading control. Data is from one independent experiment.

After establishing correct dosing, I proceeded to investigate the ability of ruxolitinib and tofacitinib to improve disease outcomes in DENV-infected IFNAR^{-/-} mice. Given the relatively short half-life of ruxolitinib (X. Chen, Williams, Sandor, & Yeleswaram, 2013; Shilling et al., 2010) and tofacitinib (Dowty et al., 2013; Krishnaswami, Boy, Chow, & Chan, 2015), DENV-infected mice were treated with drug twice daily. During the course of the experiment, mice were humanely euthanised when they reached a pre-defined ethical endpoint. Treatment with ruxolitinib or tofacitinib did not prevent the onset of rapid weight loss that is characteristic of this IFNAR^{-/-} model of DENV infection (Figure 5.8A). Jakinib treated mice also had similar temperature plots to control animals (Figure 5.8B). However, mice that survived past day 8 rapidly regained weight. Log-rank tests showed that ruxolitinib treatment conferred no significant benefit to survival (p=0.18) (Figure 5.8C). Tofacitinib treatment also resulted in no survival benefit (p=0.40) (Figure 141

5.8D). Plasma was extracted from animals when they were euthanised or at the end of the experiment (Day 11). Subsequently, this plasma was used to determine the terminal viral loads for these animals (Figure 5.8E). As animals from different treatment groups were euthanised at different times after they reached a pre-determined ethical endpoint, it is hard to draw firm conclusions from this data. However, the general trend is the same for each group, with a high viral load evident at days 4-6, when most animals succumbed, and a viral load near or at the limit of detection from Day 8 onwards. As mentioned above, this high viral load co-incident with severe illness is a caveat of this IFNAR^{-/-} model, and is different from the scenario that occurs during most human cases, in which viral load is sharply declining at the time of severe illness (Duyen et al., 2011; Fox et al., 2011). IFN- γ has been shown to increase in serum and spleen at Day 5 post infection in a DENV2 mouse model (Fagundes et al., 2011). The ability of IFNAR^{-/-} mice to clear virus probably reflects the onset of IFN- γ signalling, and subsequent engagement of adaptive immunity, which have both been shown to be relevant for DENV clearance in mice (Fagundes et al., 2011; Shresta et al., 2004).

Therefore, treatment of IFNAR^{-/-} with high-doses of ruxolitinib and tofacitinib was unable to impact on clinical signs of illness in these animals, and was unable to improve survival outcomes. However, it should be noted that this study was somewhat underpowered to detect differences between treatment and vehicle groups. To have an 80% chance of detect a 400% difference in outcome (i.e. if death in the vehicle group was hypothetically 80%, and death in the treated group was 20%), this would require sample sizes of 11 mice per group, whereas due to logistical constraints I was only able to generate data from 4 mice per group (Sullivan, Pezzullo, Dean, & Mir, 2013).



Figure 5.8 | High doses of Jakinib drugs do not increase the survival of DENV-infected IFNAR^{-/-}**mice**. DENV2-infected IFNAR^{-/-} mice were treated with vehicle or high doses of ruxolitinib or tofacitinib. Twice-daily drug treatment was initiated at approximately 12hr post infection, and continued for 7 days for a total of 14 doses. Weight (A) and temperature (B) were monitored daily. Mice were euthanised when they reached a predetermined ethical endpoint, and the resulting survival curves are presented for ruxolitinib (C) and tofacitinib (D). Terminal viral loads in plasma were determined by qPCR (E). n=4 mice per group; data is from one independent experiment.

5.5 Assessment of a TBK1 inhibitor as a novel dengue therapeutic

During DENV infection, PAMPs including ssRNA and dsRNA are detected by PRRs, resulting in an antiviral response, as described in detail in my literature review. A key activator of type I interferon and NF- κ B signalling which is activated by PRR signalling during viral infection is Tank Binding Kinase 1 (TBK1). TBK1 is a non-canonical IKK that

is activated downstream of the adaptors MAVS, TRIF and STING (S. Liu et al., 2015). Sharma and colleagues showed that TBK1, and the related kinase IKK ε , were able to phosphorylate IRF-3 and IRF-7 to stimulate the transcription of a type I interferon gene programme and drive antiviral immunity (Sharma et al., 2003).

In addition to stimulating type I interferon signalling, TBK1 can also stimulate proinflammatory and pro-survival NF- κ B signalling. TBK1 is able to phosphorylate I κ B α at serine (Ser) 36, but not Ser 32, and is therefore not able to trigger I κ B α degradation (Tojima et al., 2000). However, TBK1 can directly phosphorylate IKK β , resulting in upregulation of a pro-inflammatory and pro-survival transcriptional programme (Tojima et al., 2000). Furthermore, TBK1 deficiency severely abrogated the *in vitro* NF- κ B signalling response of MEFs to TNF and IL-1 stimulation (Bonnard et al., 2000). In addition, a proteomics study also showed that TBK1 was recruited to the TNFR1 signalling complex, and mediates production of the pro-inflammatory chemokine RANTES (Kuai et al., 2004). TBK1^{-/-} mice do not survive to birth due to advanced liver apoptosis (Bonnard et al., 2000). This phenotype is very similar to the phenotype mice deficient in IKK- β (Q. Li, Van Antwerp, Mercurio, Lee, & Verma, 1999), IKK- γ (Rudolph et al., 2000) and p65 (Beg, Sha, Bronsont, Ghosht, & Baltimore, 1995). Moreover, this phenotype can be rescued by co-deletion of TNFR1 (Bonnard et al., 2000), so collectively these results strongly suggest that, in addition to an antiviral role, TBK1 acts in vivo to promote pro-survival TNF-mediated activation of NF- κ B.

WEHI-112 is a small molecule inhibitor with nM affinity for TBK1 and the related protein IKK ε (Louis et al., 2019). WEHI-112 was recently shown to be efficacious in a collageninduced arthritis model. WEHI-112 reduced IL-6 in total lymph node cells at the transcript level, reduced inflammation as measured by bioluminescence, and reduced the clinical scores of treated animals (Louis et al., 2019). Given the important role of TBK1 in facilitating the pro-inflammatory NF- κ B-mediated antiviral response, I decided to use WEHI-112 in an attempt to improve the outcomes of IFNAR^{-/-} mice infected with DENV. IFNAR^{-/-} animals were used for these experiments as these animals develop robust morbidity in response to DENV infection (see above). Please note that while TBK1 can drive inflammation by inducing type I interferon signalling, this signalling axis is inactive in the IFNAR model. Therefore, the focus of these experiments was on assessing the ability of WEHI-112 treatment to mitigate pro-inflammatory cytokine signalling driven by TBK1-mediated activation of NF- κ B.

When IFNAR^{-/-} mice were treated daily with TBK1 they still exhibited profound weight loss in response to DENV infection (Figure 5.9A). A comparison of vehicle and WEHI-112 weight loss data using Holm-Sidak-corrected multiple unpaired t-tests found no significant differences. As for the jakinib experiments, mice that survived past day 4-6 were able to recover weight. Furthermore, there were no significant difference in temperature between vehicle and WEHI-112 groups (Figure 5.9B). Log-rank analysis revealed that there was no significant difference in survival between vehicle and WEHI-112 groups (p=0.21) (Figure 5.9C). Terminal viral loads from the plasma of euthanised vehicle and WEHI-112 treated mice (Figure 5.9D) showed a similar trend to the equivalent dataset from jakinib-treated IFNAR^{-/-} mice (Figure 5.8E). Viral load was high when the majority of mice succumbed at day 4 post infection, and progressively declined until the experiment was ended (day 8). At day 4, when the majority of animals reached the ethical endpoint and were euthanised, an unpaired, two-tailed t-test of log-transformed qPCR data showed that there was no difference in titres between vehicle and WEHI-112 groups (p=0.22).

In summary, in this model, WEHI-112 did not mitigate surrogate markers of dengue illness, did not improve survival outcomes, and did not alter terminal viral loads.



Figure 5.9 | TBK inhibition does not improve the survival of DENV2 infected IFNAR^{-/-} **mice.** DENV2-infected IFNAR^{-/-} mice were treated with vehicle or WEHI-112 daily for 7 days, with treatment starting approximately 12 hours after infection. Weight (A) and temperature (B) were monitored daily. Mice were euthanised when they reached a predetermined ethical endpoint, and the resulting survival curves were plotted (C). Terminal viral loads in plasma were determined by qPCR (D). For panel D, circles and squares represent data from individual mice. n=11 and n=12 for vehicle and WEHI-112 groups respectively. Data is pooled from two independent experiments. Error bars indicate the mean ± SEM.

5.6 Discussion

As outlined in the literature review (section 1.11), clinical trials of drugs for DENV treatment have largely focused on targeting pathways that are key for viral replication. For instance, celgosivir and balapiravir directly or indirectly inhibit RNA replication, whereas the effect of chloroquine is mediated by changes to endosomal acidification (Farias et al., 2015; Rathore et al., 2011). In comparison, few clinical trials have been conducted to assess the effects of host-targeted therapies to treat dengue. Of these, the most prominent are the trials of corticosteroid drugs such as prednisolone which act

primarily by influencing NF- κ B signalling (Barnes, 2006). However, trials to date have failed to identify drugs that can be used for the prophylactic or therapeutic treatment of dengue.

Given that the effects of severe dengue are mediated by dysregulated host cell signalling, and that the targeting of host cell signalling remains a largely unexplored avenue in the context of dengue research, I decided to investigate the ability of drugs that target host cell signalling to improve outcomes in *in vivo* models of DENV infection.

As genetic deficiency of cIAPs, which are key transducers of NF- κ B signalling, resulted in decreased viral production in vitro and in vivo (Chapters 4 and 5), I hypothesised that prophylactic treatment of IFNAR^{-/-} mice with LCL-161 prior to DENV infection could potentially reduce viral burden, reduce disease severity and extend survival. LCL-161 treated animals lost significantly more weight than vehicle treated control animals at 24 and 48 hours post-infection, although this difference was not significant at later time points (Figure 5.2A). I did not observe that any differences in weight and temperature (Figure 5.2B). There was a trend towards a decreased time to euthanasia with LCL-161 treatment (Figure 5.2C). It is possible that the weight loss observed with LCL-161 treatment could be related to cytokine release syndrome, as this has been reported as side effect of high dose LCL-161 treatment in human clinical trials (Infante et al., 2014). LCL-161 is generally well tolerated in mice at doses of 100mg/kg e.g. see reports regarding leukaemia by Houghton et al. and myeloma by Chesi et al (Chesi et al., 2016; Houghton, 2012). However, the dose used for this experiment using IFNAR^{-/-} (400mg/kg) was somewhat higher. As animals were euthanised only when they reached a predetermined ethical endpoint, a viral load measurement was not performed, as the number of animals culled at any one time point was small, and therefore statistical comparison of vehicle and LCL-161 datasets would not be possible.

To further explore the effect of pharmacological IAP depletion on DENV infection *in vivo*, I treated MAR1 treated WT animals with one or two doses of LCL-161 (100mg/kg) and analysed the composition of myeloid cell compartments and plasma viral load at 48 hours post infection. While LCL-161 treatment of WT mice with one dose of LCL-161 did not affect cell populations in the blood or spleen (Figure 5.4C-D), treatment of mice with

two doses dramatically decreased myeloid cell populations. Specifically, treatment with two doses of LCL-161 decreased levels of monocytes and dendritic cells in the blood (Figure 5.5C) and levels of monocytes, inflammatory macrophages, granulocytes and dendritic cells in the spleen (5.5D). This decrease in myeloid populations is probably due to cell death, given that cIAP proteins are important transducers of pro-survival NF-kB signalling. These results could therefore indicate that LCL-161 treatment drastically reduced NF-kB signalling in this model of DENV infection. It would be informative to perform future experiments to confirm that this decrease in myeloid populations is due to cell death and not due to a downregulation of myeloid cell markers or a distribution of these cells to neighbouring tissues.

Previously, I hypothesised that a lack of NF-kB signalling could decrease DENV production by reducing the levels of cellular transcriptional activity (Chapters 3 and 4). Moreover, monocytes, macrophages, and dendritic cells are important replicative niches for DENV. Therefore, it was surprising that treatment of WT mice with either one or two doses of LCL-161 did not decrease plasma viral load, relative to WT animals, at 48 hours post infection (Figure 5E). In summary, the results of my genetic deletion studies, which suggest that deficiency of IAPs reduces viral production, and my pharmacological studies, which suggest that deficiency of IAPs do not impact viral production, are non-concordant. Further experiments designed to clarify this important discrepancy are outlined in Chapter 6.

Previously, I observed that c1^{LysM}/cIAP2^{-/-} and TRAF2^{LysM} mice produced much less IFN- α in response DENV infection than WT mice (see Chapter 4). Therefore, it was interesting to see that treatment of WT mice with either one or two doses of LCL-161 also drastically reduced levels of IFN- α following DENV infection. In Chapter 4, I proposed that reduced levels of IFN- α could be due to either a decreased proportion of IFN- α producing myeloid cells in the blood, or due to reduced ubiquitination of components of the RIG-I-MAVS-TRAF3 pathway. The results of my IAP antagonist experiments show that even when mice were treated with one dose of LCL-161, and did not have statistically reduced levels of myeloid cells in blood or spleen (Figure 5.4C and 5.4D), they had plasma levels of IFN- α that were substantially lower than vehicle-treated control animals (Figure 5.6). This suggests that a decreased number of IFN- α producing

148

myeloid cells, in particular potent IFN- α producing plasmacytoid dendritic cells (Swiecki & Colonna, 2015), is not the cause of reduced IFN- α concentrations in the plasma of both genetically and pharmacologically IAP deficient animals. An alternative explanation is that in the absence of cIAPs, a decrease in ubiquitination decreases the activity of the RIG-I-MAVS-TRAF3 signalling axis (see Chapter 4). An outline of future experiments designed to interrogate this experimental hypothesis are presented in Chapter 6.

In addition to my studies on LCL-161, I also investigated the ability of the FDA-approved jakinibs ruxolitinib and tofacitinib to improve disease outcomes in the IFNAR^{-/-} model of severe dengue. Interestingly, treatment of IFNAR^{-/-} mice with high doses of these drugs failed to prevent infection-associated weight loss (Figure 5.8A), or improve the survival of these animals (Figure 5.8C-D).

My decision to treat DENV-infected IFNAR^{-/-} mice with jakinibs was due to the wide array of JAK signalling that is active during severe dengue infection. Mouse models (Shresta et al., 2004; Züst et al., 2014) and human data (Afroz, Giddaluru, Abbas, & Khan, 2016; Kwissa et al., 2014; Zanini et al., 2018) indicate that interferon-signalling plays a key role in dengue infection. In addition to this IL-4, IL-6, IL-10, IL-13, and GM-SCF have been associated with severe dengue and signal via the JAK-STAT pathway (see Chapter 1, Table 3). Therefore, there is definitely hyperactivation of JAK-STAT signalling during cases of severe dengue.

However, many inflammatory mediators that have been reported to play a key role during severe dengue do not signal via the JAK-STAT pathway. The chemokines IL-8, IP-10, MIP-1 β , MCP-1 and RANTES signal via different GPCRs (see Chapter 1, Table 3). TNF signal transduction is via TNFR1 and TNFR2 and stimulates several signalling pathways including NF- κ B whilst signalling of the IL-1 family cytokines IL-1 α and IL-1 β is via IL-1R1 and MyD88. Soluble viral NS1 can ligate TLR4, resulting in signalling via MyD88 and TRIF, and enzymes such as tryptase do not signal via a specific receptor. Therefore, given that there are a large number of pro-inflammatory mediators that do not signal via the JAK-STAT pathway, it is possible that some pro-inflammatory signalling cannot be targeted by this strategy, and this could explain the lack of efficacy of these compounds in the

IFNAR^{-/-} model.

Finally, I used the IFNAR^{-/-} mouse model to examine the effect of TBK1 inhibition on severe dengue. The TBK1 inhibitor WEHI-112 did not improve the survival of DENV2-infected IFNAR-/- mice (Figure 5.9C). One explanation for this is that a certain level of pro-inflammatory TBK1 signalling is required to control DENV infection. In support of this argument, Dalrymple and colleagues reported that NS2A and NS4B could inhibit TBK1 phosphorylation and consequent IFN- β production (Dalrymple, Cimica, & Mackow, 2015).

In conclusion, LCL-161 treatment of IFNAR^{-/-} was not able to improve the survival of these mice. Treatment of MAR1-suppressed WT mice with two doses of LCL-161 was able to reduce numbers of key DENV host cells such as monocytes and dendritic cells. LCL-161 treatment resulted in the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines such as MCP-3 and IL-18, but decreased levels of IFN- α . LCL-161 treatment was not able to reduce viral load. MAR1-suppressed WT animals. Treatment of IFNAR^{-/-} mice with ruxolitinib, tofacitinib and WEHI-112 did not increase the survival of these animals.

Chapter 6 - General Discussion

Dengue is the arbovirus that causes the greatest disease burden worldwide, and can present clinically as a mild or severe form (Messina et al., 2019). Frustratingly, the molecular mechanisms that cause the disease to manifest as a severe rather than mild form are not well understood. Because severe dengue manifests at a time when viral load is steeply declining or absent (Duyen et al., 2011; Fox et al., 2011), and is characterised by a cytokine storm (Rothman, 2011), severe dengue can be defined as a disease of dysregulated host immune signalling. I hypothesised that the genetic deletion of key immune signalling hubs could result in a generalised, hyperactive immune response to DENV infection.

My investigation of genetically-targeted *in vitro* and *in vivo* infection models revealed a reduction in the ability of $c1^{LysM}/cIAP2^{-/-}$ cells and mice to produce virus following infection (Chapters 3-4). The most plausible explanation for this reduced viral production is that DENV requires highly active NF- κ B signalling for efficient replication, and in the absence of IAPs the transcriptional activity of myeloid cells is reduced. This theory is bolstered by the observation that many other viruses such as HTLV-1 and HIV rely on NF- κ B activity for efficient replication (Bachelerie et al., 1991; Z. L. Chu et al., 1999).

The role of NF- κ B in dengue infection has not been clearly defined. Some *in vitro* studies have assigned a pro-apoptotic role to NF- κ B signalling (Lin et al., 2014; Marianneau et al., 1999; Netsawang et al., 2014), and autopsy studies have shown that apoptosis is an active process during dengue infection (Aye et al., 2014; Bhamarapravati et al., 1967; Póvoa et al., 2014). However, the transient and fully reversible nature of severe dengue (World Health Organisation, 2009), implies that any pro-apoptotic role of NF- κ B signalling in dengue pathogenesis is of relatively little consequence. It should also be noted that NF- κ B signalling normally acts to promote cell survival as opposed to cell death (Beg & Baltimore, 1996).

Transcriptome studies have shown that NF- κ B signalling is one of the main pathways activated during dengue fever (J. Fink et al., 2007; Hoang et al., 2010). To my knowledge, only one study has looked at the effect of NF- κ B signalling on DENV replication. Fink 151

and colleagues treated DENV-infected HepG2 cells with dexamethasone (J. Fink et al., 2007). This study found that dexamethasone treatment prevented the expression of the NF- κ B induced chemokines IP-10 and I-TAC, but had no effect on viral replication (J. Fink et al., 2007).

Interestingly, and in agreement with the results of Fink and colleagues, my attempts to disrupt NF- κ B signalling *in vitro* by pharmacological depletion of IAPs or inhibition of NF- κ B in WT cells also did not alter viral production (Chapter 3). Furthermore, *in vivo* LCL-161 treatment of WT mice was also unable to reduce viral load relative to a vehicle-only control (Chapter 5). Therefore, there is a non-concordance in the results I have obtained from c1^{LysM}/cIAP2-^{/-} BMDM and mouse infections (Chapters 3-4), which show that viral production is impaired, and from LCL-161 treated WT BMDMs and mice, which show no defect in viral production (Chapters 3 and 5).

To resolve this apparent contradiction, it would be interesting to determine definitively whether NF- κ B signalling in response to DENV infection is reduced in c1^{LysM}/cIAP2^{-/-} cells compared to WT cells using Western blot analysis to examine phosphorylation for p65 and its nuclear translocation. I could complement this with a similar analysis of LCL-161 treated cells. The caveat with this work is that it focuses on one cell type (BMDMs) and *in vivo* there are likely many cellular compartments that contribute to viral production.

I also observed that the proportion of monocytes in the blood was lower in c1^{LysM}/cIAP2⁻/- mice than for WT controls (Chapter 4). This could indicate that IAP-deficient monocytes are undergoing apoptosis in response to DENV infection, and that this is contributing to the reduction in viral load observed in c1^{LysM}/cIAP2^{-/-} mice *in vivo*. Apoptosis is known to destroy both the host cell and the intracellular pathogen. Evidence to support this notion could be accrued by examining the cellular compartments that produce virus in mice. I could sort a spectrum of cells from WT and gene-targeted mice (monocytes, neutrophils, dendritic cells etc) and determine the number and contribution of viral genomes in each compartment. It would be interesting to determine if c1^{LysM}/cIAP2^{-/-} monocytes *in vivo* are unable to tolerate high levels of viral production compared to WT cells and hence succumb to apoptosis. This would likely be an idiosyncrasy of the *in vivo* system (and physiologically relevant) because

many death ligands are only produced *in vivo* and are absent *in vitro*. Collectively, the aforementioned experiments will provide good mechanistic insight.

To study the role of immune signalling hubs in the cytokine storm phenotype, I characterised cytokine production from gene-targeted BMDMs and mice by using multiplex immunoassays (Chapters 3-4). I found that DENV infection of $c1^{LysM}/cIAP2^{-/-}$ cells and mice resulted in a moderate increase in cytokine production. Specifically, $c1^{LysM}/cIAP2^{-/-}$ cells produced more IL-1 β following infection, whereas $c1^{LysM}/cIAP2^{-/-}$ animals had increased plasma levels of IL-6, RANTES and TNF following infection. Interestingly, WT mice that were treated with LCL-161 upregulated a different set of cytokines upon DENV infection, with IL-18, IL-22 and MCP-3 upregulated when mice were treated with one dose of LCL-161, and IL-5 upregulated when mice were treated with two doses of LCL-161 (Chapter 5). Several recent publications have reported that loss of IAPs may result in the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines through indirect mechanisms (Vince et al., 2012; J. Zhang et al., 2019).

I also observed a striking and consistent decrease in IFN- α production upon infection of c1^{LysM}/cIAP2^{-/-} mice and LCL-161 treated WT mice (Chapters 4-5). Flow cytometry of WT mice treated with a single dose of LCL-161 showed that there was no decrease in the populations of myeloid cells in the spleen or blood (Chapter 5). Therefore, the reduction in interferon could not be attributed simply to a reduction in IFN- α producing cells. I also observed that TRAF2^{LysM} mice also have a deficiency in IFN- α production (Chapter 4). TRAF2 often serves a cytoplasmic scaffold that facilitates the ubiquitin ligase activity of cIAP 1 and cIAP2 (Vallabhapurapu et al., 2008). Given that IAP deletion and possible disruption of cIAP function via loss of TRAF2 results in a common phenotype, I searched for an explanation that could explain these findings. I believe the most likely explanation that is required for efficient induction of type I interferon production by the RIG-I – MAVS signalling axis.

Previously, it has been shown that active RIG-I – MAVS signalling results in the K63linked ubiquitination of TRAF3 (Oganesyan et al., 2006). This ubiquitination is essential for the activation of IKK ε and TBK1 and the production of type I interferon (Oganesyan et al., 2006). K63-linked ubiquitination of TRAF3 has been shown to be directly mediated by cIAP1 and cIAP2 (Mao et al., 2010), and is also mediated by autoubiquitination in a process regulated by DEAD-box helicase 3 (Gu, Fullam, McCormack, Höhn, & Schröder, 2017; P. H. Tseng et al., 2010).

It would be interesting to clarify the role of cIAPs in type I interferon production in response to viral infection. One way to further explore the importance of the cIAPs to this process would be to infect WT and c1^{LysM}/cIAP2^{-/-} BMDMs with DENV, and assess levels of TRAF3 K63-linked ubiquitination. If c1^{LysM}/cIAP2^{-/-} BMDMs had less K63-linked ubiquitination of TRAF3 than WT controls, this would clarify the mechanism by which cIAPs were regulating type I IFN during DENV infection. Another way to examine the role of cIAP-mediated ubiquitination in RIG-I – MAVS signalling and the production of interferon would be to use the MAR1 model that allows a degree of infection of immunocompetent mice. Negative regulation of TRAF3 ubiquitination downstream of MAVS is mediated via deubiquitinating enzyme A (DUBA) (Kayagaki et al., 2007). DUBA removal of K63-linked ubiquitin chains from TRAF3 reduced the interferon response to Sendai virus infection (Kayagaki et al., 2007). Therefore, if TRAF3 ubiquitination was involved in the production of type I interferon in response to DENV infection, infection of DUBA-deficient mice would be expected to result in increased type I interferon production. Therefore, in vitro assessment of cIAP-mediated TRAF3 ubiquitination, and DENV infection of DUBA mice would help to determine whether my hypothesis is correct, and cIAPs are in fact regulating type I interferon production following DENV infection by controlling ubiquitination of the RIG-I – MAVS signalling axis.

One obvious contradiction in my data is that $c1^{LysM}/cIAP2^{-/-}$ mice have a reduced viral load, but also reduced levels of type I interferon (Chapter 4). Given the potent anti-viral effect of type I interferon, it would be reasonable to expect that mice with a reduced level of type I interferon would have a higher viral load than WT controls. There are several points to consider with regards to these findings. Firstly, in mice there are 14 IFN- α subtypes (Gibbert, Schlaak, Yang, & Dittmer, 2013). The beads I used for my multiplex immunoassay detected only IFN- α 2 and IFN- α 4. Therefore, it is possible that while levels of IFN- α 2 and IFN- α 4 are low, there are high levels of other isotypes and/or IFN- β that are being produced that are acting in conjunction with depressed NF- κ B signalling (discussed above) to depress viral load. However, I consider this scenario relatively unlikely, as IFN- α and IFN- β are transcribed early in the anti-viral response and feedback via upregulation of IRF-7 to induce further transcription of multiple IFN- α subtypes and IFN- β (Marie et al., 1998; Sato et al., 1998). Therefore, it is likely that a reduced level of IFN- α 4 would result in a lack of subsequent type I interferon upregulation, and consequently, that a depressed level of IFN- α 2 and IFN- α 4 represents a global reduction in type I interferon levels.

Although the level of type I interferon detected in the plasma of $c1^{LysM}/cIAP2^{-/-}$ at day 2 post infection was significantly lower than WT controls, it was still relatively high (>1000pg/mL). Also, as noted, before, although these mice were treated with MAR1, comparison of viral load of MAR1-treated mice with isotype control-treated mice and IFNAR^{-/-} mice strongly implies that there is a reduced, but not absent, type I interferon signalling active in MAR1-treated DENV-infected mice. Therefore, it is possible that the plasma level of type I interferon in $c1^{LysM}/cIAP2^{-/-}$ was above a threshold level required for control of DENV infection, and this, combined with reduced NF- κ B signalling, was able to reduce viral load below the level observed in WT, MAR1-treated control animals.

In addition to DUBA, another gene that would be interesting to investigate using the MAR1 *in vivo* model is IL-10. IL-10 has been found to be consistently upregulated in severe dengue, as opposed to regular dengue fever (Y. H. Lee et al., 2016; Soo et al., 2017). *in vitro* experiments have shown that IL-10 is produced by monocytes in response to DENV infection, and has been implicated in the stimulation of plasmablast differentiation, IgM secretion and the regulation of RLR signalling via upregulation of SOCS3 (Kwissa et al., 2014; Ubol et al., 2010). However, to the best of my knowledge, no studies have been done to investigate the effect of IL-10 deficiency on DENV infection *in vivo*. IL-10^{-/-} mice are healthy until the age of three months, when they develop colitis, and therefore could be used for this investigation if they were MAR1-treated and infected soon after maturation, i.e. at approximately 6 weeks of age (Berg et al., 2002). However, given that IL-10^{-/-} animals show a marked sensitivity to the TLR4 ligand LPS (Siewe et al., 2006), and given DENV NS1 is a TLR4 ligand (Modhiran et al., 2015), these experiments will need to be conducted with close monitoring of infected animals to ensure proper standards of animal welfare are maintained.

As well as assessing the function of putative host restriction factors in vitro and in vivo, I assessed the potential of several drug compounds to act as dengue therapeutics (Chapter 5). The results of my experiments using LCL-161 I have already discussed above. Here, I will discuss my experiments using the clinical stage JAK inhibitors ruxolitinib and tofacitinib, and the pre-clinical TBK-1 inhibitor WEHI-112 as novel dengue therapeutics. I hypothesised that the broad anti-inflammatory activity of ruxolitinib and tofacitinib could serve to dampen the excessive inflammation observed during DENV infection of IFNAR animals. I demonstrated that high doses of ruxolitinib and tofacitinib could potently block the high level of STAT3 phosphorylation observed during the course of DENV infection of IFNAR^{-/-} animals. However, twice-daily treatment of IFNAR^{-/-} animals with either of these JAK inhibiting compounds did not improve survival outcomes. The lack of benefit observed during ruxolitinib and tofacitinib treatment could be due to an inability of this strategy to suppress pro-inflammatory signalling mediated by non-JAK-STAT pathways (see chapter 5 discussion). In addition, WEHI-112 treatment was unable to improve the survival outcomes of DENV-infected IFNAR^{-/-} animals. Perhaps this is also due to the inability of this compound to block signalling that is not mediated by NF- κ B. Alternatively, perhaps the broader immunosuppressive effect of these drugs is impeding viral clearance which is an important contributor to disease in the models I used. In future experiments it could also be useful to infect these mice with a lower dose of DENV to see whether this might allow potential therapeutic activity of JAK or TBK-1 inhibition to come to the fore.

A caveat to the results produced in this thesis is that all of the results were generated using a single strain of DENV2 (see section 2.2). In the future, it would be desirable to try to repeat key experiments from this thesis using other serotypes of DENV to ensure that the results are broadly applicable, and not specific to DENV2.

Currently, drug trials of several anti-dengue compounds are underway (see Chapter 1). In addition to these trials, several other intervention strategies are being investigated. Release of mosquitoes infected with the bacteria *Wolbachia* has been shown to result in a long-term absence of epidemics in the Australian city of Cairns (Ryan et al., 2019). Furthermore, a Malaysian group reported a decrease in dengue incidence at study sites where *Wolbachia* was released in Kuala Lumpur (Nazni et al., 2019). In addition, although there are issues with the current CYD-TDV dengue vaccine (see Chapter 1), two novel TDVs are currently being developed by the Butantan Institute (São Paolo, Brazil) and the Takeda Pharmaceutical Company (Japan). These vaccines use a similar principle as CYD-TDV but use an attenuated DENV2 backbone in place of the YFV17D backbone (Biswal et al., 2019; Magnani et al., 2017). The hope is that these TDVs will be able to generate a more robust T cell response than CYD-TDV, and there is some evidence for this (H. Chu, George, Stinchcomb, Osorio, & Partidos, 2015; Daniela Weiskopf, Angelo, et al., 2015). Phase III results of a trial of the Takeda vaccine have recently been published, and show promise (Biswal et al., 2019).

Overall, this body of work has characterised the role of several putative host restriction factors, and identified that c1^{LysM}/cIAP2^{-/-} cells and mice produce less virus and higher levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines than WT controls. While my efforts to reduce the clinical signs of dengue in mice were unsuccessful, I hope that the methods that I have established, and the interesting observations that I have made, can lay a foundation for future productive research into anti-inflammatory and anti-viral therapies.

Bibliography

- Adhikari, A., Xu, M., & Chen, Z. J. (2007). Ubiquitin-mediated activation of TAK1 and IKK. *Oncogene*, *26*(22), 3214–3226. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.onc.1210413
- Afroz, S., Giddaluru, J., Abbas, M. M., & Khan, N. (2016). Transcriptome meta-analysis reveals a dysregulation in extra cellular matrix and cell junction associated gene signatures during Dengue virus infection. *Scientific Reports*, 6(September), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep33752
- Aguirre, S., Luthra, P., Sanchez-Aparicio, M. T., Maestre, A. M., Patel, J., Lamothe, F., ... Fernandez-Sesma, A. (2017). Dengue virus NS2B protein targets cGAS for degradation and prevents mitochondrial DNA sensing during infection. *Nature Microbiology*, 2(March), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1038/nmicrobiol.2017.37
- Alexander, W. S., Starr, R., Fenner, J. E., Scott, C. L., Handman, E., Sprigg, N. S., ... Hilton, D. J. (1999). SOCS1 is a critical inhibitor of interferon γ signaling and prevents the potentially fatal neonatal actions of this cytokine. *Cell*, *98*(5), 597–608. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0092-8674(00)80047-1
- Anantapreecha, S., Chanama, S., A-Nuegoonpipat, A., Naemkhunthot, S., Sa-Ngasang, A., Sawanpanyalert, P., & Kurane, I. (2005). Serological and virological features of dengue fever and dengue haemorrhagic fever in Thailand from 1999 to 2002. *Epidemiology and Infection*, 133(3), 503–507. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0950268804003541
- Ashour, J., Morrison, J., Laurent-Rolle, M., Belicha-Villanueva, A., Plumlee, C. R., Bernal-Rubio, D., ... Garc??a-Sastre,
 A. (2010). Mouse STAT2 restricts early dengue virus replication. *Cell Host and Microbe*, *8*(5), 410–421. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chom.2010.10.007
- Atrasheuskaya, A., Petzelbauer, P., Fredeking, T. M., & Ignatyev, G. (2003). Anti-TNF antibody treatment reduces mortality in experimental dengue virus infection. *FEMS Immunology and Medical Microbiology*, 35(1), 33–42. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0928-8244(02)00424-8
- Auffray, C., Sieweke, M. H., & Geissmann, F. (2009). Blood monocytes: development, heterogeneity, and relationship with dendritic cells. *Annual Review of Immunology*, 27, 669–692. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.immunol.021908.132557
- Avirutnan, P., Malasit, P., Seliger, B., Bhakdi, S., & Husmann, M. (1998). Dengue virus infection of human endothelial cells leads to chemokine production, complement activation, and apoptosis. *The Journal of Immunology*, *161*.
 Retrieved from http://www.jimmunol.org/content/161/11/6338.short
- Aye, K. S., Charngkaew, K., Win, N., Wai, K. Z., Moe, K., Punyadee, N., ... Halstead, S. B. (2014). Pathologic highlights of dengue hemorrhagic fever in 13 autopsy cases from Myanmar. *Human Pathology*, 45(6), 1221–1233. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.humpath.2014.01.022
- Babon, J. J., Varghese, L. N., & Nicola, N. A. (2014). Inhibition of IL-6 family cytokines by SOCS3. Seminars in Immunology, 26(1), 13–19. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.smim.2013.12.004

- Bachelerie, F., Alcami, J., Arenzana-Seisdedos, F., & Virelizier, J.-L. (1991). HIV enhancer activity perpetuated by NF ·KB induction on infection of monocytes. *Nature*, *350*(April). https://doi.org/10.1038/nature03148.
- Baek, S. H., Ohgi, K. A., Rose, D. W., Koo, E. H., Glass, C. K., & Rosenfeld, M. G. (2002). Exchange of N-CoR corepressor and Tip60 coactivator complexes links gene expression by NF-κB and β-amyloid precursor protein. *Cell*, 110(1), 55–67. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0092-8674(02)00809-7
- Balinsky, C. A., Schmeisser, H., Wells, A. I., Ganesan, S., Jin, T., Singh, K., & Zoon, K. (2017). IRAV (FLJ11286), an Interferon- Stimulated Gene with Antiviral Activity against Dengue Virus, Interacts with MOV10. *Journal of Virology*, *91*(5).
- Balsitis, S. J., Coloma, J., Castro, G., Alava, A., Flores, D., McKerrow, J. H., ... Harris, E. (2009). Tropism of dengue virus in mice and humans defined by viral nonstructural protein 3-specific immunostaining. *American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene*, *80*(3), 416–424. https://doi.org/80/3/416 [pii]
- Banerjee, A., Shukla, S., Pandey, A. D., Goswami, S., Bandyopadhyay, B., Ramachandran, V., ... Vrati, S. (2017). RNA-Seq analysis of peripheral blood mononuclear cells reveals unique transcriptional signatures associated with disease progression in dengue patients. *Translational Research*, 186, 62-78.e9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trsl.2017.06.007
- Barnes, P. J. (2006). Corticosteroid effects on cell signalling. *European Respiratory Journal*, 27(2), 413–426. https://doi.org/10.1183/09031936.06.00125404
- Beatty, P. R., Puerta-Guardo, H., Killingbeck, S. S., Glasner, D. R., Hopkins, K., & Harris, E. (2015). Dengue virus NS1 triggers endothelial permeability and vascular leak that is prevented by NS1 vaccination. *Science Translational Medicine*, 7(304), 304ra141. https://doi.org/10.1126/scitranslmed.aaa3787
- Beg, A. A., & Baltimore, D. (1996). An Essential Role For NF-kB in Preventing TNFa-Induced Cell Death. *Science*, 274(November), 782–785.
- Beg, A. A., Sha, W. C., Bronsont, R. T., Ghosht, S., & Baltimore, D. (1995). Embryonic lethality and liver degeneration in mice lacking the RelA component of NF-KB. *Nature*, 376(July), 167–170.
- Berg, D. J., Zhang, J., Weinstock, J. V., Ismail, H. F., Earle, K. A., Alila, H., ... Lynch, R. G. (2002). Rapid development of colitis in NSAID-treated IL-10-deficient mice. *Gastroenterology*, *123*(5), 1527–1542. https://doi.org/10.1053/gast.2002.1231527
- Bertrand, M. J. M., Milutinovic, S., Dickson, K. M., Ho, W. C., Boudreault, A., Durkin, J., ... Barker, P. A. (2008). cIAP1 and cIAP2 Facilitate Cancer Cell Survival by Functioning as E3 Ligases that Promote RIP1 Ubiquitination. *Molecular Cell*, 30(6), 689–700. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2008.05.014
- Bhamarapravati, N., Tuchinda, P., & Boonyapaknavik, V. (1967). Pathology of Thailand haemorrhagic fever: a study of 100 autopsy cases. *Annals of Tropical Medicine and Parasitology*, *61*(4), 500–510.
- Bhatt, S., Gething, P. W., Brady, O. J., Messina, J. P., Farlow, A. W., Moyes, C. L., ... Hay, S. I. (2013). The global
distribution and burden of dengue. Nature, 496(7446), 504-507. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature12060

- Bissonnette, R., Papp, K. A., Poulin, Y., Gooderham, M., Raman, M., Mallbris, L., ... Ports, W. C. (2016). Topical tofacitinib for atopic dermatitis: a phase IIa randomized trial. *British Journal of Dermatology*, 175(5), 902–911. https://doi.org/10.1111/bjd.14871
- Biswal, S., Reynales, H., Llorens, X. S., Lopez, P., Tabora, C. B., Kosalaraksa, P., ... Wallace, D. (2019). Efficacy of a tetravalent dengue vaccine in healthy children and adolescents. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 381(21), 2009–2019. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1903869
- Bjørbaek, C., Elmquist, J. K., Daniel Frantz, † J, Shoelson, S. E., & Flier, J. S. (1998). Identification of SOCS-3 as a Potential Mediator of Central Leptin Resistance cytokine-like signal transduction by stimulating the JAK-STAT pathway via the long leptin receptor isoform (Bau-mann et al. *Molecular Cell*, 1, 619–625.
- Blackley, S., Kou, Z., Chen, H., Quinn, M., Rose, R. C., Schlesinger, J. J., ... Jin, X. (2007). Primary human splenic macrophages, but not T or B cells, are the principal target cells for dengue virus infection in vitro. *Journal of Virology*, *81*(24), 13325–13334. https://doi.org/10.1128/JVI.01568-07
- Bohuslav, J., Kravchenko, V. V., Parry, G. C. N., Erlich, J. H., Gerondakis, S., Mackman, N., & Ulevitch, R. J. (1998). Regulation of an essential innate immune response by the p50 subunit of NF-κB. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, *102*(9), 1645–1652. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI3877
- Bonnard, M., Mirtsos, C., Suzuki, S., Graham, K., Huang, J., Ng, M., ... Yeh, W. (2000). Deficiency of T2K leads to apoptotic liver degeneration and impaired NFKB dependent gene transcription. *The EMBO Journal*, *19*(18).
- Bozza, F. A., Cruz, O. G., Zagne, S. M. O., Azeredo, E. L., Nogueira, R. M. R., Assis, E. F., ... Kubelka, C. F. (2008). Multiplex cytokine profile from dengue patients: MIP-1beta and IFN-gamma as predictive factors for severity. BMC Infectious Diseases, 8, 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2334-8-86
- Brennan, M. A., & Cookson, B. T. (2000). Salmonella induces macrophage death by caspase-1-dependent necrosis. Molecular Microbiology, 38(1), 31–40. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2958.2000.02103.x
- Campos, J. L. S., Mongkolsapaya, J., & Screaton, G. R. (2018). The immune response against flaviviruses. *Nature Immunology*, *19*(November), 1189–1198. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41590-018-0210-3
- Cao, X., Shores, E. W., Hu-Li, J., Anver, M. R., Kelsail, B. L., Russell, S. M., ... Leonard, W. J. (1995). Defective lymphoid development in mice lacking expression of the common cytokine receptor γ chain. *Immunity*, 2(3), 223–238. https://doi.org/10.1016/1074-7613(95)90047-0
- Capeding, M. R., Tran, N. H., Hadinegoro, S. R. S., Ismail, H. I. H. M., Chotpitayasunondh, T., Chua, M. N., ... Bouckenooghe, A. (2014). Clinical efficacy and safety of a novel tetravalent dengue vaccine in healthy children in Asia: A phase 3, randomised, observer-masked, placebo-controlled trial. *The Lancet*, 384(9951), 1358–1365. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(14)61060-6

Carlin, A. F., Plummer, E. M., Vizcarra, E. A., Sheets, N., Joo, Y., Tang, W., ... Shresta, S. (2017). An IRF-3-, IRF-5-, and

IRF-7-Independent Pathway of Dengue Viral Resistance Utilizes IRF-1 to Stimulate Type I and II Interferon Responses. *Cell Reports*, *21*(6), 1600–1612. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2017.10.054

- Carow, B., Reuschl, A. K., Gavier-Widén, D., Jenkins, B. J., Ernst, M., Yoshimura, A., ... Rottenberg, M. E. (2013). Critical and Independent Role for SOCS3 in Either Myeloid or T Cells in Resistance to Mycobacterium tuberculosis. *PLoS Pathogens*, 9(7). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.ppat.1003442
- Castillo, J. A., Castrillón, J. C., Diosa-Toro, M., Betancur, J. G., St Laurent, G., Smit, J. M., & Urcuqui-Inchima, S. (2016). Complex interaction between dengue virus replication and expression of miRNA-133a. *BMC Infectious Diseases*, *16*(1), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12879-016-1364-y
- Cerny, D., Haniffa, M., Shin, A., Bigliardi, P., Tan, B. K., Lee, B., ... Fink, K. (2014). Selective Susceptibility of Human Skin Antigen Presenting Cells to Productive Dengue Virus Infection. *PLoS Pathogens*, 10(12). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.ppat.1004548
- Chappell, D., Dörfler, N., Jacob, M., Rehm, M., Welsch, U., Conzen, P., & Becker, B. F. (2010). Glycocalyx protection reduces leukocyte adhesion after ischemia/reperfusion. *Shock*, 34(2), 133–139. https://doi.org/10.1097/SHK.0b013e3181cdc363
- Chappell, D., Jacob, M., Hofmann-Kiefer, K., Bruegger, D., Rehm, M., Conzen, P., ... Becker, B. F. (2007). Hydrocortisone preserves the vascular barrier by protecting the endothelial glycocalyx. *Anesthesiology*, *107*(5), 776–784. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.anes.0000286984.39328.96
- Chazal, M., Beauclair, G., Gracias, S., Najburg, V., Simon-Lorière, E., Tangy, F., ... Jouvenet, N. (2018). RIG-I Recognizes the 5' Region of Dengue and Zika Virus Genomes. *Cell Reports*, *24*(2), 320–328. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2018.06.047
- Chen, H.-C., Hofman, F. M., Kung, J. T., Lin, Y.-D., & Wu-Hsieh, B. a. (2007). Both virus and tumor necrosis factor alpha are critical for endothelium damage in a mouse model of dengue virus-induced hemorrhage. *Journal of Virology*, *81*(11), 5518–5526. https://doi.org/10.1128/JVI.02575-06
- Chen, H.-W., King, K., Tu, J., Sanchez, M., Luster, A. D., & Shresta, S. (2013). The Roles of IRF-3 and IRF-7 in Innate Antiviral Immunity against Dengue Virus. *The Journal of Immunology*, *191*(8), 4194–4201. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.1300799
- Chen, J.-P., Lu, H.-L., Lai, S.-L., Campanella, G. S., Sung, J.-M., Lu, M.-Y., ... Liao, F. (2006). Dengue Virus Induces Expression of CXC Chemokine Ligand 10/IFN- -Inducible Protein 10, Which Competitively Inhibits Viral Binding to Cell Surface Heparan Sulfate. *The Journal of Immunology*, *177*(5), 3185–3192. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.177.5.3185
- Chen, K. F., Lin, J. P., Shiau, C. W., Tai, W. T., Liu, C. Y., Yu, H. C., ... Cheng, A. L. (2012). Inhibition of Bcl-2 improves effect of LCL161, a SMAC mimetic, in hepatocellular carcinoma cells. *Biochemical Pharmacology*, *84*(3), 268– 277. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bcp.2012.04.023

Chen, Q., Sun, L., & Chen, Z. J. (2016). Regulation and function of the cGAS-STING pathway of cytosolic DNA sensing.

Nature Immunology. https://doi.org/10.1038/ni.3558

- Chen, X., Williams, W. V., Sandor, V., & Yeleswaram, S. (2013). Population pharmacokinetic analysis of orallyadministered ruxolitinib (incb018424 phosphate) in patients with primary myelofibrosis (pmf), postpolycythemia vera myelofibrosis (PPV-MF) or post-essential thrombocythemia myelofibrosis (PET MF). *Journal of Clinical Pharmacology*, 53(7), 721–730. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcph.102
- Chen, Y.-C., & Wang, S.-Y. (2002). Activation of terminally differentiated human monocytes/macrophages by dengue virus: productive infection, hierarchical production of innate cytokines and chemokines, and the synergistic effect of lipopolysaccharide. *Journal of Virology*, *76*(19), 9877–9887. https://doi.org/10.1128/JVI.76.19.9877-9887.2002
- Chesi, M., Mirza, N. N., Garbitt, V. M., Sharik, M. E., Dueck, A. C., Asmann, Y. W., ... Bergsagel, P. L. (2016). IAP antagonists induce anti-tumor immunity in multiple myeloma. *Nature Medicine*, *22*(12), 1411–1420. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm.4229
- Cheung, K. T., Sze, D. M. yuen, Chan, K. H., & Leung, P. H. mei. (2018). Involvement of caspase-4 in IL-1 beta production and pyroptosis in human macrophages during dengue virus infection. *Immunobiology*, 223(4–5), 356–364. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.imbio.2017.10.044
- Chu, H., George, S. L., Stinchcomb, D. T., Osorio, J. E., & Partidos, C. D. (2015). CD8+ T-cell responses in flavivirus-naive individuals following immunization with a live-attenuated tetravalent dengue vaccine candidate. *Journal of Infectious Diseases*, 212(10), 1618–1628. https://doi.org/10.1093/infdis/jiv258
- Chu, Z. L., Shin, Y. A., Yang, J. M., DiDonato, J. A., & Ballard, D. W. (1999). ΙΚΚγ mediates the interaction of cellular IκB kinases with the Tax transforming protein of human T cell leukemia virus type 1. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 274(22), 15297–15300. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.274.22.15297
- Ciesielski, C. J., Andreakos, E., Foxwell, B. M. J., & Feldmann, M. (2002). TNFα-induced macrophage chemokine secretion is more dependent on NF-κB expression than lipopolysaccharides-induced macrophage chemokine secretion. *European Journal of Immunology*, 32(7), 2037–2045. https://doi.org/10.1002/1521-4141(200207)32:7<2037::AID-IMMU2037>3.0.CO;2-I
- Clausen, B. E., Burkhardt, C., Reith, W., Renkawitz, R., & Förster, I. (1999). Conditional gene targeting in macrophages and granulocytes using LysMcre mice. *Transgenic Research*, 8(4), 265–277. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1008942828960
- Conte, D., Holcik, M., Lefebvre, C. A., Lacasse, E., Picketts, D. J., Wright, K. E., & Korneluk, R. G. (2006). Inhibitor of Apoptosis Protein cIAP2 Is Essential for Lipopolysaccharide-Induced Macrophage Survival, *26*(2), 699–708. https://doi.org/10.1128/MCB.26.2.699
- Conze, D. B., Albert, L., Ferrick, D. A., Goeddel, D. V., Yeh, W.-C., Mak, T., & Ashwell, J. D. (2005). Posttranscriptional Downregulation of c-IAP2 by the Ubiquitin Protein Ligase c-IAP1 In Vivo. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, 25(8), 3348–3356. https://doi.org/10.1128/MCB.25.8.3348-3356.2005

- Couvelard, A., Marianneau, P., Bedel, C., Drouet, M. T., Vachon, F., Hénin, D., & Deubel, V. (1999). Report of a fatal case of dengue infection with hepatitis: Demonstration of dengue antigens in hepatocytes and liver apoptosis. *Human Pathology*, *30*(9), 1106–1110. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0046-8177(99)90230-7
- Croker, B. A., Kiu, H., Pellegrini, M., Toe, J., Preston, S., Metcalf, D., ... Roberts, A. W. (2012). IL-6 promotes acute and chronic inflammatory disease in the absence of SOCS3. *Immunology and Cell Biology*, *90*(1), 124–129. https://doi.org/10.1038/icb.2011.29
- Croker, B. A., Krebs, D. L., Zhang, J. G., Wormald, S., Willson, T. A., Stanley, E. G., ... Alexander, W. S. (2003). SOCS3 negatively regulates IL-6 signaling in vivo. *Nature Immunology*, 4(6), 540–545. https://doi.org/10.1038/ni931
- Croker, B. A., Metcalf, D., Robb, L., Wei, W., Mifsud, S., DiRago, L., ... Roberts, A. W. (2004). SOCS3 Is a Critical Physiological Negative Regulator of G-CSF Signaling and Emergency Granulopoiesis. *Immunity*, *20*(2), 153–165. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1074-7613(04)00022-6
- Croker, B. a, Kiu, H., Pellegrini, M., Toe, J., Preston, S., Metcalf, D., ... Roberts, A. W. (2012). IL-6 promotes acute and chronic inflammatory disease in the absence of SOCS3. *Immunology and Cell Biology*, *90*(1), 124–129. https://doi.org/10.1038/icb.2011.29
- Dalrymple, N. a, Cimica, V., & Mackow, E. R. (2015). Dengue Virus NS Proteins Inhibit RIG-I / MAVS Signaling by Blocking TBK1 / IRF3 Phosphorylation : Dengue Virus Serotype 1 NS4A Is a Unique Interferon-Regulating Virulence Determinant. *MBio*, 6(3), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1128/mBio.00553-15.Editor
- Dansako, H., Yamane, D., Welsch, C., McGivern, D. R., Hu, F., Kato, N., & Lemon, S. M. (2013). Class A Scavenger
 Receptor 1 (MSR1) Restricts Hepatitis C Virus Replication by Mediating Toll-like Receptor 3 Recognition of Viral
 RNAs Produced in Neighboring Cells. *PLoS Pathogens*, *9*(5), 1–14.
 https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.ppat.1003345
- De La Cruz Hernández, S. I., Puerta-Guardo, H., Flores-Aguilar, H., González-Mateos, S., López-Martinez, I., Ortiz-Navarrete, V., ... Del Angel, R. M. (2014). A strong interferon response correlates with a milder dengue clinical condition. *Journal of Clinical Virology*, 60(3), 196–199. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcv.2014.04.002
- de Veer, M. J., Holko, M., Frevel, M., Walker, E., Der, S., Paranjape, J. M., ... Williams, B. R. G. (2001). Functional classification of interferon-stimulated genes identified using microarrays. *Journal of Leukocyte Biology*, 69, 0. https://doi.org/10.1189/jlb.69.6.912
- De Wispelaere, M., Carocci, M., Liang, Y., Liu, Q., Sun, E., Vetter, M. L., ... Yang, N. S. (2016). Discovery of host-targeted covalent inhibitors of dengue virus. *Antiviral Research*, *139*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.antiviral.2016.12.017
- Deshmane, S. L., Kremlev, S., Amini, S., & Sawaya, B. E. (2009). Monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 (MCP-1): An overview. *Journal of Interferon and Cytokine Research*, *29*(6), 313–325. https://doi.org/10.1089/jir.2008.0027
- Dewi, B. E., Takasaki, T., & Kurane, I. (2004). In vitro assessment of human endothelial cell permeability: Effects of inflammatory cytokines and dengue virus infection. *Journal of Virological Methods*, *121*(2), 171–180. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jviromet.2004.06.013

- Dinarello, C. A. (2013). Overview of the interleukin-1 family of ligands and receptors. *Seminars in Immunology*, 25(6), 389–393. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.smim.2013.10.001
- Diosa-Toro, M., Echavarría-Consuegra, L., Flipse, J., Fernández, G. J., Kluiver, J., van den Berg, A., ... Smit, J. M. (2017). MicroRNA profiling of human primary macrophages exposed to dengue virus identifies miRNA-3614-5p as antiviral and regulator of ADAR1 expression. *PLoS Neglected Tropical Diseases*, *11*(10), 1–24. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pntd.0005981
- Doerflinger, M., Deng, Y., Whitney, P., Strasser, A., Bedoui, S., & Herold, M. J. (2020). Flexible Usage and Interconnectivity of Diverse Cell Death Pathways Protect against Intracellular Infection Flexible Usage and Interconnectivity of Diverse Cell Death Pathways Protect against Intracellular Infection. *Immunity*, 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2020.07.004
- Dowty, M. E., Jesson, M. I., Ghosh, S., Lee, J., Meyer, D. M., Krishnaswami, S., & Kishore, N. (2013). Preclinical to Clinical Translation of Tofacitinib, a Janus Kinase Inhibitor, in Rheumatoid Arthritis. *Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics*, 348(1), 165–173. https://doi.org/10.1124/jpet.113.209304
- Duque, G. A., & Descoteaux, A. (2014). Macrophage cytokines: Involvement in immunity and infectious diseases. *Frontiers in Immunology*, 5(OCT), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2014.00491
- Durbin, A. P., Vargas, M. J., Wanionek, K., Hammond, S. N., Gordon, A., Rocha, C., ... Harris, E. (2008). Phenotyping of peripheral blood mononuclear cells during acute dengue illness demonstrates infection and increased activation of monocytes in severe cases compared to classic dengue fever. *Virology*, *376*(2), 429–435. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.virol.2008.03.028
- Duyen, H. T. L., Ngoc, T. V., Ha, D. T., Hang, V. T. T., Kieu, N. T. T., Young, P. R., ... Wills, B. A. (2011). Kinetics of plasma viremia and soluble nonstructural protein 1 concentrations in dengue: Differential effects according to serotype and immune status. *Journal of Infectious Diseases*, 203(9), 1292–1300. https://doi.org/10.1093/infdis/jir014
- Dynek, J. N., Goncharov, T., Dueber, E. C., Fedorova, A. V., Izrael-Tomasevic, A., Phu, L., ... Vucic, D. (2010). C-IAP1 and UbcH5 promote K11-linked polyubiquitination of RIP1 in TNF signalling. *EMBO Journal*, *29*(24), 4198–4209. https://doi.org/10.1038/emboj.2010.300
- Ea, C. K., Deng, L., Xia, Z. P., Pineda, G., & Chen, Z. J. (2006). Activation of IKK by TNFα Requires Site-Specific Ubiquitination of RIP1 and Polyubiquitin Binding by NEMO. *Molecular Cell*, 22(2), 245–257. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2006.03.026
- Ebert, G., Allison, C., Preston, S., Cooney, J., Toe, J. G., Stutz, M. D., ... Pellegrini, M. (2015). Eliminating hepatitis B by antagonizing cellular inhibitors of apoptosis. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 112(18), 201502400. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1502400112
- Eckelman, B. P., & Salvesen, G. S. (2006). The human anti-apoptotic proteins cIAP1 and cIAP2 bind but do not inhibit caspases. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, *281*(6), 3254–3260. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M510863200

- Escalera-Cueto, M., Medina-Martínez, I., del Angel, R. M., Berumen-Campos, J., Gutiérrez-Escolano, A. L., & Yocupicio-Monroy, M. (2015). Let-7c overexpression inhibits dengue virus replication in human hepatoma Huh-7 cells. *Virus Research*, *196*, 105–112. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.virusres.2014.11.010
- Espina, L. M., Valero, N. J., Hernández, J. M., & Mosquera, J. a. (2003). Increased apoptosis and expression of tumor necrosis factor-alpha caused by infection of cultured human monocytes with dengue virus. *The American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene*, *68*(1), 48–53.
- Etemadi, N., Chopin, M., Anderton, H., Tanzer, M. C., Rickard, J. A., Abeysekera, W., ... Silke, J. (2015). TRAF2 regulates TNF and NF-κB signalling to suppress apoptosis and skin inflammation independently of sphingosine kinase. *ELife*, 4(DECEMBER2015), 1–27. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.10592
- Fagundes, C. T., Costa, V. V., Cisalpino, D., Amaral, F. A., Souza, P. R. S., Souza, R. S., ... Teixeira, M. M. (2011). IFN-γ production depends on IL-12 and IL-18 combined action and mediates host resistance to dengue virus infection in a nitric oxide-dependent manner. *PLoS Neglected Tropical Diseases*, 5(12). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pntd.0001449
- Farias, K. J. S., Machado, P. R. L., Muniz, J. A. P. C., Imbeloni, A. A., & Da Fonseca, B. A. L. (2015). Antiviral activity of chloroquine against dengue virus type 2 replication in aotus monkeys. *Viral Immunology*, 28(3), 161–169. https://doi.org/10.1089/vim.2014.0090
- Faure, E., Lecine, P., Imbert, J., & Champion, S. (1996). Activation of the HIV type 1 long terminal repeat by Xirradiation involves two main Rel/NF-κB DNA-binding complexes. AIDS Research and Human Retroviruses, 12(16), 1519–1527. https://doi.org/10.1089/aid.1996.12.1519
- Feltham, R., & Silke, J. (2017). The small molecule that packs a punch: Ubiquitin-mediated regulation of RIPK1/FADD/caspase-8 complexes. *Cell Death and Differentiation*, 24(7), 1196–1204. https://doi.org/10.1038/cdd.2017.67
- Fink, J., Gu, F., Ling, L., Tolfvenstam, T., Olfat, F., Chin, K. C., ... Hibberd, M. L. (2007). Host gene expression profiling of dengue virus infection in cell lines and patients. *PLoS Neglected Tropical Diseases*, 1(2). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pntd.0000086
- Fink, K., Lang, K. S., Manjarrez-Orduno, N., Junt, T., Senn, B. M., Holdener, M., ... Hengartner, H. (2006). Early type I interferon-mediated signals on B cells specifically enhance antiviral humoral responses. *European Journal of Immunology*, 36(8), 2094–2105. https://doi.org/10.1002/eji.200635993
- Fox, A., Hoa, L. N. M., Simmons, C. P., Wolbers, M., Wertheim, H. F. L., Khuong, P. T., ... van Kinh, N. (2011). Immunological and viral determinants of dengue severity in hospitalized adults in Ha Noi, Viet Nam. *PLoS Neglected Tropical Diseases*, 5(3), 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pntd.0000967
- Friberg, H., Bashyam, H., Toyosaki-Maeda, T., Potts, J. A., Greenough, T., Kalayanarooj, S., ... Mathew, A. (2011). Crossreactivity and expansion of dengue-specific T cells during acute primary and secondary infections in humans. *Scientific Reports*, 1, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep00051

- Fujita, T., Nolan, G. P., Ghosh, S., & Baltimore, D. (1992). Independent modes of transcriptional activation by the p50 and p65 subunits of NF-κB. *Genes and Development*, *6*(5), 775–787. https://doi.org/10.1101/gad.6.5.775
- Gandini, M., Gras, C., Azeredo, E. L., Pinto, L. M. D. O., Smith, N., Despres, P., ... Herbeuval, J. P. (2013). Dengue Virus Activates Membrane TRAIL Relocalization and IFN-α Production by Human Plasmacytoid Dendritic Cells In Vitro and In Vivo. *PLoS Neglected Tropical Diseases*, 7(6). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pntd.0002257
- Gardam, S., Turner, V. M., Anderton, H., Limaye, S., Basten, A., Koentgen, F., ... Brink, R. (2011). Deletion of cIAP1 and cIAP2 in murine B lymphocytes constitutively activates cell survival pathways and inactivates the germinal center response. *Blood*, 117(15), 4041–4051. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2010-10-312793
- Gavard, J., & Gutkind, J. S. (2006). VEGF Controls endothelial-cell permeability promoting β-arrestin-dependent Endocytosis VE-cadherin. *Nature Cell Biology*, *8*(11), 1223–1234. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncb1486
- Gerlach, B., Cordier, S. M., Schmukle, A. C., Emmerich, C. H., Rieser, E., Haas, T. L., ... Walczak, H. (2011). Linear ubiquitination prevents inflammation and regulates immune signalling. *Nature*, 471(7340), 591–596. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature09816
- Gerszten, R. E., Garcia-Zepeda, E. A., Lim, Y. C., Yoshida, M., Ding, H. A., Gimbrone, M. A., ... Rosenzwelg, A. (1999).
 MCP-1 and IL-8 trigger firm adhesion of monocytes to vascular endothelium under flow conditions. *Nature*, 398(6729), 718–725. https://doi.org/10.1038/19546
- Ghoreschi, K., Jesson, M. I., Li, X., Lee, J. L., Ghosh, S., Alsup, J. W., ... O'Shea, J. J. (2011). Modulation of Innate and Adaptive Immune Responses by Tofacitinib (CP-690,550). *The Journal of Immunology*, *186*(7), 4234–4243. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.1003668
- Gibbert, K., Schlaak, J. F., Yang, D., & Dittmer, U. (2013). IFN-α subtypes: Distinct biological activities in anti-viral therapy. *British Journal of Pharmacology*, *168*(5), 1048–1058. https://doi.org/10.1111/bph.12010
- Giles, E. M., Sanders, T. J., McCarthy, N. E., Lung, J., Pathak, M., MacDonald, T. T., ... Stagg, A. J. (2016). Regulation of human intestinal T-cell responses by type 1 interferon-STAT1 signaling is disrupted in inflammatory bowel disease. *Mucosal Immunology*, (November 2015), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1038/mi.2016.44
- Giovannoni, F., Damonte, E. B., & García, C. C. (2015). Cellular promyelocytic leukemia protein is an important dengue virus restriction factor. *PLoS ONE*, *10*(5), 1–17. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0125690
- Glasner, D. R., Ratnasiri, K., Puerta-Guardo, H., Espinosa, D. A., Beatty, P. R., & Harris, E. (2017). Dengue virus NS1 cytokine-independent vascular leak is dependent on endothelial glycocalyx components. *PLoS Pathogens*, 13(11), 1–22. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.ppat.1006673
- Gonzalvez, F., Lawrence, D., Yang, B., Yee, S., Pitti, R., Marsters, S., ... Ashkenazi, A. (2012). TRAF2 Sets a Threshold for Extrinsic Apoptosis by Tagging Caspase-8 with a Ubiquitin Shutoff Timer. *Molecular Cell, 48*(6), 888–899. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2012.09.031

Gough, D. J., Messina, N. L., Clarke, C. J. P., Johnstone, R. W., & Levy, D. E. (2012). Constitutive Type I Interferon

Modulates Homeostatic Balance through Tonic Signaling. *Immunity*, *36*(2), 166–174. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2012.01.011

- Govero, J., Esakky, P., Scheaffer, S. M., Fernandez, E., Drury, A., Platt, D. J., ... Diamond, M. S. (2016). Zika virus infection damages the testes in mice. *Nature*, *540*(7633), 438–442. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature20556
- Grech, A. P., Amesbury, M., Chan, T., Gardam, S., Basten, A., & Brink, R. (2004). TRAF2 differentially regulates the canonical and noncanonical pathways of NF-κB activation in mature B cells. *Immunity*, *21*(5), 629–642. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2004.09.011
- Green, A. M., Beatty, P. R., Hadjilaou, A., & Harris, E. (2014). Innate immunity to dengue virus infection and subversion of antiviral responses. *Journal of Molecular Biology*, 426(6), 1148–1160. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmb.2013.11.023
- Griffith, J. W., Sokol, C. L., & Luster, A. D. (2014). Chemokines and chemokine receptors: positioning cells for host defense and immunity. *Annual Review of Immunology*, 32, 659–702. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurevimmunol-032713-120145
- Gu, L., Fullam, A., McCormack, N., Höhn, Y., & Schröder, M. (2017). DDX3 directly regulates TRAF3 ubiquitination and acts as a scaffold to co-ordinate assembly of signalling complexes downstream from MAVS. *Biochemical Journal*, 474(4), 571–587. https://doi.org/10.1042/BCJ20160956
- Guilliams, M., Bruhns, P., Saeys, Y., Hammad, H., & Lambrecht, B. N. (2014). The function of Fcy receptors in dendritic cells and macrophages. *Nature Reviews. Immunology*, *14*(2), 94–108. https://doi.org/10.1038/nri3582
- Guzman, M. G., Alvarez, M., Rodriguez-Roche, R., Bernardo, L., Montes, T., Vazquez, S., ... Halstead, S. B. (2007).
 Neutralizing antibodies after infection with dengue 1 virus. *Emerging Infectious Diseases*, *13*(2), 282–286.
 https://doi.org/10.3201/eid1302.060539
- Haas, T. L., Emmerich, C. H., Gerlach, B., Schmukle, A. C., Cordier, S. M., Rieser, E., ... Walczak, H. (2009). Recruitment of the Linear Ubiquitin Chain Assembly Complex Stabilizes the TNF-R1 Signaling Complex and Is Required for TNF-Mediated Gene Induction. *Molecular Cell*, 36(5), 831–844. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2009.10.013
- Hafirassou, M. L., Meertens, L., Umaña-Diaz, C., Labeau, A., Dejarnac, O., Bonnet-Madin, L., ... Amara, A. (2017). A
 Global Interactome Map of the Dengue Virus NS1 Identifies Virus Restriction and Dependency Host Factors.
 Cell Reports, *21*(13), 3900–3913. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2017.11.094
- Hakemi, M., Eskandari, N., Yazdani, R., Farahani, R., & Sherkat, R. (2014). Cytokines (interleukin-9, IL-17, IL-22, IL-25 and IL-33) and asthma. *Advanced Biomedical Research*, *3*(1), 127. https://doi.org/10.4103/2277-9175.133249
- Halstead, S. B. (2019). Recent advances in understanding dengue. F1000Research, 8. https://doi.org/10.12688/f1000research.17242.1
- Harrison, C., Kiladjian, J.-J., Al-Ali, H. K., Gisslinger, H., Waltzman, R., Stalbovskaya, V., ... Barosi, G. (2012). JAK Inhibition with Ruxolitinib versus Best Available Therapy for Myelofibrosis. *New England Journal of Medicine*,

366(9), 787-798.

- Helbig, K. J., Carr, J. M., Calvert, J. K., Wati, S., Clarke, J. N., Eyre, N. S., ... Beard, M. R. (2013). Viperin Is Induced following Dengue Virus Type-2 (DENV-2) Infection and Has Anti-viral Actions Requiring the C-terminal End of Viperin. *PLoS Neglected Tropical Diseases*, 7(4). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pntd.0002178
- Henchal, E. A., Gentry, M. K., McCown, J. M., & Brandt, W. E. (1982). Dengue virus-specific and flavivirus group determinants identified with monoclonal antibodies by indirect immunofluorescence. *American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene*, 31(4), 830–836. https://doi.org/10.4269/ajtmh.1982.31.830
- Hoang, L. T., Lynn, D. J., Henn, M., Birren, B. W., Lennon, N. J., Le, P. T., ... Simmons, C. P. (2010). The early wholeblood transcriptional signature of dengue virus and features associated with progression to dengue shock syndrome in Vietnamese children and young adults. *Journal of Virology*, 84(24), 12982–12994. https://doi.org/10.1128/JVI.01224-10
- Hodge, J. A., Kawabata, T. T., Krishnaswami, S., Clark, J. D., Telliez, J., Dowty, M. E., ... Hodge, J. A. (2016). Mechanism of action of Tofacitinib. *Clinical and Experimental Rheumatology*, 34, 318–328.
- Hol, J., Wilhelmsen, L., & Haraldsen, G. (2010). The murine IL-8 homologues KC, MIP-2, and LIX are found in endothelial cytoplasmic granules but not in Weibel-Palade bodies. *Journal of Leukocyte Biology*, *87*(3), 501–508. https://doi.org/10.1189/jlb.0809532
- Holmes, E. C., & Twiddy, S. S. (2003). The origin, emergence and evolutionary genetics of dengue virus. *Infection, Genetics and Evolution*, *3*(1), 19–28. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1567-1348(03)00004-2
- Honda, K., Takaoka, A., & Taniguchi, T. (2006). Type I Inteferon Gene Induction by the Interferon Regulatory Factor Family of Transcription Factors. *Immunity*, 25(3), 349–360. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2006.08.009
- Houghton, P. J. (2012). Initial Testing (Stage 1) of LCL161, a SMAC Mimetic, by the Pediatric Preclinical Testing Program. *Pediatric Blood Cancer*, *58*, 636–639.
- Huang, K. J., Li, S. Y. J., Chen, S. C., Liu, H. S., Lin, Y. S., Yeh, T. M., ... Lei, H. Y. (2000). Manifestation of thrombocytopenia in dengue-2-virus-infected mice. *Journal of General Virology*, 81(9), 2177–2182. https://doi.org/10.1099/0022-1317-81-9-2177
- Imai, Y., Kuba, K., Neely, G. G., Yaghubian-Malhami, R., Perkmann, T., van Loo, G., ... Penninger, J. M. (2008). Identification of Oxidative Stress and Toll-like Receptor 4 Signaling as a Key Pathway of Acute Lung Injury. *Cell*, 133(2), 235–249. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2008.02.043
- Infante, J. R., Dees, E. C., Olszanski, A. J., Dhuria, S. V., Sen, S., Cameron, S., & Cohen, R. B. (2014). Phase i doseescalation study of LCL161, an oral inhibitorof apoptosis proteins inhibitor, in patients with advanced solid tumors. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, *32*(28), 3103–3110. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2013.52.3993
- Ito, S., Ansari, P., Sakatsume, M., Dickensheets, H., Vazquez, N., Donnelly, R. P., ... Finbloom, D. S. (1999). Interleukin 10 inhibits expression of both interferon α- and interferon γ-induced genes by suppressing tyrosine

phosphorylation of STAT1. Blood, 93(5), 1456-1463.

- Itoh, K., Watanabe, A., Funami, K., Seya, T., & Matsumoto, M. (2008). The Clathrin-Mediated Endocytic Pathway Participates in dsRNA-Induced IFN-β Production. *The Journal of Immunology*, *181*(8), 5522–5529. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.181.8.5522
- Ivashkiv, L. B., & Donlin, L. T. (2014). Regulation of type i interferon responses. *Nature Reviews Immunology*, 14(1), 36–49. https://doi.org/10.1038/nri3581
- Jacobson, M., Weil, M., & Raff, M. (1997). Programmed cell death in animal development. *Cell*, *88*(1), 347–354. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0092-8674(00)81873-5
- Jaiyen, Y., Masrinoul, P., Kalayanarooj, S., Pulmanausahakul, R., & Ubol, S. (2009). Characteristics of dengue virusinfected peripheral blood mononuclear cell death that correlates with the severity of illness. *Microbiology and Immunology*, 53(8), 442–450. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1348-0421.2009.00148.x
- Jessie, K., Fong, M. Y., Devi, S., Lam, S. K., & Wong, K. T. (2004). Localization of dengue virus in naturally infected human tissues, by immunohistochemistry and in situ hybridization. *The Journal of Infectious Diseases*, *189*(8), 1411–1418. https://doi.org/10.1086/383043
- Jiang, D., Weidner, J. M., Qing, M., Pan, X., Guo, H., Xu, C., ... Guo, J. (2010). Identification of Five Interferon-Induced Cellular Proteins That Inhibit West Nile Virus and Dengue Virus Infections Identification of Five Interferon-Induced Cellular Proteins That Inhibit West Nile Virus and Dengue Virus Infections 2, 84(16), 8332–8341. https://doi.org/10.1128/JVI.02199-09
- Jin, J., Xiao, Y., Hu, H., Zou, Q., Li, Y., Gao, Y., ... Sun, S. C. (2015). Proinflammatory TLR signalling is regulated by a TRAF2-dependent proteolysis mechanism in macrophages. *Nature Communications*, 6, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms6930
- Jo, D., Liu, D., Yao, S., Collins, R. D., & Hawiger, J. (2005). Intracellular protein therapy with SOCS3 inhibits inflammation and apoptosis. *Nature Medicine*, *11*(8), 892–898. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm1269
- Karaghiosoff, M., Neubauer, H., Lassnig, C., Kovarik, P., Schindler, H., Pircher, H., ... Müller, M. (2000). Partial impairment of cytokine responses in Tyk2-deficient mice. *Immunity*, *13*(4), 549–560. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1074-7613(00)00054-6
- Katzelnick, L. C. (2017). Antibody-dependent enhancement of severe dengue disease in humans. Science, 6836(November), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aan6836
- Kawasaki, T., & Kawai, T. (2014). Toll-like receptor signaling pathways. Frontiers in Immunology, 5(SEP), 1–8. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2014.00461
- Kayagaki, N., Phung, Q., Chan, S., Chaudhari, R., Quan, C., O'Rourke, K. M., ... Dixit, V. M. (2007). DUBA: A deubiquitinase that regulates type I interferon production. *Science*, *318*(5856), 1628–1632. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1145918

- Ke, F. F. S., Vanyai, H. K., Cowan, A. D., Delbridge, A. R. D., Whitehead, L., Grabow, S., ... Strasser, A. (2018). Embryogenesis and Adult Life in the Absence of Intrinsic Apoptosis Effectors BAX, BAK, and BOK. *Cell*, 173(5), 1217-1230.e17. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2018.04.036
- Kedzierski, L., Linossi, E. M., Kolesnik, T. B., Day, E. B., Bird, N. L., Kile, B. T., ... Nicholson, S. E. (2014). Suppressor of Cytokine Signaling 4 (SOCS4) Protects against Severe Cytokine Storm and Enhances Viral Clearance during Influenza Infection. *PLoS Pathogens*, *10*(5). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.ppat.1004134
- Kenji, M., Keisuke, E., Taro, Y., & Hiroshi, N. (2014). On the risk of severe dengue during secondary infection: A systematic review coupled with matemathical modeling. J Vectore Borne DIs, 51(September), 153–164.
- Kim, G. Y., Hong, C., & Park, J.-H. (2011). Seeing Is Believing: Illuminating the Source of In Vivo Interleukin-7. Immune Network, 11(1), 1. https://doi.org/10.4110/in.2011.11.11
- Koeberlein, B., Hausen, A. zur, Bektas, N., Zentgraf, H., Chin, R., Toan, N. L., ... Bock, C. T. (2010). Hepatitis B virus overexpresses suppressor of cytokine signaling-3 (SOCS3) thereby contributing to severity of inflammation in the liver. *Virus Research*, 148(1–2), 51–59. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.virusres.2009.12.003
- Kou, Z., Quinn, M., Chen, H., Rodrigo, W. W. S. I., Rose, R. C., Schlesinger, J. J., & Jin, X. (2008). Monocytes, But Not T or B Cells, Are the Principal Target Cells for Dengue Virus (DV) Infection Among Human Peripheral Blood Mononuclear Cells. *Journal of Medical Virology*, *80*(1), 134–146. https://doi.org/10.1002/jmv
- Krishnaswami, S., Boy, M., Chow, V., & Chan, G. (2015). Safety, tolerability, and pharmacokinetics of single oral doses of tofacitinib, a Janus kinase inhibitor, in healthy volunteers. *Clinical Pharmacology in Drug Development*, 4(2), 83–88. https://doi.org/10.1002/cpdd.171
- Kuai, J., Wooters, J., Hall, J. P., Rao, V. R., Nickbarg, E., Li, B., ... Lin, L. L. (2004). NAK is recruited to the TNFR1 complex in a TNFα-dependent manner and mediates the production of RANTES: Identification of endogenous TNFRinteracting proteins by a proteomic approach. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 279(51), 53266–53271. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M411037200
- Kurane, I., Innis, B. L., Nimmannitya, S., Meager, A., Janus, J., & Ennis, F. a. (1991). Activation of T Lymphocytes in Dengue Virus Infections. J Clin Invest, 2(18), 1473–1480.
- Kwissa, M., Nakaya, H. I., Onlamoon, N., Wrammert, J., Villinger, F., Perng, G. C., ... Pulendran, B. (2014). Dengue virus infection induces expansion of a CD14 + CD16 + monocyte population that stimulates plasmablast differentiation. *Cell Host and Microbe*, *16*(1), 115–127. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chom.2014.06.001
- Lalaoui, N., & Vaux, D. L. (2018). Recent advances in understanding inhibitor of apoptosis proteins. *F1000Research*, 7(0). https://doi.org/10.12688/f1000research.16439.1
- Lang, R., Pauleau, A.-L., Parganas, E., Takahashi, Y., Mages, J., Ihle, J. N., ... Murray, P. J. (2003). SOCS3 regulates the plasticity of gp130 signaling. *Nature Immunology*, *4*(6), 546–550. https://doi.org/10.1038/ni932

Lawlor, K. E., Khan, N., Mildenhall, A., Gerlic, M., Croker, B. A., Cruz, A. A. D., ... Vince, J. E. (2015). inflammasome

activation in the absence of MLKL. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms7282

- Lee, E. B., Fleischmann, R., Hall, S., Wilkinson, B., Bradley, J. D., Gruben, D., ... van Vollenhoven, R. F. (2014). Tofacitinib versus methotrexate in rheumatoid arthritis. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, *370*(25), 2377–2386. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1310476
- Lee, S. Y., Reichlin, A., Santana, A., Sokol, K. A., Nussenzweig, M. C., & Choi, Y. (1997). TRAF2 is essential for JNK but not NF-κB activation and regulates lymphocyte proliferation and survival. *Immunity*, 7(5), 703–713. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1074-7613(00)80390-8
- Lee, Y. H., Leong, W. Y., & Wilder-Smith, A. (2016). Markers of dengue severity: A systematic review of cytokines and chemokines. *Journal of General Virology*, 97(12), 3103–3119. https://doi.org/10.1099/jgv.0.000637
- Lennemann, N. J., & Coyne, C. B. (2017). Dengue and Zika viruses subvert reticulophagy by NS2B3-mediated cleavage of FAM134B. *Autophagy*, *13*(2), 322–332. https://doi.org/10.1080/15548627.2016.1265192
- Li, G., Feng, T., Pan, W., Shi, X., & Dai, J. (2015). DEAD-box RNA helicase DDX3X inhibits DENV replication via regulating type one interferon pathway. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 456(1), 327–332. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2014.11.080
- Li, Q., Van Antwerp, D., Mercurio, F., Lee, K.-F., & Verma, I. M. (1999). Severe Liver Degeneration in Mice Lacking the IkB Kinase 2 Gene. *Science*, *284*(5412), 321–325. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.284.5412.321
- Li X, Yang Y, & Ashwell JD. (2002). TNF-RII and c-IAP1 mediate ubiquitination and degradation of TRAF2. *Nature*, 416(1991), 345–347. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/sites/pubmed
- Libraty, D. H., Endy, T. P., Houng, H. H., Green, S., Kalayanarooj, S., Suntayakorn, S., ... Rothman, A. L. (2002). Differing Influences of Virus Burden and Immune Activation on Disease Severity in Secondary Dengue-3 Virus Infections. *The Journal of Infectious Diseases*, 185(9), 1213–1221. https://doi.org/10.1086/340365
- Libraty, D. H., Young, P. R., Pickering, D., Endy, T. P., Kalayanarooj, S., Green, S., ... Rothman, A. L. (2002). High Circulating Levels of the Dengue Virus Nonstructural Protein NS1 Early in Dengue Illness Correlate with the Development of Dengue Hemorrhagic Fever. *The Journal of Infectious Diseases*, *186*(8), 1165–1168. https://doi.org/10.1086/343813
- Lim, S. P., & Garzino-Demo, A. (2000). The Human Immunodeficiency Virus Type 1 Tat Protein Up-Regulates the Promoter Activity of the Beta-Chemokine Monocyte Chemoattractant Protein 1 in the Human Astrocytoma Cell Line U-87 MG: Role of SP-1, AP-1, and NF-kappa B Consensus Sites. *Journal of Virology*, 74(4), 1632–1640. https://doi.org/10.1128/jvi.74.4.1632-1640.2000
- Limonta, D., Torrentes-Carvalho, A., Marinho, C. F., Azeredo, E. L., de Souza, L. J., Motta-Castro, A. R. C., ... De-Oliveira-Pinto, L. M. (2014). Apoptotic Mediators in Patients With Severe and Non-Severe Dengue From Brazil. *Journal of Medical Virology*, *86*, 1437–1447. https://doi.org/10.1002/jmv
- Lin, J.-C., Lin, S.-C., Chen, W.-Y., Yen, Y.-T., Lai, C.-W., Tao, M.-H., ... Wu-Hsieh, B. A. (2014). Dengue Viral Protease

Interaction with NF- κ B Inhibitor α/β Results in Endothelial Cell Apoptosis and Hemorrhage Development. *The Journal of Immunology*, *193*(3), 1258–1267. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.1302675

- Littaua, R., Kurane, I., Ennis, F. A., Littaua, R., Kurane, I., & Francis, A. (1990). Human IgG Fc receptor II mediates antibody-dependent enhancement of dengue virus infection . *The Journal of Immunology*, 144.
- Liu, B., Li, N. L., Wang, J., Shi, P.-Y., Wang, T., Miller, M. A., & Li, K. (2014). Overlapping and Distinct Molecular Determinants Dictating the Antiviral Activities of TRIM56 against Flaviviruses and Coronavirus. *Journal of Virology*, 88(23), 13821–13835. https://doi.org/10.1128/jvi.02505-14
- Liu, D., Sheng, C., Gao, S., Yao, C., Li, J., Jiang, W., ... Huang, W. (2015). SOCS3 Drives Proteasomal Degradation of TBK1 and Negatively Regulates Antiviral Innate Immunity. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, 35(14), 2400–2413. https://doi.org/10.1128/MCB.00090-15
- Liu, S., Cai, X., Wu, J., Cong, Q., Chen, X., Li, T., ... Chen, Z. J. (2015). Phosphorylation of innate immune adaptor proteins MAVS, STING, and TRIF induces IRF3 activation. *Science*, *347*(6227). https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aaa2630
- Liu, T., Zhang, L., Joo, D., & Sun, S.-C. (2017). NF-κB signaling in inflammation. *Signal Transduction and Targeted Therapy*, 2(April). https://doi.org/10.1038/sigtrans.2017.23
- London, N. R., Zhu, W., Bozza, F. A., Smith, M. C. P., Greif, D. M., Sorensen, L. K., ... Li, D. Y. (2010). Targeting Robo4dependent slit signaling to survive the cytokine storm in sepsis and influenza. *Science Translational Medicine*, 2(23). https://doi.org/10.1126/scitranslmed.3000678
- Louis, C., Ngo, D., D'Silva, D. B., Hansen, J., Phillipson, L., Jousset, H., ... Wicks, I. P. (2019). Therapeutic Effects of a TANK-Binding Kinase 1 Inhibitor in Germinal Center–Driven Collagen-Induced Arthritis. Arthritis and Rheumatology, 71(1), 50–62. https://doi.org/10.1002/art.40670
- Low, J. G., Gatsinger, R., Vasudevan, S. G., & Sampath, A. (2018). Dengue Antiviral Development: A Continuing Journey. In Dengue and Zika: Control and Antiviral Treatment Strategies (Vol. 1062, pp. 319–332). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-10-8727-1
- Low, J. G., Sung, C., Wijaya, L., Wei, Y., Rathore, A. P. S., Watanabe, S., ... Vasudevan, S. G. (2014). Efficacy and safety of celgosivir in patients with dengue fever (CELADEN): A phase 1b, randomised, double-blind, placebocontrolled, proof-of-concept trial. *The Lancet Infectious Diseases*, 14(8), 706–715. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1473-3099(14)70730-3
- Magnani, D. M., Silveira, C. G. T., Ricciardi, M. J., Gonzalez-Nieto, L., Pedreño-Lopez, N., Bailey, V. K., ... Watkins, D. I.
 (2017). Potent Plasmablast-Derived Antibodies Elicited by the National Institutes of Health Dengue Vaccine. Journal of Virology, 91(22), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1128/jvi.00867-17
- Mahoney, D. J., Cheung, H. H., Mrad, R. L., Plenchette, S., Simard, C., Enwere, E., ... Korneluk, R. G. (2008). Both cIAP1 and cIAP2 regulate TNFalpha-mediated NF-kappaB activation. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, *105*(33), 11778–11783. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0711122105

- Mao, A. P., Li, S., Zhong, B., Li, Y., Yan, J., Li, Q., ... Shu, H. B. (2010). Virus-triggered ubiquitination of TRAF3/6 by cIAP1/2 is essential for induction of interferon-β (IFN-β) and cellular antiviral response. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 285(13), 9470–9476. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M109.071043
- Marianneau, P., Steffan, A.-M., Royer, C., Drouet, M.-T., Jaeck, D., Kirn, A., & Deubel, V. (1999). Infection of Primary Cultures of Human Kupffer Cells by Dengue Virus: No Viral Progeny Synthesis, but Cytokine Production Is Evident. J. Virol., 73(6), 5201–5206. Retrieved from http://jvi.asm.org/content/73/6/5201.full
- Marie, I., Durbin, J. E., & Levy, D. E. (1998). Differential viral induction of distinct interferon-alpha genes by positive feedback through interferon regulatory factor-7. *The EMBO Journal*, *17*(22), 6660–6669. https://doi.org/10.1093/emboj/17.22.6660
- Marine, J. C., McKay, C., Wang, D., Topham, D. J., Parganas, E., Nakajima, H., ... Ihle, J. N. (1999). SOCS3 is essential in the regulation of fetal liver erythropoiesis. *Cell*, *98*(5), 617–627. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0092-8674(00)80049-5
- Martinez-Gutierrez, M., Correa-Londoño, L. A., Castellanos, J. E., Gallego-Gómez, J. C., & Osorio, J. E. (2014). Lovastatin delays infection and increases survival rates in AG129 mice infected with dengue virus serotype 2. *PLoS ONE*, 9(2). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0087412
- Messina, J. P., Brady, O. J., Golding, N., Kraemer, M. U. G., Wint, G. R. W., Ray, S. E., ... Hay, S. I. (2019). The current and future global distribution and population at risk of dengue. *Nature Microbiology*, 4(9), 1508–1515. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41564-019-0476-8
- Messina, J. P., Brady, O. J., Scott, T. W., Zou, C., Pigott, D. M., Duda, K. A., ... Hay, S. I. (2014). Global spread of dengue virus types: Mapping the 70 year history. *Trends in Microbiology*, 22(3), 138–146. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tim.2013.12.011
- Meyer, D. M., Jesson, M. I., Li, X., Elrick, M. M., Funckes-shippy, C. L., Warner, J. D., ... Morris, D. L. (2010). Antiinflammatory activity and neutrophil reductions mediated by the JAK1 / JAK3 inhibitor, CP-690, 550, in rat adjuvant-induced arthritis. *Blood*, 1–12.
- Micheau, O., Lens, S., Gaide, O., Alevizopoulos, K., & Tschopp, J. (2001). NF-κB Signals Induce the Expression of c-FLIP. Molecular and Cellular Biology, 21(16), 5299–5305. https://doi.org/10.1128/mcb.21.16.5299-5305.2001
- Midgley, C. M., Bajwa-Joseph, M., Vasanawathana, S., Limpitikul, W., Wills, B., Flanagan, A., ... Screaton, G. R. (2011).
 An In-Depth Analysis of Original Antigenic Sin in Dengue Virus Infection. *Journal of Virology*, *85*(1), 410–421. https://doi.org/10.1128/jvi.01826-10
- Mizgerd, J. P., Lupa, M. M., Kogan, M. S., Warren, H. B., Kobzik, L., & Topulos, G. P. (2003). Nuclear factor-κB p50 limits inflammation and prevents lung injury during Escherichia coli pneumonia. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine*, *168*(7), 810–817. https://doi.org/10.1164/rccm.200303-4120C
- Modhiran, N., Watterson, D., Muller, D. A., Panetta, A. K., Sester, D. P., Liu, L., ... Young, P. R. (2015). Dengue virus NS1 protein activates cells via Toll-like receptor 4 and disrupts endothelial cell monolayer integrity. *Science*

Translational Medicine, 7(304), 304ra142. https://doi.org/10.1126/scitranslmed.aaa3863

- Mongkolsapaya, J., Dejnirattisai, W., Xu, X., Vasanawathana, S., Tangthawornchaikul, N., Chairunsri, A., ... Screaton, G. (2003). Original antigenic sin and apoptosis in the pathogenesis of dengue hemorrhagic fever. *Nature Medicine*, 9(7), 921–927. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm887
- Montoya, M., Schiavoni, G., Mattel, F., Gresser, I., Belardelli, F., Borrow, P., & Tough, D. F. (2002). Type I interferons produced by dendritic cells promote their phenotypic and functional activation. *Blood*, *99*(9), 3263–3271. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood.V99.9.3263
- Moore, K. W., de Waal Malefyt, R., Coffman, R. L., & O'Garra, A. (2001). Interleukin-10 and the Interleukin-10 Receptor. *Annual Review of Immunology*, *19*(1), 683–765. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.immunol.19.1.683
- Mori, H., Hanada, R., Hanada, T., Aki, D., Mashima, R., Nishinakamura, H., ... Yoshimura, A. (2004). Socs3 deficiency in the brain elevates leptin sensitivity and confers resistance to diet-induced obesity. *Nature Medicine*, 10(7), 739–743. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm1071
- Mota, J., & Rico-Hesse, R. (2009). Humanized mice show clinical signs of dengue fever according to infecting virus genotype. *Journal of Virology*, *83*(17), 8638–8645. https://doi.org/JVI.00581-09 [pii]\r10.1128/JVI.00581-09
- Moulin, M., Anderton, H., Voss, A. K., Thomas, T., Wong, W. W. L., Bankovacki, A., ... Vaux, D. L. (2012). IAPs limit activation of RIP kinases by TNF receptor 1 during development. *EMBO Journal*, 31(7), 1679–1691. https://doi.org/10.1038/emboj.2012.18
- Myint, K. S., Endy, T. P., Mongkolsirichaikul, D., Manomuth, C., Kalayanarooj, S., Vaughn, D. W., ... Libraty, D. H. (2006). Cellular immune activation in children with acute dengue virus infections is modulated by apoptosis. *The Journal of Infectious Diseases*, *194*(5), 600–607. https://doi.org/10.1086/506451
- Nagarajan, U. M., Prantner, D., Sikes, J. D., Andrews, C. W., Goodwin, A. M., Nagarajan, S., & Darville, T. (2008). Type I interferon signaling exacerbates Chlamydia muridarum genital infection in a murine model. *Infection and Immunity*, *76*(10), 4642–4648. https://doi.org/10.1128/IAI.00629-08
- Nair, A., & Jacob, S. (2016). A simple practice guide for dose conversion between animals and human. *Journal of Basic* and Clinical Pharmacy, 7(2), 27. https://doi.org/10.4103/0976-0105.177703
- Naka, T., Narazaki, M., Hirata, M., Matsumoto, T., Minamoto, S., Aono, A., ... Kishimoto, T. (1997). Structure and function of a new STAT-induced STAT inhibitor. *Nature*, *387*(6636), 924–929. https://doi.org/10.1038/43219
- Nascimento, E. J. M., Silva, A. M., Cordeiro, M. T., Brito, C. A., Gil, L. H. V. G., Braga-Neto, U., & Marques, E. T. A. (2009). Alternative complement pathway deregulation is correlated with dengue severity. *PLoS ONE*, 4(8). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0006782
- Nasirudeen, A. M. A., Wong, H. H., Thien, P., Xu, S., Lam, K. P., & Liu, D. X. (2011). RIG-i, MDA5 and TLR3 synergistically play an important role in restriction of dengue virus infection. *PLoS Neglected Tropical Diseases*, 5(1). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pntd.0000926

- Naugler, W. E., & Karin, M. (2008). The wolf in sheep's clothing: the role of interleukin-6 in immunity, inflammation and cancer. *Trends in Molecular Medicine*, *14*(3), 109–119. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molmed.2007.12.007
- Nazni, W. A., Hoffmann, A. A., NoorAfizah, A., Cheong, Y. L., Mancini, M. V., Golding, N., ... Sinkins, S. P. (2019). Establishment of Wolbachia Strain wAlbB in Malaysian Populations of Aedes aegypti for Dengue Control. *Current Biology*, 29(24), 4241-4248.e5. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2019.11.007
- Netsawang, J., Panaampon, J., Khunchai, S., Kooptiwut, S., Nagila, A., Puttikhunt, C., ... Limjindaporn, T. (2014). Dengue virus disrupts Daxx and NF-κB interaction to induce CD137-mediated apoptosis. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, *450*(4), 1485–1491. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2014.07.016
- Neubauer, H., Cumano, A., Müller, M., Wu, H., Huffstadt, U., & Pfeffer, K. (1998). Jak2 deficiency defines an essential developmental checkpoint in definitive hematopoiesis. *Cell*, *93*(3), 397–409. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0092-8674(00)81168-X
- Nguyen, L. T., Duncan, G. S., Mirtsos, C., Ng, M., Speiser, D. E., Shahinian, A., ... Yeh, W. C. (1999). TRAF2 deficiency results in hyperactivity of certain TNFR1 signals and impairment of CD40-mediated responses. *Immunity*, 11(3), 379–389. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1074-7613(00)80113-2
- Nguyen, N. M., Tran, C. N. B., Phung, L. K., Duong, K. T. H., Huynh, H. L. A., Farrar, J., ... Simmons, C. P. (2013). A randomized, double-blind placebo controlled trial of balapiravir, a polymerase inhibitor, in Adult dengue patients. *Journal of Infectious Diseases*, 207(9), 1442–1450. https://doi.org/10.1093/infdis/jis470
- Nguyen, T. A., Smith, B. R. C., Tate, M. D., Belz, G. T., Barrios, M. H., Elgass, K. D., ... Pang, K. C. (2017). SIDT2 Transports Extracellular dsRNA into the Cytoplasm for Innate Immune Recognition. *Immunity*, *47*(3), 498-509.e6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2017.08.007
- Nicholson, S. E., De Souza, D., Fabri, L. J., Corbin, J., Willson, T. A., Zhang, J. G., ... Baca, M. (2000). Suppressor of cytokine signaling-3 preferentially binds to the SHP-2-binding site on the shared cytokine receptor subunit gp130. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 97(12), 6493–6498. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.100135197
- O'Shea, J. J., Holland, S. M., & Staudt, L. M. (2013). JAKs and STATs in Immunity, Immunodeficiency, and Cancer. New England Journal of Medicine, 368(2), 161–170. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMra1202117
- O'Shea, J. J., Schwartz, D. M., Villarino, A. V, Gadina, M., Mcinnes, I. B., & Laurence, A. (2015). The JAK-STAT Pathway : Impact on Human Disease and Therapeutic Intervention *. *Annual Review of Medicine*, (66), 311–328. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-med-051113-024537
- Oganesyan, G., Saha, S. K., Guo, B., He, J. Q., Shahangian, A., Zarnegar, B., ... Cheng, G. (2006). Critical role of TRAF3 in the Toll-like receptor-dependent and -independent antiviral response. *Nature*, *439*(7073), 208–211. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature04374
- Onlamoon, N., Noisakran, S., Hsiao, H., Duncan, A., Villinger, F., & Ansari, A. a. (2010). Dengue virus induced hemorrhage in a nonhuman primate model. *Blood*, *115*(9), 1823–1834. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2009-

- Orozco, S., Schmid, M. A., Parameswaran, P., Lachica, R., Henn, M. R., Beatty, R., & Harris, E. (2012). Characterization of a model of lethal dengue virus 2 infection in C57BL/6 mice deficient in the alpha/beta interferon receptor. *Journal of General Virology*, *93*(PART 10), 2152–2157. https://doi.org/10.1099/vir.0.045088-0
- Pahl, H. L. (1999). Activators and target genes of Rel/NF-kappaB transcription factors. Oncogene, 18(49), 6853–6866.
- Paranjape, S. M., & Harris, E. (2007). Y box-binding protein-1 binds to the dengue virus 3'-untranslated region and mediates antiviral effects. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 282(42), 30497–30508. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M705755200
- Parganas, E., Wang, D., Stravopodis, D., Topham, D. J., Marine, J. C., Teglund, S., ... Ihle, J. N. (1998). Jak2 is essential for signaling through a variety of cytokine receptors. *Cell*, *93*(3), 385–395. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0092-8674(00)81167-8
- Patro, A. R. K., Mohanty, S., Prusty, B. K., Singh, D. K., Gaikwad, S., Saswat, T., ... Ravindran, B. (2019). Cytokine
 Signature Associated with Disease Severity in Dengue. *Viruses*, *11*(34), 1–12.
 https://doi.org/10.3390/v11010034
- Paul, W. E. (2015). History of interleukin-4. Cytokine, 75(1), 3–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cyto.2015.01.038
- Pavlakovic, H., Becker, J., Albuquerque, R., Wilting, J., & Ambati, J. (2010). Soluble VEGFR-2: An antilymphangiogenic variant of VEGF receptors. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, 1207(SUPPL.1), 7–15. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1749-6632.2010.05714.x
- Pellegrini, M., Calzascia, T., Toe, J. G., Preston, S. P., Lin, A. E., Elford, A. R., ... Mak, T. W. (2011). IL-7 engages multiple mechanisms to overcome chronic viral infection and limit organ pathology. *Cell*, 144(4), 601–613. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2011.01.011
- Perdomo-Celis, F., Salgado, D. M., & Narváez, C. F. (2017). Magnitude of viremia, antigenemia and infection of circulating monocytes in children with mild and severe dengue. Acta Tropica, 167, 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actatropica.2016.12.011
- Perry, S. T., Prestwood, T. R., Lada, S. M., Benedict, C. A., & Shresta, S. (2009). Cardif-Mediated Signaling Controls the Initial Innate Response to Dengue Virus In Vivo. *Journal of Virology*, *83*(16), 8276–8281. https://doi.org/10.1128/jvi.00365-09
- Perry, Stuart T., Buck, M. D., Lada, S. M., Schindler, C., & Shresta, S. (2011). STAT2 mediates innate immunity to dengue virus in the absence of STAT1 via the type I interferon receptor. *PLoS Pathogens*, 7(2). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.ppat.1001297
- Pham, A. M., Langlois, R. A., & tenOever, B. R. (2012). Replication in cells of hematopoietic origin is necessary for dengue virus dissemination. *PLoS Pathogens*, 8(1). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.ppat.1002465

Piao, J. H., Hasegawa, M., Heissig, B., Hattori, K., Takeda, K., Iwakura, Y., ... Nakano, H. (2011). Tumor necrosis factor

Receptor-associated Factor (TRAF) 2 controls homeostasis of the colon to prevent spontaneous development of murine inflammatory bowel disease. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, *286*(20), 17879–17888. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M111.221853

- Pierce, J. W., Best, J., Moore, S. A., Collins, T., Schoenleber, R., Jesmok, G., & Gerritsen, M. E. (1997). Novel inhibitors of cytokine-induced IκBα phosphorylation and endothelial cell adhesion molecule expression show antiinflammatory effects in vivo. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 272(34), 21096–21103. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.272.34.21096
- Platanias, L. C. (2005). Mechanisms of type-I- and type-II-interferon-mediated signalling. *Nature Reviews. Immunology*, 5(5), 375–386. https://doi.org/10.1038/nri1604
- Pothlichet, J., Chignard, M., & Si-Tahar, M. (2008). Cutting edge: innate immune response triggered by influenza A virus is negatively regulated by SOCS1 and SOCS3 through a RIG-I/IFNAR1-dependent pathway. *Journal of Immunology*, *180*(4), 2034–2038. https://doi.org/180/4/2034 [pii]
- Póvoa, T. F., Alves, A. M. B., Oliveira, C. a B., Nuovo, G. J., Chagas, V. L. a, & Paes, M. V. (2014). The pathology of severe dengue in multiple organs of human fatal cases: Histopathology, ultrastructure and virus replication. *PLoS ONE*, 9(4). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0083386
- Price, A. E., Liang, H. E., Sullivan, B. M., Reinhardt, R. L., Eisley, C. J., Erle, D. J., & Locksley, R. M. (2010). Systemically dispersed innate IL-13-expressing cells in type 2 immunity. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 107(25), 11489–11494. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1003988107
- Pryor, M. J., Carr, J. M., Hocking, H., Davidson, a. D., Li, P., & Wright, P. J. (2001). Replication of dengue virus type 2 in human monocyte-derived macrophages: Comparisons of isolates and recombinant viruses with substitutions at amino acid 390 in the envelope glycoprotein. *American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene*, 65(5), 427–434.
- Puerta-Guardo, H., Glasner, D. R., & Harris, E. (2016). Dengue Virus NS1 Disrupts the Endothelial Glycocalyx, Leading to Hyperpermeability. *PLOS Pathogens*, 12(7), e1005738. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.ppat.1005738
- Qasimi, P., Ming-Lum, A., Ghanipour, A., Ong, C. J., Cox, M. E., Ihle, J., ... Mui, A. L. F. (2006). Divergent mechanisms utilized by SOCS3 to mediate interleukin-10 inhibition of tumor necrosis factor ?? and nitric oxide production by macrophages. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 281(10), 6316–6324. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M508608200
- Quintás-Cardama, A., Vaddi, K., Liu, P., Manshouri, T., Li, J., Scherle, P. A., ... Verstovsek, S. (2010). Preclinical characterization of the selective JAK1/2 inhibitor INCB018424: Therapeutic implications for the treatment of myeloproliferative neoplasms. *Blood*, 115(15), 3109–3117. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2009-04-214957
- Ramakrishnan, V., Painuly, U., Kimlinger, T., Haug, J., Rajkumar, S. V., & Kumar, S. (2014). Inhibitor of apoptosis proteins as therapeutic targets in multiple myeloma. *Leukemia*, 28(7), 1519–1528. https://doi.org/10.1038/leu.2014.2

- Randolph, V. B., Winkler, G., & Stollar, V. (1990). Acidotropic amines inhibit proteolytic processing of flavivirus prM protein. *Virology*, 174(2), 450–458. https://doi.org/10.1016/0042-6822(90)90099-D
- Rathore, A. P. S., Mantri, C. K., Aman, S. A. B., Syenina, A., Ooi, J., Jagaraj, C. J., ... St. John, A. L. (2019). Dengue viruselicited tryptase induces endothelial permeability and shock. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 129(10), 4180– 4193. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI128426
- Rathore, A. P. S., Paradkar, P. N., Watanabe, S., Tan, K. H., Sung, C., Connolly, J. E., ... Vasudevan, S. G. (2011). Celgosivir treatment misfolds dengue virus NS1 protein, induces cellular pro-survival genes and protects against lethal challenge mouse model. *Antiviral Research*, *92*(3), 453–460. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.antiviral.2011.10.002
- Rauert-Wunderlich, H., Siegmund, D., Maier, E., Giner, T., Bargou, R. C., Wajant, H., & Stühmer, T. (2013). The IKK Inhibitor Bay 11-7082 Induces Cell Death Independent from Inhibition of Activation of NFκB Transcription Factors. *PLoS ONE*, *8*(3), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0059292
- Roberts, A. W., Robb, L., Rakar, S., Hartley, L., Cluse, L., Nicola, N. A., ... Alexander, W. S. (2002). Placental defects and embryonic lethality in mice lacking suppressor of cytokine signaling 3. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 98(16), 9324–9329. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.161271798
- Rodig, S. J., Meraz, M. A., White, J. M., Lampe, P. A., Riley, J. K., Arthur, C. D., ... Schreiber, R. D. (1998). Disruption of the Jak1 gene demonstrates obligatory and nonredundant roles of the Jaks in cytokine-induced biologic responses. *Cell*, *93*(3), 373–383. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0092-8674(00)81166-6
- Rossignol, D. P., & Lynn, M. (2002). Antagonism of in vivo and ex vivo response to endotoxin by E5564, an synthetic lipid A analogue. *Journal of Endotoxin Research*, *8*(6), 483–488. https://doi.org/10.1179/096805102125001127
- Roth, C., Cantaert, T., Colas, C., Prot, M., Casadémont, I., Levillayer, L., ... Sakuntabhai, A. (2019). A Modified mRNA
 Vaccine Targeting Immunodominant NS Epitopes Protects Against Dengue Virus Infection in HLA Class I
 Transgenic Mice. *Frontiers in Immunology*, *10*(June), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2019.01424
- Rothman, A. L. (2011). Immunity to dengue virus: a tale of original antigenic sin and tropical cytokine storms. *Nature Reviews. Immunology*, *11*(8), 532–543. https://doi.org/10.1038/nri3014
- Rothwell, C., LeBreton, A., Young Ng, C., Lim, J. Y. H., Liu, W., Vasudevan, S., ... Gaither, L. A. (2009). Cholesterol biosynthesis modulation regulates dengue viral replication. *Virology*, *389*(1–2), 8–19. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.virol.2009.03.025
- Rudolph, D., Yeh, W. C., Wakeham, A., Rudolph, B., Nallainathan, D., Potter, J., ... Mak, T. W. (2000). Severe liver degeneration and lack of NF-κB activation in NEMO/IKK γ- deficient mice. *Genes and Development*, *14*(7), 854– 862. https://doi.org/10.1101/gad.14.7.854
- Rusinova, I., Forster, S., Yu, S., Kannan, A., Masse, M., Cumming, H., ... Hertzog, P. J. (2013). INTERFEROME v2.0: An updated database of annotated interferon-regulated genes. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 41(D1), 1040–1046. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gks1215

- Russell, S. M., Johnston, J. A., Noguchi, M., Kawamura, M., Bacon, C. M., Friedmann, M., ... Leonard, W. J. (1994). Interaction of IL-2Rβ and γc chains with Jak1 and Jak3: Implications for XSCID and XCID. *Science*, *266*(5187), 1042–1045. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.7973658
- Ryan, P. A., Turley, A. P., Wilson, G., Hurst, T. P., Retzki, K., Brown-Kenyon, J., ... O'Neill, S. L. (2019). Establishment of wMel Wolbachia in Aedes aegypti mosquitoes and reduction of local dengue transmission in Cairns and surrounding locations in northern Queensland, Australia. *Gates Open Research*, *3*, 1547. https://doi.org/10.12688/gatesopenres.13061.1
- Sabin, A. B. (1952). Research on dengue during World War II. *American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene*, 1(1), 30–50. https://doi.org/10.4269/ajtmh.1952.1.30
- Sadon, N., Delers, A., Jarman, R. G., Klungthong, C., Nisalak, A., Gibbons, R. V., & Vassilev, V. (2008). A new quantitative RT-PCR method for sensitive detection of dengue virus in serum samples. *Journal of Virological Methods*, 153(1), 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jviromet.2008.06.023
- Salazar-mather, T. P., Lewis, C. A., & Biron, C. A. (2002). Type I interferons regulate inflammatory cell trafficking and macrophage inflammatory protein 1 α delivery to the liver, 110(3), 321–330. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCl200215376.Introduction
- Salje, H., Cummings, D. A. T., Rodriguez-barraquer, I., Katzelnick, L. C., Lessler, J., Klungthong, C., ... Cauchemez, S. (2018). Reconstruction of antibody dynamics and infection histories to evaluate dengue risk. *Nature*, 557. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-018-0157-4
- Samuel, T., Welsh, K., Lober, T., Togo, S. H., Zapata, J. M., & Reed, J. C. (2006). Distinct BIR domains of cIAP1 mediate binding to and ubiquitination of tumor necrosis factor receptor-associated factor 2 and second mitochondrial activator of caspases. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 281(2), 1080–1090. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M509381200
- Sandborn, W. J., Ghosh, S., Panes, J., Vranic, I., Wang, W., & Niezychowski, W. (2014). A phase 2 study of Tofacitinib, an oral janus kinase inhibitor, inpatients with crohn's disease. *Clinical Gastroenterology and Hepatology*, 12(9), 1485–1493. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cgh.2014.01.029
- Sandborn, W. J., Su, C., Sands, B. E., D'Haens, G. R., Vermeire, S., Schreiber, S., ... Panés, J. (2017). Tofacitinib as induction and maintenance therapy for ulcerative colitis. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 376(18), 1723– 1736. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1606910
- Sarathy, V. V, White, M., Li, L., Gorder, S. R., Pyles, R. B., Campbell, G. a, ... Barrett, A. D. T. (2015). A lethal murine infection model for dengue virus 3 in AG129 mice deficient in type I and II interferon receptors leads to systemic disease. *Journal of Virology*, 89(2), 1254–1266. https://doi.org/10.1128/JVI.01320-14
- Sariol, C. A., Mu??oz-Jordan, J. L., Abel, K., Rosado, L. C., Pantoja, P., Giavedoni, L., ... Kraiselburd, E. N. (2007). Transcriptional activation of interferon-stimulated genes but not of cytokine genes after primary infection of rhesus macaques with dengue virus type 1. *Clinical and Vaccine Immunology*, 14(6), 756–766. https://doi.org/10.1128/CVI.00052-07

- Sato, M., Hata, N., Asagiri, M., Nakaya, T., Taniguchi, T., & Tanaka, N. (1998). Positive feedback regulation of type I IFN genes by the IFN-inducible transcription factor IRF-7. *FEBS Letters*, *441*(1), 106–110. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0014-5793(98)01514-2
- Schaper, F., & Rose-John, S. (2015). Interleukin-6: Biology, signaling and strategies of blockade. Cytokine and Growth Factor Reviews, 26(5), 475–487. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cytogfr.2015.07.004
- Schmid, M. A., & Harris, E. (2014). Monocyte Recruitment to the Dermis and Differentiation to Dendritic Cells Increases the Targets for Dengue Virus Replication. *PLoS Pathogens*, 10(12). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.ppat.1004541
- Schneider, W. M., Chevillotte, M. D., & Rice, C. M. (2014). Interferon-Stimulated Genes: A Complex Web of Host Defenses. Annual Review of Immunology, 32(1), 513–545. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-immunol-032713-120231
- Schwarz, E. M., Badorff, C., Hiura, T. S., Wessely, R., Badorff, A., Verma, I. M., & Knowlton, K. U. (1998). NF-kappaBmediated inhibition of apoptosis is required for encephalomyocarditis virus virulence: a mechanism of resistance in p50 knockout mice. *Journal of Virology*, *72*(7), 5654–56560.
- Seth, R. B., Sun, L., Ea, C. K., & Chen, Z. J. (2005). Identification and characterization of MAVS, a mitochondrial antiviral signaling protein that activates NF-κB and IRF3. *Cell*, *122*(5), 669–682. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2005.08.012
- Sha, W. C., Liou, H. C., Tuomanen, E. I., & Baltimore, D. (1995). Targeted disruption of the p50 subunit of NF-κB leads to multifocal defects in immune responses. *Cell*, *80*(2), 321–330. https://doi.org/10.1016/0092-8674(95)90415-8
- Shalini, S., Dorstyn, L., Dawar, S., & Kumar, S. (2015). Old, new and emerging functions of caspases. *Cell Death and Differentiation*, 22(4), 526–539. https://doi.org/10.1038/cdd.2014.216
- Sharma, S., TenOever, B. R., Grandvaux, N., Zhou, G. P., Lin, R., & Hiscott, J. (2003). Triggering the interferon antiviral response through an IKK-related pathway. *Science*, *300*(5622), 1148–1151. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1081315
- Sheehan, K. C. F., Dunn, G. P., Bruce, A. T., & Diamond, M. S. (2006). Blocking monoclonal antibodies specific for mouse IFN-α / β receptor subunit 1 (IFNAR-1) from mice immunized by in vivo hydrodynamic transfection, 1.
- Sheehan, K. C. F., Lazear, H. M., Diamond, M. S., & Schreiber, R. D. (2015). Selective blockade of Interferon-α and -β reveals their non-redundant functions in a mouse model of West Nile virus infection. *PLoS ONE*, *10*(5), 1–19. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0128636
- Shi, Y., Liu, C. H., Roberts, A. I., Das, J., Xu, G., Ren, G., ... Devadas, S. (2006). Granulocyte-macrophage colonystimulating factor (GM-CSF) and T-cell responses: What we do and don't know. *Cell Research*, 16(2), 126–133. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.cr.7310017

- Shilling, A. D., Nedza, F. M., Emm, T., Diamond, S., Mckeever, E., Punwani, N., ... Yeleswaram, S. (2010). Metabolism, Excretion, and Pharmacokinetics of [14C]INCB018424, a Selective Janus Tyrosine Kinase 1/2 Inhibitor, in Humans. Drug Metabolism and Disposition, 38(11). https://doi.org/10.1124/dmd.110.033787.serious
- Shirey, K. A., Lai, W., Scott, A. J., Lipsky, M., Mistry, P., Pletneva, L. M., ... Vogel, S. N. (2013). The TLR4 antagonist Eritoran protects mice from lethal influenza infection. *Nature*, 497(7450), 498–502. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature12118
- Shresta, S., Kyle, J. L., Snider, H. M., Basavapatna, M., Beatty, P. R., & Harris, E. (2004). Interferon-dependent immunity is essential for resistance to primary dengue virus infection in mice, whereas T- and B-cell-dependent immunity are less critical. *Journal of Virology*, 78(6), 2701–2710. https://doi.org/10.1128/JVI.78.6.2701-2710.2004
- Shresta, S., Sharar, K. L., Prigozhin, D. M., Beatty, P. R., & Harris, E. (2006). Murine model for dengue virus-induced lethal disease with increased vascular permeability. *Journal of Virology*, *80*(20), 10208–10217. https://doi.org/10.1128/JVI.00062-06
- Siewe, L., Bollati-Fogolin, M., Wickenhauser, C., Krieg, T., Müller, W., & Roers, A. (2006). Interleukin-10 derived from macrophages and/or neutrophils regulates the inflammatory response to LPS but not the response to CpG DNA. *European Journal of Immunology*, 36(12), 3248–3255. https://doi.org/10.1002/eji.200636012
- Simmons, C. P., Farrar, J. J., Van Vinh Chau, N., & Wills, B. (2012). Dengue. *New England Journal of Medicine*, *366*(15), 319–334. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0022226700013931
- Sokol, C. L., & Luster, A. D. (2015). The chemokine system in innate immunity. *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology*, 7(5), 1–20. https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a016303
- Somnuke, P., Hauhart, R. E., Atkinson, J. P., Diamond, M. S., & Avirutnan, P. (2011). N-linked glycosylation of dengue virus NS1 protein modulates secretion, cell-surface expression, hexamer stability, and interactions with human complement. *Virology*, 413(2), 253–264. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.virol.2011.02.022
- Soo, K.-M., Khalid, B., Ching, S.-M., Tham, C. L., Basir, R., & Chee, H.-Y. (2017). Meta-analysis of biomarkers for severe dengue infections. *PeerJ*, *5*, e3589. https://doi.org/10.7717/peerJ.3589
- Souza, D. G., Fagundes, C. T., Sousa, L. P., Amaral, F. A., Souza, R. S., Souza, A. L., ... Teixeira, M. M. (2009). Essential role of platelet-activating factor receptor in the pathogenesis of Dengue virus infection. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 106(33), 14138–14143. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0906467106
- Spoerl, S., Mathew, N. R., Bscheider, M., Schmitt-Graeff, A., Chen, S., Mueller, T., ... Von Bubnoff, N. (2014). Activity of therapeutic JAK 1/2 blockade in graft-versus-host disease. *Blood*, 123(24), 3832–3842. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2013-12-543736
- Sprokholt, J., Helgers, L. C., & Geijtenbeek, T. B. H. (2018). Innate immune receptors drive dengue virus immune activation and disease. *Future Virology*, *13*, 287–305. https://doi.org/10.2217/fvl-2017-0146

- Sridhar, S., Luedtke, A., Langevin, E., Zhu, M., Bonaparte, M., Machabert, T., ... DiazGranados, C. A. (2018). Effect of Dengue Serostatus on Dengue Vaccine Safety and Efficacy. *New England Journal of Medicine*, *379*(4), 327–340. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1800820
- Srikiatkhachorn, A., Ajariyakhajorn, C., Endy, T. P., Kalayanarooj, S., Libraty, D. H., Green, S., ... Rothman, A. L. (2007).
 Virus-Induced Decline in Soluble Vascular Endothelial Growth Receptor 2 Is Associated with Plasma Leakage in
 Dengue Hemorrhagic Fever. *Journal of Virology*, *81*(4), 1592–1600. https://doi.org/10.1128/jvi.01642-06
- St. John, A. L., & Rathore, A. P. S. (2019). Adaptive immune responses to primary and secondary dengue virus infections. *Nature Reviews Immunology*, 19(4), 218–230. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41577-019-0123-x
- St John, A. L., Rathore, A. P. S., Raghavan, B., Ng, M. L., & Abraham, S. N. (2013). Contributions of mast cells and vasoactive products, leukotrienes and chymase, to dengue virus-induced vascular leakage. *ELife*, 2013(2), 1– 18. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.00481
- Stabell, A. C., Meyerson, N. R., Gullberg, R. C., Gilchrist, A. R., Webb, K. J., Old, W. M., ... Sawyer, S. L. (2018). Dengue viruses cleave STING in humans but not in nonhuman primates , their presumed natural reservoir, 4, 1–25. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.31919
- Stanaway, J. D., Shepard, D. S., Undurraga, E. A., Halasa, Y. A., Coffeng, L. E., Brady, O. J., ... Murray, C. J. L. (2016). The global burden of dengue: an analysis from the Global Burden of Disease Study 2013. *The Lancet Infectious Diseases*, *16*(6), 712–723. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1473-3099(16)00026-8
- Starr, R., Willson, T. A., Viney, E. M., Murray, L. J. L., Rayner, J., Jenkins, B., ... Hilton, D. (1999). A family of cytokineinducible inhibitors of signalling, *387*(June), 917–921.
- Strasser, A., & Vaux, D. L. (2018). Viewing BCL2 and cell death control from an evolutionary perspective. Cell Death and Differentiation, 25(1), 13–20. https://doi.org/10.1038/cdd.2017.145
- Strouts, F. R., Popper, S. J., Partidos, C. D., Stinchcomb, D. T., Osorio, J. E., & Relman, D. A. (2016). Early Transcriptional Signatures of the Immune Response to a Live Attenuated Tetravalent Dengue Vaccine Candidate in Non-human Primates. PLoS Neglected Tropical Diseases, 10(5), 1–19. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pntd.0004731
- Sullivan, K., Pezzullo, J., Dean, A., & Mir, R. (2013). Open Epi. Retrieved September 17, 2020, from https://www.openepi.com/SampleSize/SSCohort.htm
- Sumarmo, Talogo, W., Asrin, A., Isnuhandojo, B., & Sahudi, A. (1982). Failure of hydrocortisone to affect outcome in dengue shock syndrome. *Pediatrics*, 69(1), 45–49.
- Sun, B., Sundström, K. B., Chew, J. J., Bist, P., Gan, E. S., Tan, H. C., ... Ooi, E. E. (2017). Dengue virus activates cGAS through the release of mitochondrial DNA. *Scientific Reports*, 7(1), 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-03932-1
- Sun, P., Fernandez, S., Marovich, M. A., Palmer, D. R., Celluzzi, C. M., Boonnak, K., ... Burgess, T. H. (2009). Functional characterization of ex vivo blood myeloid and plasmacytoid dendritic cells after infection with dengue virus.

Virology, 383(2), 207-215. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.virol.2008.10.022

- Sun, P., García, J., Comach, G., Vahey, M. T., Wang, Z., Forshey, B. M., ... Kochel, T. J. (2013). Sequential Waves of Gene Expression in Patients with Clinically Defined Dengue Illnesses Reveal Subtle Disease Phases and Predict Disease Severity. *PLoS Neglected Tropical Diseases*, 7(7). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pntd.0002298
- Swiecki, M., & Colonna, M. (2015). The multifaceted biology of plasmacytoid dendritic cells. Nature Reviews Immunology, 15(8), 471–485. https://doi.org/10.1038/nri3865
- Tada, K., Okazaki, T., Sakon, S., Kobarai, T., Kurosawa, K., Yamaoka, S., ... Nakano, H. (2001). Critical Roles of TRAF2 and TRAF5 in Tumor Necrosis Factor-induced NF-kB Activation and Protection from Cell Death. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, *276*(39), 36530–36534. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M104837200
- Takatsu, K., & Nakajima, H. (2008). IL-5 and eosinophilia. *Current Opinion in Immunology*, 20(3), 288–294. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.coi.2008.04.001
- Talarico, L. B., Byrne, A. B., Amarilla, S., Lovera, D., Vázquez, C., Chamorro, G., ... Polack, F. P. (2017). Characterization of type I interferon responses in dengue and severe dengue in children in Paraguay. *Journal of Clinical Virology*, 97(July), 10–17. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcv.2017.10.010
- Tam, D. T. H., Ngoc, T. V., Tien, N. T. H., Kieu, N. T. T., Thuy, T. T. T., Thanh, L. T. C., ... Wills, B. A. (2012). Effects of short-course oral corticosteroid therapy in early dengue infection in vietnamese patients: A randomized, placebo-controlled trial. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, 55(9), 1216–1224. https://doi.org/10.1093/cid/cis655
- Tan, T. Y., & Chu, J. J. H. (2013). Dengue virus-infected human monocytes trigger late activation of caspase-1, which mediates pro-inflammatory IL-1β secretion and pyroptosis. *Journal of General Virology*, 94(PART10), 2215– 2220. https://doi.org/10.1099/vir.0.055277-0
- Tang, E. D., Wang, C. Y., Xiong, Y., & Guan, K. L. (2003). A role for NF-κB essential modifier/IκB kinase-γ (NEMO/IKKγ) ubiquitination in the activation of the IκB kinase complex by tumor necrosis factor-α. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, *278*(39), 37297–37305. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M303389200
- Tang, Y., Kou, Z., Zhang, F., Yao, X., Liu, S., Ma, J., ... Jin, X. (2010). Both Viremia and Cytokine Levels Associate with the Lack of Severe Disease in Secondary Dengue 1 Infection among Adult Chinese Patients. *PLoS ONE*, 5(12). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0015631
- Tojima, Y., Fujimoto, A., Delhase, M., Chen, Y., Hatekeyama, S., Nakayama, K. I., ... Nakanishi, M. (2000). NAK is an IkB kinase-activating kinase. *Nature*, 404(6779), 778–782. https://doi.org/10.1038/35008109
- Tokunaga, F., Sakata, S. I., Saeki, Y., Satomi, Y., Kirisako, T., Kamei, K., ... Iwai, K. (2009). Involvement of linear polyubiquitylation of NEMO in NF-κB activation. *Nature Cell Biology*, *11*(2), 123–132. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncb1821
- Torrentes-Carvalho, A., Azeredo, E. L., Reis, S. R. I., Miranda, A. S., Gandini, M., Barbosa, L. S., & Kubelka, C. F. (2009). Dengue-2 infection and the induction of apoptosis in human primary monocytes. *Memorias Do Instituto*

Oswaldo Cruz, 104(8), 1091-1099. https://doi.org/10.1590/S0074-02762009000800005

- Torrentes-Carvalho, A., Marinho, C. F., De Oliveira-Pinto, L. M., De Oliveira, D. B., Damasco, P. V., Cunha, R. V., ... Kubelka, C. F. (2014). Regulation of T lymphocyte apoptotic markers is associated to cell activation during the acute phase of dengue. *Immunobiology*, *219*(5), 329–340. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.imbio.2013.11.002
- Tousoulis, D., Psarros, C., Demosthenous, M., Patel, R., Antoniades, C., & Stefanadis, C. (2014). Innate and adaptive inflammation as a therapeutic target in vascular disease: The emerging role of statins. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*, *63*(23), 2491–2502. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacc.2014.01.054
- Tran, K., Merika, M., & Thanos, D. (1997). Distinct functional properties of IκBα and IκBβ. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, *17*(9), 5386–5399.
- Tricou, V., Minh, N. N., van, T. P., Lee, S. J., Farrar, J., Wills, B., ... Simmons, C. P. (2010). A randomized controlled trial of chloroquine for the treatment of dengue in vietnamese adults. *PLoS Neglected Tropical Diseases*, 4(8). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pntd.0000785
- Tsai, T.-T., Chuang, Y.-J., Lin, Y.-S., Chang, C.-P., Wan, S.-W., Lin, S.-H., ... Lin, C.-F. (2014). Antibody-Dependent Enhancement Infection Facilitates Dengue Virus-Regulated Signaling of IL-10 Production in Monocytes. PLoS Neglected Tropical Diseases. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pntd.0003320
- Tseng, C. K., Lin, C. K., Wu, Y. H., Chen, Y. H., Chen, W. C., Young, K. C., & Lee, J. C. (2016). Human heme oxygenase 1 is a potential host cell factor against dengue virus replication. *Scientific Reports*, 6(August), 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep32176
- Tseng, P. H., Matsuzawa, A., Zhang, W., Mino, T., Vignali, D. A. A., & Karin, M. (2010). Different modes of ubiquitination of the adaptor TRAF3 selectively activate the expression of type i interferons and proinflammatory cytokines. *Nature Immunology*, 11(1), 70–75. https://doi.org/10.1038/ni.1819
- Twiddy, S. S., Holmes, E. C., & Rambaut, A. (2003). Inferring the rate and time-scale of dengue virus evolution. Molecular Biology and Evolution, 20(1), 122–129. https://doi.org/10.1093/molbev/msg010
- Ubol, S., Phuklia, W., Kalayanarooj, S., & Modhiran, N. (2010). Mechanisms of Immune Evasion Induced by a Complex of Dengue Virus and Preexisting Enhancing Antibodies. *The Journal of Infectious Diseases, 201*(6), 923–935. https://doi.org/10.1086/651018
- Udalova, I. A., Richardson, A., Denys, A., Smith, C., Ackerman, H., Foxwell, B., & Kwiatkowski, D. (2000). Functional Consequences of a Polymorphism Affecting NF-kappa B p50-p50 Binding to the TNF Promoter Region. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, *20*(24), 9113–9119. https://doi.org/10.1128/mcb.20.24.9113-9119.2000
- Vallabhapurapu, S., Matsuzawa, A., Zhang, W. Z., Tseng, P. H., Keats, J. J., Wang, H., ... Karin, M. (2008). Nonredundant and complementary functions of TRAF2 and TRAF3 in a ubiquitination cascade that activates NIK-dependent alternative NF-κB signaling. *Nature Immunology*, *9*(12), 1364–1370. https://doi.org/10.1038/ni.1678

van Cleef, K. W. R., Overheul, G. J., Thomassen, M. C., Kaptein, S. J. F., Davidson, A. D., Jacobs, M., ... van Rij, R. P.

(2013). Identification of a new dengue virus inhibitor that targets the viral NS4B protein and restricts genomic RNA replication. *Antiviral Research*, *99*(2), 165–171. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.antiviral.2013.05.011

- Varfolomeev, E., Blankenship, J. W., Wayson, S. M., Fedorova, A. V., Kayagaki, N., Garg, P., ... Vucic, D. (2007). IAP Antagonists Induce Autoubiquitination of c-IAPs, NF-κB Activation, and TNFα-Dependent Apoptosis. *Cell*, *131*(4), 669–681. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2007.10.030
- Varfolomeev, E., Goncharov, T., Fedorova, A. V., Dynek, J. N., Zobel, K., Deshayes, K., ... Vucic, D. (2008). c-IAP1 and c-IAP2 are critical mediators of tumor necrosis factor α (TNFα)-induced NF-κB activation. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, *283*(36), 24295–24299. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.C800128200
- Varley, M. (2017). *Developing novel agents targeting the NF-* κ *B pathway for the treatment of multiple myeloma*. Cardiff University.
- Vaughn, D. W., Green, S., Kalayanarooj, S., Innis, B. L., Nimmannitya, S., Suntayakorn, S., ... Nisalak, a. (2000). Dengue viremia titer, antibody response pattern, and virus serotype correlate with disease severity. *The Journal of Infectious Diseases*, 181(1), 2–9. https://doi.org/10.1086/315215
- Verstovsek, S., Mesa, R. A., Gotlib, J., Levy, R. S., Gupta, V., DiPersio, J. F., ... Kantarjian, H. M. (2012). A Double-Blind,
 Placebo-Controlled Trial of Ruxolitinib for Myelofibrosis. *New England Journal of Medicine*, *366*(9), 799–807.
 https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1110557
- Villar, L., Dayan, G. H., Arredondo-García, L., Rivera, D. M., Cunha, R., Deseda, C., ... Noriega, F. (2015). Efficacy of a Tetravalent Dengue Vaccine in Children in Latin America. N Engl J Med, 3722372(8), 113–123. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1411037
- Villarino, A. V., Kanno, Y., & O'Shea, J. J. (2017). Mechanisms and consequences of Jak-STAT signaling in the immune system. *Nature Immunology*, *18*(4), 374–384. https://doi.org/10.1038/ni.3691
- Vince, J. E., Pantaki, D., Feltham, R., Mace, P. D., Cordier, S. M., Schmukle, A. C., ... Silke, J. (2009). TRAF2 must bind to cellular inhibitors of apoptosis for tumor necrosis factor (TNF) to efficiently activate NF-kB and to prevent TNFinduced apoptosis. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 284(51), 35906–35915. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M109.072256
- Vince, J. E., Wong, W. W. L., Gentle, I., Lawlor, K. E., Allam, R., O'Reilly, L., ... Tschopp, J. (2012). Inhibitor of Apoptosis Proteins Limit RIP3 Kinase-Dependent Interleukin-1 Activation. *Immunity*, 36(2), 215–227. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2012.01.012
- Vincent, M. J., Bergeron, E., Benjannet, S., Erickson, B. R., Rollin, P. E., Ksiazek, T. G., ... Nichol, S. T. (2005). Chloroquine is a potent inhibitor of SARS coronavirus infection and spread. *Virology Journal*, 2, 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1186/1743-422X-2-69
- Walsh, K. B., Teijaro, J. R., Wilker, P. R., Jatzek, A., Fremgen, D. M., Das, S. C., ... Oldstone, M. B. A. (2011). Suppression of cytokine storm with a sphingosine analog provides protection against pathogenic influenza virus.
 Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 108(29), 12018–12023.

https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1107024108

- Warke, R., Xhaja, K., Martin, K., Fournier, M., Shaw, S., Brizuela, N., Bosch, N., Lepointe, D., Ennis, F., Rothman, A & Bosch, I. (2003). Dengue Virus Induces Novel Changes in Gene Expression of Human Umbilical Vein Endothelial Cells. *Journal of Virology*, 77(21), 11822–11832. https://doi.org/10.1128/JVI.77.21.11822
- Wati, S., Li, P., Burrell, C. J., & Carr, J. M. (2007). Dengue virus (DV) replication in monocyte-derived macrophages is not affected by tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF-alpha), and DV infection induces altered responsiveness to TNF-alpha stimulation. *Journal of Virology*, *81*(18), 10161–10171. https://doi.org/10.1128/JVI.00313-07
- Weber, F., Wagner, V., Rasmussen, S. B., Hartmann, R., & Paludan, S. R. (2006). Double-Stranded RNA Is Produced by Positive-Strand RNA Viruses and DNA Viruses but Not in Detectable Amounts by Negative-Strand RNA Viruses. *Journal of Virology*, *80*(10), 5059–5064. https://doi.org/10.1128/JVI.80.10.5059
- Webster, B., Werneke, S. W., Zafirova, B., This, S., Coléon, S., Décembre, E., ... Dreux, M. (2018). Plasmacytoid dendritic cells control dengue and chikungunya virus infections via IRF7-regulated interferon responses. *ELife*, 7, 1–23. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.34273
- Weischenfeldt, J., & Porse, B. (2008). Bone marrow-derived macrophages (BMM): Isolation and applications. *Cold Spring Harbor Protocols*, *3*(12), 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1101/pdb.prot5080
- Weiskopf, D., Angelo, M. A., de Azeredo, E. L., Sidney, J., Greenbaum, J. A., Fernando, A. N., ... Sette, A. (2013).
 Comprehensive analysis of dengue virus-specific responses supports an HLA-linked protective role for CD8+ T cells. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *110*(22), E2046–E2053. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1305227110
- Weiskopf, Daniela, Angelo, M. A., Bangs, D. J., Sidney, J., Paul, S., Peters, B., ... Sette, A. (2015). The Human CD8 + T
 Cell Responses Induced by a Live Attenuated Tetravalent Dengue Vaccine Are Directed against Highly
 Conserved Epitopes . *Journal of Virology*, *89*(1), 120–128. https://doi.org/10.1128/jvi.02129-14
- Weiskopf, Daniela, Bangs, D. J., Sidney, J., Kolla, R. V., De Silva, A. D., De Silva, A. M., ... Sette, A. (2015). Dengue virus infection elicits highly polarized CX3CR1+ cytotoxic CD4+ T cells associated with protective immunity. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, *112*(31), E4256–E4263. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1505956112
- Welsch, S., Miller, S., Romero-Brey, I., Merz, A., Bleck, C. K. E., Walther, P., ... Bartenschlager, R. (2009). Composition and Three-Dimensional Architecture of the Dengue Virus Replication and Assembly Sites. *Cell Host and Microbe*, 5(4), 365–375. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chom.2009.03.007
- Wertz, I. E., Rourke, K. M. O., Zhou, H., Eby, M., Aravind, L., Seshagiri, S., ... Dixit, V. M. (2004). De-ubquitation and ubiquitin ligase domains of A20 downregulate NF- k B signalling. *Nature*, 430(August), 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature02794
- Whitehorn, J., Nguyen, C. V. V., Khanh, L. P., Kien, D. T. H., Quyen, N. T. H., Tran, N. T. T., ... Wills, B. (2016). Lovastatin for the Treatment of Adult Patients With Dengue: A Randomized, Double-Blind, Placebo-Controlled Trial.

Clinical Infectious Diseases : An Official Publication of the Infectious Diseases Society of America, 62(4), 468–476. https://doi.org/10.1093/cid/civ949

- Whitmarsh, R. J., Gray, C. M., Gregg, B., Christian, D. A., May, M. J., Murray, P. J., & Hunter, C. A. (2011). A critical role for SOCS3 in innate resistance to toxoplasma gondii. *Cell Host and Microbe*, *10*(3), 224–236. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chom.2011.07.009
- Winthrop, K. L. (2017). The emerging safety profile of JAK inhibitors in rheumatic disease. *Nature Reviews Rheumatology*, *13*(4), 234–243. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrrheum.2017.23
- Wong, P. K. K., Egan, P. J., Croker, B. A., O'Donnell, K., Sims, N. A., Drake, S., ... Wicks, I. P. (2006). SOCS-3 negatively regulates innate and adaptive immune mechanisms in acute IL-1-dependent inflammatory arthritis. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, *116*(6), 1571–1581. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCl25660
- Wong, W. W. L., Vince, J. E., Lalaoui, N., Lawlor, K. E., Chau, D., Bankovacki, A., ... Silke, J. (2014). cIAPs and XIAP regulate myelopoiesis through cytokine production in an RIPK1- And RIPK3-dependent manner. *Blood*, *123 n uiu*;(16), 2562–2572. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2013-06-510743
- World Health Organisation. (1997). Dengue haemorrhagic fever: diagnosis, treatment, prevention and control (2nd edition). https://doi.org/10.1002/9781444340051
- World Health Organisation. (2009). Dengue: guidelines for diagnosis, treatment, prevention, and control. https://doi.org/WHO/HTM/NTD/DEN/2009.1
- World Health Organization. (2018). Dengue vaccines: WHO position September 2018. Weekly Epidemiological Record,

 (30),
 3.
 Retrieved
 from

 https://www.who.int/immunization/policy/position_papers/who_pp_dengue_2018_summary.pdf?ua=1
- World Health Organization. (2019). Top ten threats to global health in 2019. Retrieved March 5, 2020, from https://www.who.int/news-room/feature-stories/ten-threats-to-global-health-in-2019
- Wu, M., Chen, S., Yang, A., Lin, W., Lin, Y., Chen, N., ... Li, L. (2013). CLEC5A is critical for dengue virus induced inflammasome activation in human macrophages. *Blood*, 121(1), 95–106. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2012-05-430090.The
- Wu, N., Gao, N., Fan, D., Wei, J., Zhang, J., & An, J. (2014). MiR-223 inhibits dengue virus replication by negatively regulating the microtubule-destabilizing protein STMN1 in EAhy926cells. *Microbes and Infection*, 16(11), 911– 922. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.micinf.2014.08.011
- Wu, S. J., Grouard-Vogel, G., Sun, W., Mascola, J. R., Brachtel, E., Putvatana, R., ... Frankel, S. S. (2000). Human skin
 Langerhans cells are targets of dengue virus infection. *Nature Medicine*, 6(7), 816–820. https://doi.org/10.1038/77553
- Yang, Y., Cao, L., Gao, H., Wu, Y., Wang, Y., Fang, F., ... Rao, Y. (2019). Discovery, Optimization, and Target Identification of Novel Potent Broad-Spectrum Antiviral Inhibitors. *Journal of Medicinal Chemistry*, 62(8), 4056–4073.

research-article. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jmedchem.9b00091

- Yasukawa, H., Ohishi, M., Mori, H., Murakami, M., Chinen, T., Aki, D., ... Yoshimura, A. (2003). IL-6 induces an antiinflammatory response in the absence of SOCS3 in macrophages. *Nature Immunology*, 4(6), 551–556. https://doi.org/10.1038/ni938
- Yeh, W. C., Shahinian, A., Speiser, D., Kraunus, J., Billia, F., Wakeham, A., ... Mak, T. W. (1997). Early lethality, functional NF-κB activation, and increased sensitivity to TNF-induced cell death in TRAF2-deficient mice. *Immunity*, 7(5), 715–725. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1074-7613(00)80391-X
- Yen, Y.-T., Chen, H.-C., Lin, Y.-D., Shieh, C.-C., & Wu-Hsieh, B. a. (2008). Enhancement by Tumor Necrosis Factor Alpha of Dengue Virus-Induced Endothelial Cell Production of Reactive Nitrogen and Oxygen Species Is Key to Hemorrhage Development . Journal of Virology, 82(24), 12312–12324. https://doi.org/10.1128/JVI.00968-08
- Yokota, S., Yokosawa, N., Okabayashi, T., Suzutani, T., Miura, S., Jimbow, K., & Fujii, N. (2004). Induction of Suppressor of Cytokine Signaling-3 by Herpes Simplex Virus Type 1 Contributes to Inhibition of the Interferon Signaling
 Pathway Induction of Suppressor of Cytokine Signaling-3 by Herpes Simplex Virus Type 1 Contributes to Inhibition of the In, 78(12), 6282–6286. https://doi.org/10.1128/JVI.78.12.6282
- Yoneyama, M., Kikuchi, M., Natsukawa, T., Shinobu, N., Imaizumi, T., Miyagishi, M., ... Fujita, T. (2004). The RNA helicase RIG-I has an essential function in double-stranded RNA-induced innate antiviral responses. *Nature Immunology*, 5(7), 730–737. https://doi.org/10.1038/ni1087
- Zanini, F., Robinson, M. L., Croote, D., Sahoo, M. K., Sanz, A. M., Ortiz-Lasso, E., ... Einav, S. (2018). Virus-inclusive single-cell RNA sequencing reveals the molecular signature of progression to severe dengue. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 115(52), E12363–E12369. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1813819115
- Zeiser, R., Burchert, A., Lengerke, C., Verbeek, M., Maas-Bauer, K., Metzelder, S. K., ... Von Bubnoff, N. (2015). Ruxolitinib in corticosteroid-refractory graft-versus-host disease after allogeneic stem cell transplantation: A multicenter survey. *Leukemia*, 29(10), 2062–2068. https://doi.org/10.1038/leu.2015.212
- Zellweger, R M, Prestwood, T. R., & Shresta, S. (2010). Enhanced Infection of Liver Sinusoidal Endothelial Cells in a Mouse Model of Antibody-Induced Severe Dengue Disease. *Cell Host & Microbe*, 7(2), 128–139. https://doi.org/DOI 10.1016/j.chom.2010.01.004
- Zellweger, Raphaël M., & Shresta, S. (2014). Mouse models to study dengue virus immunology and pathogenesis. *Frontiers in Immunology*, 5(APR), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2014.00151
- Zhang, J., Webster, J. D., Dugger, D. L., Goncharov, T., Roose-Girma, M., Hung, J., ... Dixit, V. M. (2019). Ubiquitin Ligases cIAP1 and cIAP2 Limit Cell Death to Prevent Inflammation. *Cell Reports*, 27(9), 2679-2689.e3. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2019.04.111
- Zhang, L., Blackwell, K., Shi, Z., & Habelhah, H. (2010). The RING Domain of TRAF2 Plays an Essential Role in the Inhibition of TNFα-Induced Cell Death but Not in the Activation of NF-KB. *Journal of Molecular Biology*, *396*(3),

528-539. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmb.2010.01.008

- Zhao, G. N., Jiang, D. S., & Li, H. (2015). Interferon regulatory factors: At the crossroads of immunity, metabolism, and disease. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta Molecular Basis of Disease*, 1852(2), 365–378. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbadis.2014.04.030
- Zhao, L., Huang, X., Hong, W., Qiu, S., Wang, J., Yu, L., ... Zhang, F. (2016). Slow resolution of inflammation in severe adult dengue patients. *BMC Infectious Diseases*, *16*(1), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12879-016-1596-x
- Zheng, C., Kabaleeswaran, V., Wang, Y., Cheng, G., & Wu, H. (2010). Crystal Structures of the TRAF2: clAP2 and the TRAF1: TRAF2: clAP2 Complexes: Affinity, Specificity, and Regulation. *Molecular Cell*, 38(1), 101–113. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2010.03.009
- Zhu, X., He, Z., Hu, Y., Wen, W., Lin, C., Yu, J., ... Li, M. (2014). MicroRNA-30e* Suppresses Dengue Virus Replication by Promoting NF-κB–Dependent IFN Production. *PLoS Neglected Tropical Diseases*, *8*(8), 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pntd.0003088
- Züst, R., Toh, Y.-X., Valdés, I., Cerny, D., Heinrich, J., Hermida, L., ... Fink, K. (2014). Type I interferon signals in macrophages and dendritic cells control dengue virus infection: implications for a new mouse model to test dengue vaccines. *Journal of Virology*, 88(13), 7276–7285. https://doi.org/10.1128/JVI.03827-13

University Library



A gateway to Melbourne's research publications

Minerva Access is the Institutional Repository of The University of Melbourne

Author/s: Forsyth, Wasan Otis

Title:

Manipulation of host signalling for the characterisation and control of dengue fever

Date:

2020

Persistent Link: http://hdl.handle.net/11343/243013

File Description: Final thesis file

Terms and Conditions:

Terms and Conditions: Copyright in works deposited in Minerva Access is retained by the copyright owner. The work may not be altered without permission from the copyright owner. Readers may only download, print and save electronic copies of whole works for their own personal non-commercial use. Any use that exceeds these limits requires permission from the copyright owner. Attribution is essential when quoting or paraphrasing from these works.